
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held virtually on Monday, 29 June 2020 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the 
following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members can attend the meeting 
will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


6. Financial Impact of COVID-19 (Pages 11 - 26)

7. General Fund Provisional Outturn Report 2019/20 (Pages 27 - 46)

8. Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn Report  2019/20 (Pages 47 - 62)

9. Corporate Debt Strategy (Pages 63 - 78)

10.Development Plan Update (Pages 79 - 
188)

11.Duty to co-operate (Pages 189 - 
198)

12.Bird Wise Charging Schedule for Non-C3 Residential Classes (Pages 199 - 
208)

13.Youth Concordat 2020 (Pages 209 - 
214)

14.Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
Tuesday, 21 January 2020 

(Pages 215 - 
220)

15.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

16.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

17.Proposed Working Budget for Rosherville Limited (Pages 221 - 
226)

18.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 



Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Cabinet

Monday, 1 June 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive
Nick Brown Director (Housing & Operations) 
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services) 
Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services 
Elizabeth Thornton Service Manager (Property & Regulatory Services)
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager 
David Herrington Digital Manager
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager

Note: Martin LeGrice and Jack Bergin, representatives of Jones Lang LaSalle, were also in 
attendance.

1. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 23 March 2020 were signed by the Chair.

2. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Lenny Rolles declared an Other Significant Interest in agenda item 11 - The Charter 
(formerly Eastern Quarter) Regeneration Development due to his role as Chair of the 
Rosherville Limited Board. Cllr Lenny Rolles left the meeting during consideration of this 
item.

Melanie Norris, Director (Communities) also declared an interest in agenda item 11 - The 
Charter (formerly Eastern Quarter) Regeneration Development due to her role as a Director 
of the Rosherville Limited Board. Melanie Norris left the meeting during consideration of this 
item.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 1.06.2020

2

3. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox advised that, following the Community and Leisure Cabinet 
Committee held on 3 March 2020, he had taken a delegated decision to adopt the 
Gravesend Borough Market Strategy 2020-2030.

4. Insurance Tender Update 

Further to minute 62 (06.01.2020), Members were informed that a report was submitted to 
the Cabinet advising that the Council’s existing insurance contract will expire on the 29 June 
2020 and of the need for the Council to determine how cover for beyond this date should be 
procured. The intention was for the Council to continue discussion with the Local 
Government Mutual (LGM) and, subject to a satisfactory offer coming forward, seek to obtain 
a quotation for the Council’s requirements from the LGM.

Since January, discussions had been ongoing with representatives from the LGM. The 
Council had shared relevant data with the LGM to enable it to assess the Council’s cover 
requirements and prepare an offer for the Council to consider however there had been 
delays in the LGM presenting an offer for the Council to consider and in addition, since mid-
March, there had been a need for Council resources to be focused on and deployed to 
delivering the Council’s response to the Coronavirus pandemic.

These two events had resultantly required officers to revisit the procurement options for 
securing appropriate insurance protections for the Council from 30 June 2020.

Negotiations with the Council’s existing insurance provider, Zurich Municipal, resulted in a 
proposal for the Council to secure ongoing provision of insurance cover from Zurich for a 
further two years with a percentage reduction on existing premium costs. This would enable 
the Council to reassess its insurance requirements in a further 18 months’ time and consider 
its options for procurement at that time, which could again include an offer from the LGM. 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution and with due regard to the Government’s 
Procurement Procedure Note (PPN 01/20), the Director (Corporate Services) had agreed to 
a two year contract being put in place with Zurich Municipal to provide insurance cover for 
the Council from 30 June 2020 to 29 June 2022, with a further procurement exercise taking 
place at an appropriate time to seek provision for cover after this date.

The Cabinet noted the report. 

5. Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 
Wednesday, 11 March 2020 

The Cabinet considered the minutes of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board meeting 
held on Wednesday 11 March 2020.

Page 6



Cabinet 1.06.2020

3

6. Exclusion 

Resolved that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 that the 
public be excluded during the following items of business because it was likely in view of the 
nature of business to be transacted that, if members of the public were present during these 
items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.

All Members and officers in remote attendance declared that there were no other persons 
present who were not entitled to be (either hearing or seeing) and/or recording the 
proceedings. 

7. Investment Opportunity – long term leasehold arrangement 

The Cabinet was presented with a report which sought approval for the progression of the 
proposals outlined within the report in relation to an investment opportunity.

The Council had been approached by The Reef Group in late 2019 with regard to a potential 
development opportunity on the Greenwich Peninsular.  

Initial due diligence had been completed by officers to ensure that the proposals put forward 
were in the best interest of the Borough, but also the Council as a whole, particularly in light 
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Council had also sought external legal and financial advice 
to undertake an independent review of the proposals.

Detailed consideration was given to the information contained within the report and 
questions from Cabinet Members were put to and answered by officers and the external 
property consultants.

The Chair drew Members’ attention to the recommendations detailed within the report and 
stated that, in order to provide additional time for all Members to raise any questions they 
might have in relation to the proposals, the intention would be for the recommendations to be 
slightly amended to allow for the Cabinet to delegate authority to the Leader to make the 
recommendations within a few days’ time.

The Chief Executive also highlighted that the recommendations should state ‘delegated 
authority’ not ‘delegated responsibility’. 

Resolved that:-

Delegated authority be provided to the Leader to:-

o support the proposals for the Council to enter into the transaction as detailed 
in the report, subject to satisfaction of specific conditions as set out within the 
report;

o recommend to Full Council that delegated authority be given to the Chief 
Executive in consultation with the Leader, the Director (Corporate Services) 
(in the role of Section 151 Officer) and the Deputy Monitoring Officer to take 
all necessary practical, financial and legal actions required to determine 
viability of the project and take a final decision to proceed, including entering 
into the relevant formal legal agreements;

Page 7



Cabinet 1.06.2020

4

o recommend to Full Council that the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement is updated to extend the existing Operational Borrowing Limit and 
Authorised Borrowing Limits to ensure there is sufficient capacity to support 
this investment.

8. The Charter (formerly Eastern Quarter) Regeneration Development 

The Cabinet was presented with a report which:-

 provided an overview of progress with The Charter project;
 sought consideration of a request received from the Rosherville Limited Board to the 

Council, as Shareholder, to make available the necessary funding for the project; and 
 sought delegated authority to continue the necessary practical, financial and legal 

actions required to determine viability of the project and take a final decision to 
proceed.

In June 2018, the Council entered into an Exclusivity Agreement with Reef Estates Limited 
to bring forward residential and commercial development proposals for land formerly known 
as the Eastern and Western Quarters of Gravesend Town Centre. The agreement was for a 
period of 24 months which could be extended by a further 12 month period.

Rosherville Limited, through its subsidiary Rosherville Property Limited, will appoint an entity 
within The Reef Group as its Development Partner under a commercial agreement to secure 
the planning permission and deliver on the proposed scheme.  In order for this to take place, 
the Council will be required to advance a loan to Roshverille Limited to enable the 
development to be brought forward.

The report provided detailed information regarding the proposals for The Charter area 
(formerly the Eastern Quarter), which had been developed by Reef Estates Limited as part 
of the wider masterplan for the area.  Reef Estates Limited submitted a planning application 
to the Council on 6 April 2020 setting out their proposals for The Charter, which was 
currently being considered.

The Council had sought external legal and financial advice to undertake an independent 
review of the proposals.

Detailed consideration was given to the information contained within the report and 
questions from Cabinet Members were put to and answered by officers and the external 
property consultants.

The Chair drew Members’ attention to the recommendations detailed within the report and 
stated that, in order to provide additional time for all Members to raise any questions they 
might have in relation to the proposals, the intention would be for the recommendations to be 
slightly amended to allow for the Cabinet to delegate authority to the Leader to make the 
recommendations within a few days’ time.

The Chief Executive also highlighted that the recommendations should state ‘delegated 
authority’ not ‘delegated responsibility’. 

Page 8



Cabinet 1.06.2020

5

Resolved that-

Delegated authority be provided to the Leader to:-

o support the proposals for delivering The Charter Project and for the issuance 
of a long-term loan to Rosherville Limited to ensure the delivery of the project, 
subject to satisfaction of specific conditions as set out within the report;

o recommend to Full Council that delegated authority be given to the Chief 
Executive in consultation with the Leader, the Director (Corporate Services) 
(in the role of Section 151 Officer) and the Deputy Monitoring Officer to take 
all necessary practical, financial and legal actions required to determine 
viability of the project and take a final decision to proceed, including entering 
into the relevant formal legal agreements;

o recommend to Full Council that delegated authority be given to the Director 
(Communities) in consultation with the Director (Corporate Services) (in the 
role of Section 151 Officer) to settle the terms and price of disposal of the 
associated land assets to Rosherville Limited for the purpose of bringing 
forward the proposed scheme;

o recommend to Full Council that the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement is updated to extend the existing Operational Borrowing Limit and 
Authorised Borrowing Limits to £310.410m and £295.410m respectively to 
ensure there is sufficient capacity to support this loan;

o recommend to Full Council that an amount of £82m is added to the approved 
capital programme for 2020/21 for the purpose of providing long-term funding 
up to that defined level to Rosherville Limited as a means of delivering long-
term economic benefits to the borough for both regeneration and community 
benefit.

Note: Cllr Lenny Rolles and Melanie Norris left the meeting during consideration of this 
item.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.04 pm.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 29 June 2020

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt - Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Financial Impact of COVID-19

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with a strategic view of the impact of COVID-19 on the short term and 
medium term financial position of the council.

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1. Introduction

1.1 The COVID-19 pandemic has had the most profound impact on the daily lives of 
UK residents of any event this century; significant societal restrictions on 
movement and association, coupled with intense harm to the national economy 
through the enforced closure of businesses and an inevitable loss of jobs.

1.2 Collectively, the impact of COVID-19 is one of significant damage to the health 
and wellbeing of the Gravesham community and, equally, presents a substantial 
challenge to the future sustainability of the council and its essential frontline 
community services.

1.3 On 12 May 2020, a report was considered by Council outlining the social and 
economic impact the pandemic has had upon the Gravesham community and 
providing details of the council’s comprehensive community support offer during 
the period. At that meeting, Council unanimously put on record its gratitude to all 
those involved across all sectors in the outstanding response to the global 
COVID- 19 pandemic and, equally, expressed condolences to those who have 
lost loved ones in this tragic event.

1.4 This report aims to provide a focus on the anticipated financial impacts of the 
pandemic on the Council.

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



2

2. General Fund Budget Impact

2.1 The council has experienced direct costs resulting from the pandemic, including:

 Responding to Government guidance to provide suitable accommodation to 
ensure rough sleepers and the homeless are able to remain safe;

 Supporting the national response through the establishment of business 
support hubs and community support hubs, working with voluntary sector to 
support shielded and vulnerable persons and ensure they are provided with 
food and other essential supplies as needed.

 Working with suppliers and contractors of the council to manage supply chain 
risks and ensure that they are able to continue to support the delivery of 
services during and after the outbreak.

 Mobilising the workforce to be able to respond to and continue to deliver 
essential council services from remote locations and in challenging 
circumstances.

2.2 Funding has been provided by government to support these activities, as set out 
in Section 4 of this report.  There is a shortfall in the funding provided by 
government thus far, in terms of funding to support these activities, other 
pressures around increased service expenditure and the impact on the council 
from the loss of revenue income.

2.3 The most significant impact for the council will arise from a decline in key revenue 
streams including council tax, business rates, fees and charges and rental 
income.

2.4 To reflect these pressures on the General Fund, officers have updated the 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) based on a series of assumptions regarding 
the most significant financial impacts of the pandemic.  These assumptions have, 
and will continue to be refined over the coming weeks and months through 
internal discussions, intelligence from professional groups (such as the Kent 
Finance Officers Group) and as actual impacts become known. 

2.5  The assumptions reflected in the updated MTFP are set out below:

Council Tax

2.5.1 The pandemic is creating a challenging financial period for residents of the 
borough.  During May the council has seen an increase in applications for 
council tax support.  

2.5.2 Through its Hardship Fund, Government has provided financial support to 
those working age recipients of council tax support through a further 
reduction in their liability of up to £150 per household during 2020/21 and 
funding to support hardship payments to qualifying applicants.

2.5.3 The collection rate is currently at a level some 1.24% lower than at the 
same point last year.  It is expected, however, that the rate may slow as 
the economy moves further through the pandemic situation and the impact 
is felt by the resident of the borough.  For the current purposes of financial 
planning, it has been assumed that there will be a 10% reduction in council 
tax collections in 2020/21.

Page 12



3

Business Rates

2.5.4 Business trading has also been severely affected.  Government financial 
support for businesses has been provided through a number of 
mechanisms, including one year 100% business rates relief for business 
within the retail, leisure and hospitality sectors, Business Support Grants 
and access to favourable loan facilities. 

2.5.5 The collection rate is currently holding up, however it is expected this may 
change as the economy moves further through the pandemic situation.  It 
has been assumed that there will be a 10% reduction in business rate 
collections in 2020/21.

Business Property Rents

2.5.6 As per the above, the council is likely to see an impact on rental income 
from tenants in its business premises.  Commercial rent is generally due 
quarterly in advance on 25 March, 24 June, 29 September and 25 
December.  Given the UK lockdown did not commence until 23 March it is 
too early to accurately predict the likely impact on this income stream.  
Businesses have also been given extra protections from recovery action 
through Government’s action to temporarily ban landlords from serving 
statutory demands or issuing winding up petitions between 1 March and 30 
June 2020.

2.5.7 For the purposes of financial planning, it has been assumed that there will 
be a 25% reduction in property rent collections in 2020/21.  

Car Park Income

2.5.8 Since 24 March 2020, use of council-owned car parks has been free while 
Government restrictions have been in place to combat the spread of 
COVID-19.  Charges were reintroduced from 1 June 2020 to assist in 
controlling the numbers of people visiting the town.

2.5.9 The Medium Term Financial Plan has been updated to reflect a £243,000 
loss of car park income during the period April to May.  It has been 
assumed that there will be a 50% reduction in car park income for the 
period June – August with levels returning to normal from September and 
for the rest of the year.

Other fees and charges income

2.5.10 Due to revised arrangements around leisure provision, an income 
reduction of £300k is forecast in 2020/21.

2.5.11 An assumption of a 25% reduction in other fees and charges has been 
adopted for financial planning purposes.

Investment Income

2.5.12 The income generated by the council through its investment activity will be 
significantly impacted by the reduced base rate and significant volatility in 
the investment market.  The Bank of England decided to reduce base rate 
twice in just over a week to 0.1% as a response to the coronavirus 
pandemic, with the latest cut taking the base rate to its lowest-ever level.

Page 13



4

2.5.13 For financial planning purposes it has been assumed that the council’s 
investment income will be reduced by 23% in 2020/21, with returns in 
future years reflective of restrained base rate forecasts.

2.6 Based on this current set of assumptions, the total estimated impact on the 
General Fund is £3.75m, as presented in the MTFP at appendix two to this report 
and summarised in the table below.

Area of Expenditure or Income Estimated Impact

Running Expenses £300,000

Business Property Rents £1,156,130

Car Park Income £424,790

Other Fees and Charges income £1,673,700

Investment Income £195,500

TOTAL IMPACT 2020/21 £3,750,120

2.7 It should be noted however, that due to Collection Fund accounting arrangements 
for Council Tax and Business Rates, the anticipated % reductions described in 
sections 2.5.3 and 2.5.5 won’t be experienced within the MTFP until 2021/22 
when a repayment to the Collection Fund will be required. There will be however, 
be cash-flow implications in 2020/21 of lower collection rates.

2.8 The cumulative impact as presented across the MTFP from 2020/21 to 2028/29, 
comes to £5,673,570, which comprises the direct 2020/21 impacted as set out in 
the table above, the Collection Fund implications in 2021/22 and reduced 
investment income projections across all years.

2.9 The General fund capital programme for 2020/21 totals some £14.4m.  Whilst 
much of the programme will continue to be delivered, there are likely to be delays 
in project and the need to defer a small number of projects due to COVID-19.  
Significant projects that are likely to be affected include:

 Delivery of the proposed Brookvale Office Accommodation

 The Property & Land Acquisition Programme

 Land Acquisition at Dering Way

Page 14



5

3. HRA Budget Impact

3.1 Whilst the HRA has not been as significantly impacted as the General Fund in 
terms of expenditure pressures, officers have also sought to update the HRA 
Business Plan to capture the most significant financial impacts of the pandemic 
situation.  Once again, these are primarily related to the income streams of the 
HRA, with assumptions continuing to be refined over the coming weeks and 
months. 

3.2 The assumptions currently reflected in the Business Plan are set out below:

Housing Rents and Service Charges

3.2.1 Council tenants will be financially impacted by COVID-19 and this will be 
reflected in their propensity to pay their weekly rent to the council.  
Restrictions have also been set in place by Government on formal action 
to recover rent arrears through new evictions until at least 23 August 2020.

3.2.2 For financial planning purposes it has been assumed that rental and 
service charge income will be reduced by 2% in 2020/21.

Housing Rents and Service Charges

3.2.3 The HRA also receives other income from non dwelling rents, Hall letting 
and investment returns.  Each stream has been reviewed to assess the 
likely reduction and therefore impact on the financial position of the HRA.

3.2.4 Based on this current set of assumptions, the total estimated impact on the 
Housing Revenue Account is £0.573m in 2020/21, as presented in the 
Business Plan at appendix three to this report and summarised in the table 
below.

Area of Expenditure or Income Current Assumption Estimated Impact

Repairs and Maintenance Additional costs as 
operatives moved from 
capital schemes to repairs 
and maintenance

£30,000

Rents and Service Charges £500,000

Other Income £43,000

TOTAL IMPACT 2020/21 £573,000

3.3 The HRA capital programme for 2020/21 totals £19.7m.  Whilst much of the 
programme will continue to be delivered, there will be delays in bringing projects 
forward for delivery due to COVID-19.  Significant projects that are likely to be 
affected include:

 Kitchen and Bathroom replacement programmes which have been 
suspended and will not commence until July at the earliest

 New Build schemes at Whitehill and Valley Drive, which are delivering 
some 32 and 49 units, will be delayed by around three months

Page 15



6

Sale of Council Houses

3.4 The number of Council Houses sold is likely to reduce during 2020/21 due to 
COVID-19.  Initial estimates are that instead of selling 30 properties during the 
year, sales will fall to around 20.  Whilst this does, in some way, assist the council 
by maintaining its current level of housing stock, this will affect the availability of 
Right to Buy receipts which are used to fund 30% of future New Build schemes 
and may result in the authority needing to borrow additional money to finance the 
programme.

4. Central Government Support to District Councils

4.1 The Government recognised at an early stage the role that local authorities would 
play as their part of the national response and, on 20 March the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) announced an initial 
funding allocation to local authorities of £1.6bn intended to manage the impact of 
COVID-19 on services, with a particular focus of funding for upper tier authorities 
for social care provision.  The council received £52,216 from this first tranche.

4.2 From April 2020, the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) has instigated monthly financial returns to help departments across 
Central Government understand the financial impact, both direct and indirect, that 
the COVID-19 pandemic is having on local authorities.  The two returns requested 
so far have been duly returned on behalf of the council.

4.3 A second tranche of £1.6m funding for the sector was announced in late-April.  
With the basis of the allocation for this second tranche being primarily population-
based and the latest assessment by MHCLG on the challenges being faced by 
local authorities.  The council received £1,054,438 from this second tranche, 
taking the total funding received to date to just over £1.1m.  This is unlikely to 
mitigate spend on COVID-19 response and is insufficient by itself to meet the 
other anticipated expenditure pressures of the council over the course of the 
current financial year, as set out in the next table.

March 
2020

April – May 
2020

Sub Total 
(YTD)

Full Year 
2020-21

Additional spending 
pressures  - General 
Fund( £m)

0.077m 0.538m 0.615m 1.107m

Additional spending 
pressures  - HRA (£m)

-- 0.020m 0.020m 0.030m

Total funding received 1.106m

SHORTFALL 0.038m

4.4 The table demonstrates that, based on the most recent projections, the current 
level of funding allocated to the council by Government does not fully cover the 
anticipated additional spending pressures identified by the council.  This also 
makes no regard to the anticipated reductions in income set out in the earlier 
sections of this report.  

Page 16



7

5. Cashflow

5.1 The council has also had to increase its efforts to ensure the effective 
management of its cash flow since the start of the pandemic situation, particularly 
given the reduction in income received by the council through council tax and 
business rates and the requirement for the council to make preceptor payments 
on a basis reflecting a pre-COVID-19 world.    

5.2 Government has recognised these pressures and have sought to ease any 
immediate impacts by making S31 grant payments for changes to the business 
rates scheme up front rather than passing these amounts in instalments across 
the year (£1.3m) and deferring payment of the central government grant share of 
business rates to the second half of the current financial year (£3m).

5.3 The latest cash flow projections are attached at appendix four to this report.

6. Future uncertainty

6.1 There continues to be significant uncertainty around the future of local 
government funding and this has been further exacerbated by announcements 
made over the last few months.

6.2 On 28 April 2020 the government confirmed that the Review of Relative Needs and 
Resources (which forms the basis of the Fair Funding Review) and the introduction of 
75% business rates retention will no longer be implemented in April 2021.  
Government indicated that it would work with local government on funding for 
2021/22.

6.3 On 6 May 2020 it was announced that the revaluation of business rates, due to take 
place in April 2021, will no longer take place. 

6.4 At the time of writing this report, there is no indication that the government are 
intending to make any changes to the timelines for transitional period of Brexit.  
June is the deadline for the UK to request an extension of the transition period 
beyond December 2020.
 

7. Next Steps

7.1 Due to its efforts over the last five years through the delivery of its Bridging the 
Gap activity and Balancing the Budget Initiatives, the Council has a strong level of 
reserves which will be sufficient to avoid serious financial difficulty in the short 
term.  Provisional financial information indicates that both the General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account will have favourable outturns at the end of the 2019/20 
financial year, further helping the financial position of both accounts.  

7.2 The Council continues to be a going concern and there is no need for the council 
to take any immediate strategic financial decisions in response to the financial 
impact of COVID-19.

Page 17



8

7.3 In respect of the General Fund, provisional outturn figures indicate that the 
Council held £4.9m in usable working balances at 31 March 2020 which could be 
deployed to meet any financial pressures without an immediate impact on service 
delivery or delivery of Corporate Plan priorities.  The provisional HRA General 
Reserve balance at 31 March 2020 was just over £3m.  Any such action to deploy 
these reserves would, however, significantly jeopardise the financial viability of the 
Council long term. 

7.4 Unless further financial support is provided by Government in due course there 
will be an adverse impact upon the council’s medium term financial position. 

7.5 The Council maintains strong financial governance arrangements and spend 
decisions have continued to be made in line with usual arrangements over the last 
three months and will continue moving forward.  As part of its ongoing financial 
arrangements, the Council will therefore:

 Maintain its monthly revenue budget monitoring arrangements, identifying any 
emerging pressures with particular focus on COVID-19 response and recovery 
activity.

 Keep under review delivery of its capital programme and the revenue impacts 
of any deviation from this.

 Keep under review its cash flow position.

 Monitor collection rates of main income streams on a monthly basis.

 Monitor its performance through the existing Performance Management 
Framework, which has been enhanced in the last few months with a set of 
indicators focused on monitoring and managing the impacts of COVID-19.

 Ensure delivery of the residual Bridging the Gap activity (valued at just over 
£318,000) is progressed.

 Actively contribute to lobbying for further financial support for the sector as a 
whole through groups such as the Local Government Association, District 
Council’s Network, Society of District Treasurers and Kent Finance Officers 
Group.

7.6 It is proposed that a further report is brought to Cabinet in September to update 
Members on the anticipated financial impacts of COVID-19 on the Council.  

8. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 18



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal No decision to be taken - the report is for noting.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

As contained within the main body of the report.

Risk Assessment As contained within the main body of the report.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The financial resilience and sutainability of the Council will impact on the ability to 
deliver the Corporate Plan.

Crime and Disorder N/A

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 19

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



MTFP - POST FULL COUNCIL 25.02.2020 - COVID 19 UPDATE UPDATED 03.06.2020

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 10,948,640 10,269,630 11,293,410 11,533,120 11,791,250 12,085,070 12,386,150 12,694,790 13,011,100 13,335,300 13,667,580 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) --   (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 10,598,640 10,269,630 10,943,410 11,183,120 11,441,250 11,735,070 12,036,150 12,344,790 12,661,100 12,985,300 13,317,580 

Temporary Staff 392,840 431,970 375,010 384,380 393,980 403,830 413,930 424,280 434,890 445,760 456,910 

Wages 221,870 239,450 96,960 99,660 102,430 245,270 108,180 111,180 114,250 257,390 120,610 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 2,571,420 2,580,960 2,968,400 3,031,090 3,098,310 3,175,510 3,254,630 3,335,670 3,418,750 3,503,920 3,591,280 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,510,860 1,570,370 1,229,150 1,268,460 1,268,750 1,269,630 1,270,530 1,271,450 1,272,380 1,273,340 1,274,310 

Running Expenses 10,044,700 12,040,570 12,423,470 10,780,240 10,688,330 10,815,560 10,967,000 11,098,840 11,158,820 11,528,660 11,557,910 

Capital Financing 1,623,430 1,378,000 868,420 940,620 1,120,290 1,503,160 1,776,060 2,255,600 2,255,600 2,255,610 2,255,610 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (95,790) (95,790) (140,920) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,014,100) (2,998,820) (3,195,260) (3,295,930) (3,320,810) (3,382,590) (3,460,300) (3,492,890) (3,554,150) (3,622,850) (3,587,920)

Other Government Grants (2,236,120) (3,188,980) (4,298,250) (2,064,060) (2,085,970) (2,108,260) (2,130,930) (2,153,990) (2,177,440) (2,201,300) (2,225,560)

Investment Income (843,720) (918,720) (654,500) (772,000) (802,000) (832,000) (862,000) (892,000) (922,000) (952,000) (982,000)

Fees & Charges (7,433,120) (7,920,250) (5,021,090) (7,191,270) (7,179,690) (7,163,890) (7,175,680) (7,138,930) (6,984,430) (6,990,050) (6,995,820)

Rental Income (3,713,090) (4,254,000) (3,468,400) (4,738,530) (4,722,060) (4,722,160) (4,653,740) (4,742,960) (4,871,820) (4,918,090) (4,963,490)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,518,300 1,667,740 1,818,450 785,000 730,000 660,000 585,000 505,000 560,000 160,000 405,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (622,740) (1,220,240) (515,180) (1,581,110) 51,360 9,810 134,020 453,620 459,680 356,200 375,520 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 611,150 611,150 603,010 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 

Parish Precepts 339,740 339,740 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 11,474,270 10,532,780 14,400,890 9,692,760 11,714,250 12,588,940 13,279,510 14,422,680 14,887,070 15,155,670 15,673,720 

Business Rates Income (3,085,050) (3,209,670) (3,698,510) (3,266,080) (3,313,100) (3,360,920) (3,409,560) (3,459,020) (3,509,320) (3,560,480) (3,612,510)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

Less: Passported Parish Grant (LSCT) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

New Homes Bonus (611,150) (611,150) (603,010) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Council Tax Income (6,892,290) (6,892,290) (7,144,320) (7,330,880) (7,522,190) (7,718,690) (7,920,430) (8,127,150) (8,339,270) (8,557,220) (8,780,730)

Parish Precepts (339,740) (339,740) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund 196,460 196,460 893,180 1,119,450 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

(742,500) 323,610 (3,480,020) 456,250 (207,460) (837,830) (1,278,020) (2,165,010) (1,345,530) (547,000) (547,000)

--   --   0 --   --   --   --   --   1,021,450 1,819,470 2,061,980 

--   --   0 --   --   --   --   --   1,021,450 798,020 242,510 

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2019-20

Original 

2019-20

Projected 

2024-25

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2023-24

Projected 

2020-21

Projected 

2027-28

Projected 

2025-26

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £4m 

(£3.25m from 2020/21)

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2028-29

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2021-22

P
age 21



MTFP - POST FULL COUNCIL 25.02.2020 - COVID 19 UPDATE UPDATED 03.06.2020

2019-20      

Original

2019-20      

Projected

2020-21      

Original

2021-22      

Original

2022-23      

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2028-29      

Original

8,037,850 8,037,850 8,222,610 5,345,600 6,348,850 6,688,390 6,397,560 5,666,540 4,048,530 3,250,000 3,250,000

New Homes Bonus 611,150 611,150 603,010 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF (742,500) 323,610 (3,480,020) 456,250 (207,460) (837,830) (1,278,020) (2,165,010) (1,345,530) (547,000) (547,000)

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 7,906,500 8,972,610 5,345,600 6,348,850 6,688,390 6,397,560 5,666,540 4,048,530 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - - (0) - - - - - (1,021,450) (1,819,470) (2,061,980)

7,906,500 8,972,610 5,345,600 6,348,850 6,688,390 6,397,560 5,666,540 4,048,530 2,228,550 409,080 (1,652,900)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) 157,460 159,560 - - - - - - - - -

Corporate Priorities Reserve 309,500 125,400 125,400 125,400 125,400 125,400 125,400 125,400 125,400 125,400 125,400

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,376,780 1,164,110 799,610 719,610 719,610 704,610 804,610 904,610 1,004,610 1,104,610 1,204,610

Planning Policy Reserve 420,060 284,460 53,860 22,260 26,660 51,060 101,060 151,060 201,060 251,060 301,060

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,326,020 1,426,320 1,596,220 - - - - - - - -

Decriminalisation (General) 84,640 184,640 - - - - - - - - -

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 98,480 110,980 99,480 111,980 124,480 107,980 120,480 132,980 121,480 109,980 98,480

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 50,000 25,000 - - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 171,750 51,750 51,750 70,000 105,000 - 35,000 70,000 105,000 - 35,000

IT Infrastructure Reserve 304,730 339,730 84,730 79,730 114,730 189,730 134,730 169,730 244,730 149,730 184,730

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 414,280 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410 31,410

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 780,360 1,011,710 843,060 674,410 498,760 323,110 147,460 100,000 100,000 324,350 348,700

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 665,860 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Growth Fund Reserve 478,430 445,490 664,670 664,670 664,670 664,670 664,670 664,670 664,670 664,670 664,670

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150,000 150,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Service Review Reserve 246,780 158,180 - - - - - - - - -

Playgrounds Reserve 166,660 66,660 11,660 60,410 4,160 32,910 21,660 90,410 104,160 117,910 86,660

Woodville Repairs Reserve 170,320 227,570 284,820 342,070 399,320 456,570 513,820 571,070 628,320 685,570 742,820

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 424,410 483,590 693,680 710,780 708,310 708,320 698,060 711,440 730,770 737,710 744,650

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240

Housing & Commercial Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000

Climate Change Reserve - - 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Enterprise Zone Reserve - - 151,340 297,850 439,430 575,980 707,410 833,610 954,460 1,069,870 1,179,730

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 17,325,260 17,541,410 13,509,530 12,931,670 13,322,570 13,041,550 12,444,550 11,277,160 9,916,860 8,453,590 6,767,260

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 1,250,000 1,250,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

COVID-19 ASSUMPTIONS INCORPORATED WITHIN THIS PLAN

General Fund miniumum working balance set at £2m from 2020/21 onwards, General Reserve balance set at £3.25m from 2020/21 onwards.

Council Tax & NNDR - 10% assumed reduction in income which will affect Collection Fund in 2021/22 (but cash flow in 2020/21).

Car Parking Income - anticipated loss of £425k in 2020/21 based on no income for April-May, 50% income June-August, and normal budgeted levels thereafter.

Fees & Charges (excluding Parking) and Rental Income - 25% assumed reduction in income in 2020/21. £300k loss in income from Leisure Centres expected in 2020/21. Investment Income reductions across year each in MTFP.

Assumption that income streams will be fully back in line with original budget expectations from 2021/22 onwards, except Interest & Investment income which will have a delayed recovery (low interest rates etc).

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year (i.e. 31 March)                                       

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £2.0m minimum balance 

from 2020/21)

Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £2.0m minimum balance 

from 2020/21)

P
age 22



Original 

Budget Q1

HRA Budget Monitoring 2020.21 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 6,037 6,037 6,140 6,263 6,400 6,516 6,633 6,752 6,874 6,997

Repairs and Maintenance 8,023 8,053 8,159 8,322 8,505 8,659 8,814 8,973 9,135 9,299

Depreciation 6,889 6,889 7,140 7,421 7,693 7,945 8,206 8,476 8,754 9,042

Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 662 662 674 687 702 715 728 741 754 768

Capital Finance 7,889 7,889 7,952 8,366 9,007 9,644 10,029 10,413 10,808 11,216

RCCO 627 627 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Savings Required 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 30,127 30,157.020 30,064.006 31,059.406 32,307.856 33,477.707 34,410.464 35,355.004 36,325.111 37,321.601

Income

Rents of Dwellings (25,813) (25,350) (26,889) (28,030) (29,183) (30,301) (31,155) (32,030) (32,928) (33,850)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (34) (20) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34)

Service Charges (2,116) (2,078) (2,174) (2,241) (2,314) (2,380) (2,448) (2,518) (2,591) (2,665)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (136) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140)

Intensive Housing Management  - Income (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (114) (88) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114)

Total Income (28,737) (28,194) (29,872) (31,079) (32,306) (33,490) (34,412) (35,358) (36,328) (37,324)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (1,390) (1,963) (192) 20 (2) 13 2 3 3 2

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (1,390) (1,963) (192) 20 (2) 13 2 3 3 2

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd 1,610 1,037 2,808 3,020 2,998 3,013 3,002 3,003 3,003 3,002

Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 1,390 1,963 192 (20) 2 (13) (2) (3) (3) (2)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 6,085 6,085 4,122 3,930 3,950 3,948 3,961 3,962 3,965 3,968

Use to support revenue position (337) (1,336) (192) 0 (2) 0 0 0 0 0

Use in capital financing (3,173) (3,274) (627) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 2,647 627 20 0 13 2 3 3 2

Deficit on HRA revenue account 2,120 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 4,696 4,122 3,930 3,950 3,948 3,961 3,962 3,965 3,968 3,971

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



M
ar
-1
9

Ju
l-1

9

O
ct
-1
9

Fe
b-
2 0

M
ay
-2
0

Se
p-
20

De
c-
2 0

Ap
r-
21

Ju
l-2

1

O
c t
-2
1

F e
b-
22

M
a y
-2
2

Se
p-
22

De
c-
2 2

Ap
r-
2 3

Ju
l-2

3

No
v-
2 3

F e
b-
24

Ju
n-
24

Se
p-
24

De
c-
24

Ap
r-
25

Ju
l-2

5

No
v-
25

F e
b-
2 6

Ju
n-
26

Se
p-
26

Ja
n-
27

Ap
r-
27

Au
g-
27

No
v-
2 7

Fe
b-
28

J u
n-
2 8

Se
p-
28

Ja
n-
2 9

0

10000000

20000000

30000000

40000000

50000000

60000000

70000000

May-20 Jan-20

GBC Cashflow as at May 2020 compared to GBC Cashflow as at January 2020

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 29 June 2020 / 21 July 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Provisional Outturn Report 2019/20 

Purpose and summary of report:
To present:

 The 2019/20 provisional General Fund Outturn Report, including movements in the 
General Fund working balances and earmarked reserves

 The 2019/20 provisional General Fund Capital Outturn
To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance.  This report provides details of the 
provisional budget outturn for the 2019/20 financial year and complements the 2019/20 
Financial Statements for the authority, which will subsequently be considered by the 
Finance & Audit Committee. 

1.2. During 2019/20, the Council continued to operate robust budgetary control actions to 
ensure good financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s 
finances.  In addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget 
monitoring reports, these actions have included:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring all recruitment activity to be considered and approved by Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, as set 
out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covering the period.

Page 27 Agenda Item 7



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

General Fund - Revenue

2.1. The provisional outturn position for the year is an underspend of £1,194,250. This 
position has largely arisen as a result of the Council’s ongoing proactive action to realise 
base budget reductions through delivery of Bridging The Gap activity, as well as 
favourable year-end performance against some budget lines. Action to manage 
vacancies and other workforce matters also resulted in employee-related costs being 
lower than originally budgeted.

2.2. The council ended 2018/19 in a favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £184,670 
to be approved for carry forward into 2019/20.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is £10.35m, constituted of the minimum 
working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund reserve of £4.00m and usable Working 
Balances of £5.1m. 

2.4. Movements in the year have resulted in a net increase in reserves of £0.67m, with the 
level of reserves being £11.24m at start of year and £11.91m at year- end.

2.5. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the lack 
of clarity regarding the long-term future of local government funding, and more recently, 
the financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic.

2.6. General Fund - Capital

2.7. The revised budget of the General Fund Capital Programme for the year is £8.2m, 
including £1.3m to support furtherance of the council’s land and commercial property 
portfolio and £1.7m to fund the initial works to redevelop the St George’s Shopping 
Centre.  Actual spend for the year was £3.3m. 

2.8. The Capital Programme has been updated during the budget-setting process for 
2020/21, to take account of projects that are no longer expected to occur during 2019/20 
but in 2020/21 and future years instead.

3. GENERAL FUND - REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2019/20

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2019/20 was £11,474,270, funded by 
retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, Council Tax and use of £742,500 
Usable Working Balances, in accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. Following some limited changes to the responsibilities of Directors and Assistant 
Directors from 2nd September, the former Environment & Operations and Housing & 
Regeneration directorates have been adjusted to Housing & Operations and Planning & 
Development respectively. This reflects the transfer of Housing Services from Housing & 
Regeneration to Housing & Operations. The table on the next page and subsequent 
commentary reflects the revised structure and sets out the closing assessment of 
performance against the Original Budget by Directorate.

3.1.3. The provisional General Fund outturn against the Original Budget is presented in the 
table below. It should be noted that headings for directorates, reserves and transactions 
below the line have been adjusted to neutralise the effect of year-end accounting entries 
such as depreciation, and incorporate the correct accounting treatment for reserves and 

Page 28



3

grant income. As a result, the table may not be directly comparable to previous budget 
monitoring reports.

3.1.4. The original budget requirement upon which 2019/20 council tax levels were originally 
set remains unchanged, and all other lines only include variations which CIPFA funding 
regulations permit to be levied against council tax and business ratepayers.

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 (£)

Outturn 
2019/20 (£)

Variation 
2019/20( £)

All Directorate - Salaries 13,700,720 13,485,590 (215,130)
Chief Executive (120,160) (120,320) (160)
Communities 47,760 (1,189,850) (1,237,610)
Corporate Services 4,891,740 4,982,990 91,250
Housing & Operations (696,900) (396,020) 300,880
Planning & Development 10,620 (181,500) (192,120)
Non-Directorate Specific 1,074,900 1,055,230 (19,670)
Interest and Investment Income (917,750) (1,055,560) (137,810)
Government Grant Funding (1,213,840) (1,288,040) (74,200)
Transfers to/ (from) reserves 192,480 668,280 475,800
Transfers to/ (from) balances 611,150 611,150 0
Transactions below the line (6,106,450) (6,076,760) 29,690
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,474,270 10,495,190 (979,080)

Business Rates Income (3,085,050) (3,300,220) (215,170)
Council Tax Income (6,892,290) (6,892,290) 0
Parish Precepts (339,740) (339,740) 0
New Homes Bonus (611,150) (611,150) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 196,460 196,460 0
Use of Working Balances (742,500) (742,500) 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (1,194,250) (1,194,250)  
Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

 
3.2. All DIRECTORATE – SALARIES

3.2.1 Staffing: £215k favourable variance – the council continued through the year to 
maintain a close analysis of staffing budgets through regular monitoring to Management 
Team and effective management of vacant posts and the staffing establishment. The 
budget for 2019/20 incorporated a vacancy allowance of £350k; the year-end position 
was an underspend of £565k, giving rise to the net favourable variance of £215k. 

3.3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.3.1 There are no significant variances to report.

Page 29



4

3.4. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £1,238k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.4.1. Acquisition of Units at Springhead Park: £236k favourable variance – as part of the 
council’s continuing Property Acquisition Programme, the purchase of several industrial 
units at Springhead Park was completed in February 2019.  Due to the timing of this 
acquisition compared to budget-setting arrangements, this was not able to be reflected 
in the 2019/20 original budget and therefore there is now a favourable year-end  
variance of £236k to report.  

3.4.2. Right of access to land at Coldharbour Lane: £207k favourable variance – in April 
2019 the Council received a sum of £207k relating to the granting of access rights over 
the strip of land fronting Lanes Avenue (off Coldharbour Lane), in order to provide 
pedestrian access to the Bovis Homes / Persimmon Homes scheme at that site.

3.4.3. Council-owned Garages: £149k favourable variance – within the council’s Balancing 
the Budget initiatives identified in November 2018, a review of council-owned garages 
and clarification of the legal position has resulted in a reallocation of income and 
expenditure between the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and General Fund. It has 
been determined that where such garages or parking spaces are being used by non-
council tenants, the associated income and expenditure should be appropriated to the 
General Fund, rather than the HRA as has traditionally been the case. The resultant 
effect is a net benefit to the General Fund of £149k in 2019/20 with £180k anticipated in 
future years.

3.4.4. Acquisition of site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend: £56k favourable variance – as 
part of the same strategy described in paragraph 3.4.1., the council acquired in January 
2019 the site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend, which at the time was tenanted by Bon 
Marche. This purchase was also not completed for reflection in the 2019/20 original 
budget, and therefore there is now additional income of £56k to report. 

3.4.5. Although Bon Marche subsequently went into administration in October 2019, the 
administrator found a buyer for the business, and rather than take the property back and 
try to re-let it, the Council negotiated a new lease with the buyer. Whilst the subsequent 
rent is lower (£40k per annum, compared to the £58k Bon Marche were paying after an 
initial rent-free period), the transaction does ensure that the property remains let and an 
income stream is maintained.

3.4.6. Legal Shared Services: £50k favourable variance – as a result of year-end 
underspends in the shared service hosted by Medway Council, largely due to staff 
turnover and vacancies, there is a reduction in the council’s contribution to the shared 
service budget. The result of this is a year-end favourable variance of £50k. 

3.4.7. St Georges’ Shopping Centre: £526k favourable variance – during 2019/20 the 
Council has received rental income from the centre, as well as meeting costs arising 
from the finance lease arrangement and other items relating to non-recoverable service 
charges e.g. in instances of vacant units.  Additionally, a rent guarantee sum has been 
accrued from Reef as part of contractual agreement, and investment income has been 
generated from the initial investment balance received. The net effect of these income 
streams less costs incurred in 2019/20 is £526k. This has been set aside at year-end in 
an earmarked reserve described further within section 3.11 to safeguard against lost 
rental income, void periods and non-recoverable service charges during further phases 
of redevelopment at the centre.

3.4.8. Other Net Variances: £14k favourable variance – the net effect of other variances 
across the Communities Directorate is a favourable variance of £14k. 

Page 30



5

3.5      CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £91k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1 Interest Payable: £246k favourable variance – when setting the budget for 2019/20 in 
February 2019 there was an assumption that the authority would undertake some 
external borrowing during 2019/20 to support elements of the capital programme.  
However, as these schemes have not progressed in the timescales originally envisaged, 
the external borrowing anticipated is now budgeted to be undertaken in 2020/21 instead, 
thus resulting in reduced interest costs in 2019/20.

3.5.1 Housing Benefit Net Subsidy: £116k favourable variance – during 2019/20 the total 
level of recoverable overpayments has been higher originally budgeted. This, alongside 
a reduced level of housing benefit administration expenditure, has resulted in an overall 
favourable variance within the service.

3.5.2 Corporate Inflation Provision: £93k favourable variance – the Council holds a 
central fund for supplies and services inflation within the Corporate Services directorate 
to act as a safeguard against inflationary increases to contract payments and general 
supplies and services costs. In 2019/20, services were largely able to manage 
inflationary increases within existing budgets, resulting in a reduced call on this fund 
compared to the original budget. The impact of this is a year-end underspend of £93k.

3.5.3 Corporate Expenses: £23k adverse variance – following activity to refine budgetary 
arrangements including analysis of historic items held on the balance sheet, £23k has 
been charged back to the revenue budget in 2019/20.

3.5.4 Bank Charges: £37k adverse variance – credit card fees were some £29k higher than 
originally anticipated as there were delays in finalising the new contract with Worldpay, 
as well as fees incurred from an additional 6,800 sales relating to Garden Waste 
invoices.  Other charges relating to the Council’s bank account and Capita Bill Payment 
contract were some £8K higher than forecasted, leading to the overall net variance of 
£37k.

3.5.5 Increased Sundry Debt bad debt provision: £60k adverse variance – following 
analysis of the year-end provision for General Fund sundry debt, an increased provision 
in 2019/20 is required, leading to a £60k adverse variance.

3.5.6 Covid19 Impact – additional bad debt provision: £377k adverse variance – in 
addition to the routine practices of establishing a bad debt provision relating to General 
Fund sundry debt and Housing Benefit overpayments, officers have also been 
assessing the potential impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on debt recovery.  To 
summarise, it has been identified that more current debts which generally do not attract 
a bad debt provision would be at greater-risk of non-payment than is usually the case. 
Officers have undertaken various aged debt analysis modelling, and thus in the interests 
of budgetary prudence and in recognising these unique circumstances, a further bad 
debt provision of £377k has been set aside.

3.5.7 Other Net Variances: £49k adverse variance – the net effect of other variances across 
the Corporate Services Directorate is an adverse variance of £49k. 

 

Page 31



6

3.6     HOUSING & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE  – £301k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.6.1 Garden Waste Collection Service: £53k favourable variance – the garden waste 
subscription service has continued to expand in 2019/20.  This additional volume, in 
conjunction with a review of the existing charging structure from 1 April 2019, has led to 
additional net income of £53k compared to the original budget.

3.6.2 Controlled Parking Zone Review: £30k favourable variance – the Service Review 
process identified a need to update some aspects of the existing Controlled Parking 
Zones. Implementation of the new arrangements went live in May 2019; as result of 
moving away from five-year permits to a system of annual permit renewal, a favourable 
variance has been realised in 2019/20 of £30k.

3.6.3 Parking equipment: neutral variance – funding of £33k has been transferred from the 
Service Review Reserve in order to finance the purchase of new equipment and signage 
to enable the operation of new parking schemes within the town centre. 

3.6.4 Waste Freighter vehicle parts: £31k adverse variance – there have been on-going 
reliability issues with the refuse vehicles due to their age, which has resulted in higher 
maintenance costs than provided for within the original budget. Rectification of defects 
with these vehicles has required the purchase of replacement parts which has led to an 
adverse variance of £30k.  The replacement of the current fleet of refuse vehicles has 
started with two vehicles on order and due to be delivered in 2020.

3.6.5 Town Centre Improvement Works: £33k adverse variance – as part of the town 
centre review it was agreed that a budget would be provided to trial new equipment and 
update some of the current equipment used within the town centre.  This has led to an 
adverse variance of £33k.

3.6.6 Waste Recycling Support Payment: £90k adverse variance – the waste recycling 
support payment has exceeded budget every year since the agreement with KCC was 
put into place and the income budget has been increased to reflect this. For 2018/19, 
due to gate fees for recycling materials going up, the disposal saving for Kent County 
Council and subsequently Gravesham Borough Council has gone down leading to an 
adverse variance of £45k; this has then been reflected in the 2019/20 forecasted 
payment leading to a further adverse variance of £45k.

3.6.7 Denton and Southfield Shaw Repairs: £93k adverse variance – the day-to-day 
maintenance and up-keep of the sites was accommodated within existing budgets.  The 
additional expenditure on both sites was due to significant major works that needed to 
be carried out, including clearance of excessive fly-tipping and major drainage issues at 
Denton Caravan Site and an extensive electrical upgrade on one area of Southfield 
Shaw.  

3.6.8 Net income deficit within Car Parks: £106k adverse variance – Covid-19 has had a 
detrimental impact on pay and display income; weeks 50 & 51 saw a very sharp fall in 
car park usage and from 24th March the car parks were free of charge.  These factors 
had an impact of approximately £25k.  The usage, (in terms of pay and display tickets 
purchased) across all car parks was down slightly from 2018/19 which has had a 
detrimental impact on income, compared to initial predictions for 2019/20.  

3.6.9 Homelessness: neutral variance – the year-end position for service shows an overall 
balanced budget position, after government funding received by the Council has been 
applied.  In Quarter Four of 2019/20, the Council was approached by 393 households 
requiring assistance to resolve their housing needs.  This resulted in 74 households 

Page 32



7

being housed in temporary accommodation (including legacy cases) at year-end, the 
same number as the end of Quarter Three and a slight reduction on the 80 households 
requiring such assistance at the end of Quarter Two. 

3.6.10 During 2019/20, the number of homeless households in temporary accommodation 
continued to reduce, from a peak of 111 at the end of April 2019 (including 44 
households in nightly paid accommodation, of which 17 placements were outside 
Gravesham), to 74 at the end of March 2020 (including just 7 households in nightly paid 
accommodation, of which 3 placements were outside Gravesham).

3.6.11 Following the coronavirus pandemic and the instruction to get all rough sleepers out of 
shared sleeping sites by 30 March, emergency temporary accommodation for a total of 
57 rough sleepers has been provided. This includes a number of people to whom the 
Council has no duty to accommodate and those with no recourse to public funds who 
are not eligible for any financial assistance towards their housing costs. For 2019/20, 
these costs have been met by the grant-funded Rough Sleeper initiative, although the 
long-term impact will continue be monitored throughout 2020/21. 

3.6.12 Total expenditure on temporary accommodation during 2019/20 was £361k, partly offset 
by £132k Housing Benefit income, and £18k received from households who are 
ineligible for Housing Benefit. The remaining balance of £211k has been met by grant 
funding provided by central government, resulting in an overall neutral reported variance 
for the service.

3.6.13 Other Net Variances: £31k adverse variance – the net effect of other variances across 
the Housing & Operations Directorate is an adverse variance of £31k.

3.7     PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE –  £192k FAVOUARBLE  VARIANCE

3.7.1 Planning Performance Agreements:  £85k favourable variance – during 2019/20, 
funds were received from the Port of Tilbury relating to the planning performance 
assessment (PPA) associated with the “Tilbuy2” project. The project comprised of a 
review of the Port of Tilbury, including the potential re-design of the terminal and 
associated infrastructure of rail and road facilities, revisions to the existing marine 
infrastructure, and wider transport considerations to link the existing road and rail 
network around the surrounding River Thames area. The PPA contributed to 
Gravesham Council officer resources associated with pre-application discussions, 
protocols for the provision of information and responses related to the project, and the 
examination and pre-decisions stages of the Development Consent Order process. 

3.7.2 Planning Consultancy Costs: £51k favourable variance – the consultancy budget is 
typically used to procure specialist agricultural advice on rural planning matters, and 
design advice relating to major applications. It is also utilised for the engagement of 
consultants to assist with the processing of planning applications, particularly when 
additional capacity has been required.  During the course of 2019/20, a range of 
recruitment across the service has taken place, leading to a reduced requirement to 
engage consultants and therefore a year-end underspend has arisen.

3.7.3 Housing Services – Empty Properties: £30k favourable variance – this budget is 
held to cover legal fees to enable the Council to serve various legal notices, issue Empty 
Dwelling Management Orders, cover Land Registry fees or consider the Compulsory 
Purchase of empty properties and any minor works in default. This budget was not 
required during 2019/20 since no enforcement action relating to empty properties that 
attracted legal costs took place. Therefore, there is an underspend for 2019/20 of £30k.

Page 33



8

3.7.4 Local Development Plan: neutral variance – funding from the Planning Policy 
Reserve of £101k has been released in order to support the delivery of the Local Plan 
Partial Review, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies documents as 
well as wider corporate priorities.  Expenditure includes a sustainability appraisal, a 
habitats regulations assessment and other reviews and studies of the local area, as well 
as communications and publicity related expenditure. During the budget-setting process 
for 2020/21 the reserve has been re-profiled to take account of the latest projected 
expenditure patterns over the next 4 years.

3.7.5 Other Net Variances: £26k favourable variance – the net effect of other variances 
across the Planning & Development Directorate is a favourable variance of £26k.

3.8    NON-DIRECTORATE SPECIFIC –  £20k FAVOUARBLE  VARIANCE

3.8.1 Past Service Pension Contributions:  £20k favourable variance – as a result of 
timing differences between the budget-setting process for 2019/20 and the forecast 
charges for the year being notified, there is favourable variance at year-end of £20k.

Page 34



9

3.9 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2018/19 – £185k

3.9.1 The following items from 2018/19 have been approved for carry forward to 2019/20 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team: 

Summary of General Fund Revenue 2018/19 year-end carry forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2019/20

Communities Regeneration £980 Maintenance works are required on the town pier access system, this 
budget is required to offset the cost of this work.

Communities Younger Persons Fund £1,810 Unspent budget to be rolled forward to to pay for grant funded projects 
already identified in 2019/20.

Communities Older Persons Fund £2,050 To be rolled forward to pay for various projects which have already been 
identified.  These include a TV for Portreeve Resident's Association and 
Defribrillator's at Meopham Parish Council, Istead Rise Memorial Hall and 
Vigo Village Hall.

Communities Property Services £5,000 The final 2018/19 service charge for St John's House has not yet been 
received.  As the building was empty for a few months this charge may 
exceed the original estimate.  As such this budget carry forward is being 
requested to cover that eventuality as a one off event.

Communities Community 
Engagement 

£7,610 Unspent MOD grant to be rolled forward.  The MOD have agreed that this 
money can be carried forward and used against an appropriate project 
next year.

Communities Woodville Halls £10,000 Equipment for market café.  Spotlites are interested in taking on a unit in 
the market to provide the café there. This approach will give the market a 
much needed offer and ensure there is the provision needed.  Spotlites 
will be able to use staff & stock across both sites making this a cost-
effective second business for them. To do this, there will be a need to 
purchase equipment including fridges, hot warmers, tea/coffee machine.  
In the very unlikely event the offer did not work, the equipment would 
be reused in the main Spotlites kitchen.                                            

Communities Community 
Engagement 

£10,590 To support a range of initiatives for next year – community cohesion, 
tackling hate crime, building footfall in the town etc. This will be linked to 
ongoing work and the Altogether Stronger project that the council has 
just received approval for.

Communities Woodville Halls £22,000 The auditorium floor needs repairing, sanding and varnishing each year. 
However, as this has not been undertaken for a number of years, 
replacement of the floor is now required.                                   

Communities Woodville Halls £23,000 This budget will pay for the introduction of a second till at Spotlites and a 
redesign of the counter to accommodate this. This will enable the team 
to better serve customers, particularly during busy times.                 

Communities Woodville Halls £70,000 The current dimmer rack responsible for the auditorium lighting needs to 
be replaced; however, a survey is required to ascertain whether this is 
the most appropriate route or whether a change to the overall lighting 
installation is more appropriate / cost effective. Ring-fencing the balance 
of savings (£70k) is expected to cover the majority of the cost of this 
work. 

Corporate Services Corporate 
Performance

£1,520 The Corporate Plan as a project operates over a rolling four year basis. In 
years 2 and 3 virtually no monies are committed. However, year 4 
(2018/19) has a sizeable portion spent as we carry out preparatory work 
on the new plan and year 1 (2019/20) will likely see all monies spent.  The 
bulk of the budget will be committed to the various communication and 
promotional aspects of the new Corporate Plan; imagery, printing etc. 

Environment and 
Operations

Horticulture £3,450 Some of the Playground budget was set aside to fund the cost of the 
replacement parts at Woodlands Park Play Area.  The replacement head 
unit was not received by 31/03/19 due to a delay with the delivery. The 
budget now needs to be used to offset this cost in 2019/20.  

Environment and 
Operations

Car Parking £26,660 The underspend achieved in 2018/19 is needed to supply & install CPZ 
Parking Signs in 2019/20.

Total carry-forward requests £184,670

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2018/19

Page 35



10

3.10    INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £138k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.10.1 When setting the investment income budget for the Multi Asset Funds, it was assumed 
that a dividend return of just under 3% would be generated as the investment had only 
been held for approximately nine months.  However, the return was around 3.7%, 
leading to additional income of £83k. 

3.10.2 When setting the investment income budget for Property Funds, whilst the investments 
had been held since 2016, a prudent view was taken that returns would be around 3.2% 
given the uncertain economic conditions surrounding Brexit.  Dividend returns for the 
year were around 4.2%, resulting in additional income of £90k.

3.10.3 Each year the General Fund makes a interest payment to the HRA based on the various 
HRA balances held during the year.  In 2019/20, this payment was £35k more than 
originally budgeted.

3.10.4 Thus, the net overall position for interest and investment income is a combination of the 
additional incomes of £83k and £90k respectively in conjunction with the additional year-
end transfer required to the HRA of £35k. 

3.11 FUNDING STREAMS – £431k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.11.1 Government Grant Funding – Section 31 grants: £74 favourable variance – the 
outturn for Section31 grants received to compensate the Council for various business 
rate reliefs granted has provided a net benefit to the MTFP in 2019/20 of £74k.

3.11.2 Transfers to/(from) reserves: £476k net additional transfer to reserves – this 
comprises:

 NNDR Growth Fund Reserve – membership of the Kent Business Rates Pool has 
generated £169k that has been transferred into the NNDR Growth Fund Reserve. This 
represents a reduction of £50k from what was previously anticipated in the original 
budget for 2019/20.

 St George’s Income Protection Reserve – following on from the favourable variance 
relating to the St George’s Shopping Centre described within the Communities 
Directorate section, an equivalent sum of £526k has been transferred to this earmarked 
reserve. This will ensure that monies are set aside to negate lost rental income, void 
periods and non-recoverable service charges, particularly during the early phase of the 
project with construction and re-enlivening works taking place. The full surplus 
generated of £526k has been transferred to the reserve, therefore resulting in no net 
overall variation to the Council.

3.11.3 Transactions below the line – Minimum Revenue Provision: £30k adverse variance 
– the MRP budget for 2019/20 was based on the assumption that the garages would 
transfer from the HRA to the General Fund as referenced in section 3.4.3.  It was 
subsequently determined that there was no requirement to transfer the garages as 
physical assets between the HRA and General Fund, but that income and expenditure 
was appropriated between the funds, and therefore did not give rise to any adjustment 
on MRP.

3.11.4 Business Rates Income: £215k favourable variance – the outturn for 2019/20 
business rates income takes into account benefits resulting from membership of the 
Kent Business Rates Pool of £98k.  Additionally, the outturn for Section 31 grants 
received to compensate the council for various business rate reliefs granted (within the 

Page 36



11

Government Grant Funding section) has also been updated, giving a further MTFP 
benefit of £74k.

3.11.5 Following the Council’s membership of the Kent Business Rates Pilot scheme in 
2018/19, subsequent year-end reconciliations of data across the region have been 
undertaken to finalise the overall position. The resultant effect is a net further benefit to 
the Council of £107k relating to the Financial Sustainability and Housing Growth Funds.

3.11.6 A further sum of £10k has been received in 2019/20 relating to a one-off distribution 
from the national NNDR levy account surplus. 

3.11.7 Therefore the total variation for this section is a combination of the £98k Kent Pool 
benefit, £107k additional Kent Pilot 2018/19 monies and £10k levy account surplus – an 
overall favourable variance to the MTFP of £215k in 2019/20.

3.12 Working Balances and Reserves

3.12.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2018/19 9,287,850 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 611,150 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund (742,500)
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2018/19) 1,194,250 
Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 March 2020) including Minimum 
GF Working Balance 10,350,750 
Less: Minimum GF balance (1,250,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (4,000,000)

Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 March 2020) 5,100,750 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

Page 37



12

3.12.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
final movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Actual Actual Closing
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2019 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 420 (101) 50 369 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,377 (157) 100 1,320 

 Spend to Save Reserve 157 3 160 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,326 (33) 356 1,649 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 310 (60) 250 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 99 12 111 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) 
Reserve 

50 (25) 25 
Elections Reserve 172 (120) 22 74 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 666 (166) 500 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 305 (40) 75 340 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 414 (417) 105 102 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 780 222 1,002 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 478 (60) 170 588 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 150 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 170 57 227 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 422 526 948 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 424 59 483 
 Service Review Reserve 247 (6) 241 
 Playgrounds Reserve 167 (50) 117 
Decriminalisation Reserve 85 100 185 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 9,419 (1,235) 1,857 10,041 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,819 (166) 212 1,865 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 11,238 (1,401) 2,069 11,906 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

3.12.3 Significant or new approved use of reserves, other than those already referred to in 
section 3.11 or within individual directorates include:

3.12.4 Asset Enhancement Reserve – £95k see “Essential Repairs to Buildings” paragraph in 
section 4.1 within the Capital Programme.

3.12.5 Corporate Priorities Reserve – £16k CCTV (Communities), £8k Corporate Debt Pilot 
System (Corporate Services), £7k Safer Place Officers’ equipment (Communities), £26k 
LATCO Development Costs (Capital Programme).

3.12.6 NNDR Equalisation Reserve – Transfer of £166k to meet NNDR Collection Fund deficit 
from 2018/19.

3.12.7 Elections Reserve – £120k Borough Council elections in May 2019 (Communities).

3.12.8 DSO Vehicle Capital - £417k Operational Services vehicles – see “Purchase of 
Vehicles (DSO Fleet) paragraph in section 4.1 within the Capital Programme. 

3.12.9 Playgrounds Reserve – £50k playground replacement works - see “Replacement 
Playground Programme” paragraph in section 4.1 within the Capital Programme.

Page 38



13

3.13     Medium Term Financial Planning

3.13.1 The General Fund has ended the 2019/20 financial year in healthy position, principally 
due to the Council pressing ahead with its proactive Bridging the Gap programme of 
activity to respond to the unrelenting financial challenges facing local government. This 
is largely due to some significant new income streams resulting from the purchases 
made under the Property Acquisition Programme as well as strong return within interest 
and investment income.

3.13.2 The Council continues to be a member of the Kent Business Rates Pool, and in 2019/20 
this generated a direct benefit of £98k as set out within section 3.11.

3.13.3 The financial environment within which the Council operates will remain challenging and 
with yet more uncertainty in 2020/21.  It was confirmed in December 2019 that following 
the single-year funding arrangement for 2020/21, a more comprehensive review of Local 
Government Finance, pending the outcomes of the Fair Funding Review would take 
place during 2020/21. This has since been postponed until after April 2021 given the 
current Covid-19 pandemic.

3.13.4 The Covid-19 pandemic is also likely to affect the Council’s financial outlook in 2020/21.  
In terms of year-end accounting and reporting for 2019/20, the major impact of Covid-19 
is experienced within the increased debt impairment provisions set aside, as described 
within the Corporate Services directorate. 

3.13.5 During 2020/21 it is likely that the Council will see significant reductions of income, for 
example in the following areas:

 Rental income payments from tenants within commercial and investment properties 
 Fees charges – for example car parking income and receipts at The Woodville
 Investment income from Property and Multi-Asset Funds
 Council Tax and Business Rates

3.13.6 As of writing, the Council has received around £1.1m funding from Central Government 
in order to assist with the response to the pandemic. Although assisting with direct 
expenditure, the local government sector continues to lobby Central Government for 
further support to assist with the projected income losses described above.

Page 39



14

4.       GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1       The following table details the final outturn for the General Fund Capital Programme and  
      the revised original budget for 2019/20, taking into consideration adjustments for     

            carried forward items approved by the Section 151 Officer and Management team, and 
            subject to audit.

Scheme

2019/20 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2019/20 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2019/20 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2019/20 Final 
Outturn                

£
Variance               

£

C/Fwd and 
Adj's to 
2020/21            

£

2020/21 
Approved 

budget         
£

2020/21 
Original 
Budget 

including 
C/Fwd                 

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 465,400 389,390 854,790 430,420 (424,370) 424,370 474,500 898,870
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 21,580 0 21,580 6,750 (14,830) 14,830 0 14,830
Parrock St Car Park - resurfacing 0 167,500 167,500 155,760 (11,740) 11,740 0 11,740
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 535,000 52,870 587,870 517,040 (70,830) 70,830 205,000 275,830
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 0 50,000 0 (50,000) 50,000 0 50,000
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100,000) 100,000 0 100,000
Waste & Horticulture back office system 192,950 0 192,950 84,260 (108,690) 108,690 0 108,690
Replacement Playground Programme 185,300 0 185,300 135,430 (49,870) 49,870 55,000 104,870
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 40,000 (40,000) 0 0 0 0 40,000 40,000
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 (1,400,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Property Acquisition Programme 2,328,600 (2,328,600) 0 0 0 0 3,286,980 3,286,980
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 (2,566,810) 1,092,000 0 (1,092,000) 1,092,000 2,566,810 3,658,810
Land at Dering Way 4,735,000 (4,500,000) 235,000 32,090 (202,910) 202,910 4,500,000 4,702,910
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 5,461,640 (3,761,640) 1,700,000 1,816,610 116,610 0 130,000 130,000
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 80,000 80,000 50,560 (29,440) 29,440 0 29,440
Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches 50,000 0 50,000 50,000 0 0 0 0
Heritage Assets 328,500 (278,500) 50,000 16,420 (33,580) 33,580 355,000 388,580
Gym Equipment  Leisure Centres 0 181,000 (181,000) 181,000 205,000 386,000
Back up Generator 75,000 0 75,000 0 (75,000) 75,000 0 75,000
Envelope Filling Equipment 20,000 0 20,000 19,660 (340) 0 0
Parking Machines 251,200 (251,200) 0 0 0 251,200 251,200
LATCO development costs 0 0 50,000 11,000 (39,000) 24,110 0 24,110
LATCO working capital provision 0 0 500,000 (500,000) 500,000 0 500,000
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages 0 2,000,000 2,000,000 (2,000,000) 2,000,000 0 2,000,000
Town Centre Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0 67,590 67,590
Parking Software 0 0 0 0 0 0 74,750 74,750
Purchase of Freighters 0 0 0 0 0 0 400,000 400,000
Enforcement of Private Housing 
Standards 0 0 0 0 0 0 55,000 55,000

Brookvale Office Accommodation 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,400,000 1,400,000
IT Infrastructure Assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 330,000 330,000

19,898,980 (12,436,990) 8,192,990 3,326,000 (4,866,990) 4,968,370 14,396,830 19,365,200

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2019//20

 Essential Repairs to Buildings 

The following work was completed in 2019/20:
- Resurfacing of the access way to Brookvale Depot;
- The replacement of water heating plant to Kings Farm changing rooms;
- Annual window servicing and follow-up repairs to windows at the Civic Centre
- LED lighting on the ground and first floors of the Civic Centre have been upgraded;
- Replacement of dimmer racks and rewiring of lighting circuits to The Woodville
- Replacement of the main roof at Cascades Leisure Centre (insurance works) is 

nearing completion

A number of projects will now be completed in 2020/21:
- Rebuilding of boundary wall at St Peter & St Paul’s Church this has been delayed to 

the new financial year due to Covid-19 restrictions;
- Initial on site investigations relating to the conservation of the Larkin Memorial
- Installation of LED Lighting for the remaining floors of the Civic Centre
- Work to the 1st floor flat toilet at the Civic Centre
- Replacement of roof coverings to café and pool changing rooms to Cascades

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – the new cemetery management software has 
now been implemented.

Page 40



15

 Parrock Street Car park resurfacing – this initiative was completed during the third 
quarter of 2019/20 and some additional works have also now been undertaken.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – all the fleet vehicles ordered for 2019/20 have 
been delivered and the fleet renewal plan is now being updated ready for 2020/21.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – enforcement of a Bus Gate with Automatic Number Plate 
Recognition (ANPR) cameras as opposed to a physical 'gate'/barrier is the preferred 
option for replacement of the King Street gate.  The capital budget reflects the 
associated costs for camera enforcement.  A business case was submitted to KCC 
Highways in 2019 and this approach is supported by the Joint Transportation Board.  A 
decision is now awaited from KCC to enable this project to proceed.

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – a review is currently taking place considering 
blocks of flats to determine the number of bins required before any orders are placed.  A 
food waste trial is currently being undertaken at Pickwick House to understand the 
feasibility of food waste collections from blocks of flats.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – the first stage implementing information 
systems for bin deliveries, domestic, and garden waste has been completed. The 
second stage of implementation, focusing on trade waste, is underway with an expected 
operational date of July 2020.

 Replacement Playground Programme – the equipment has been renewed at Central 
Avenue, Durndale Lane and Waterton Avenue play sites. A 20 year programme for play 
site renewals has been agreed from 2020/21 onwards, and has been incorporated into 
the budget-setting process.

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – a way forward has now been agreed on the 
replacement of the server room air conditioning unit and Property Services are obtaining 
quotes for the work, on behalf of IT Services.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation – this has been temporarily delayed, and is now 
reflected within the Capital Programme for 2020/21 instead of 2019/20. This is due to 
some wider works to the Depot being implemented in order to facilitate launching the 
Vehicle Servicing Local Authority Trading Company initiative with effect from 1 April 
2020.  The delay also allows for additional office accommodation within Brookvale Depot 
to be utilised in the meantime whilst the necessary reconfigurations are made to the 
depot yard.  

 Property Acquisition Programme – the council continues to be pro-active in identifying 
suitable acquisition opportunities to add to its commercial property portfolio, albeit this 
activity is currently on hold given the pandemic situation.  

 Land Acquisition Programme – agreement was reached in early January to secure a 
parcel of land to the East of Lion Business Park, Gravesend, at a projected cost of 
around £1.1m. Additionally, the council continues to maintain an overview of strategic 
land sites in the borough so that, as sites come to the market, their acquisition can be 
considered as a means of delivering development and revenue generating opportunities 
for the council and the wider borough in the future.

 Land at Dering Way – the scheme is currently on hold pending the outcome of a wider 
master planning exercise for the various landholdings under the ownership of the council 
in the Denton area, and thus been re-profiled within the Capital Programme.  This 
master planning exercise will seek to consider complementary uses of the adjacent land 

Page 41



16

holdings to ensure that development in that area maximises benefits to the council and 
to the wider community, taking advantage of opportunities to improve access to and 
provision of services, green space and high quality housing.

 Heritage Quarter (St George’s Centre) – the works to re-enliven the mall areas of the 
St George’s Centre have now been completed.  Further works at the site have been re-
profiled within the Capital Programme, in line with the latest projected pattern of 
development.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – works started on the major refurbishment of the 
existing flumes in December during a planned shutdown period at Cascades. The 
majority of works internally have now been completed, which included some additional 
internal structural steel repairs. The external works to the flume structures will now take 
place later in the Spring time, although this will not require a shutdown of the pool hall to 
complete. Final works costs are now estimated to be £80k, funded from a combination 
of S106 monies and existing council budgets.

 Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches – the Gravesend Rugby Football Club site was 
highlighted within the Gravesham 2016 Playing Pitch Strategy as strategically important 
to the local area but in need of refurbishment.  Gravesham Sports Trust were successful 
in raising the additional external funding required, and works to complete replacement 
carpet works on site have now been completed. 

 Heritage Assets – the capital programme has been adjusted to reflect expenditure in 
2019/20 and the programme of expenditure for future years.  2019/20 expenditure 
relates to repairs at New Tavern Fort; progressing works to the riverwall at St Andrew’s 
Arts Centre (taking place in 2020/21); preparation of a conservation management plan 
and associated surveys to inform future restoration works within Gravesend Cemetery; 
and, surveys to progress repairs to Gravesend Blockhouse and the Larkin Monument, 
Higham.  Alongside the Council’s own capital programme, plans are underway to submit 
applications for funding from the National Lottery Heritage Fund.  Progress will be 
subject to Covid-19 restrictions where applicable.

 Back-up Generator – tender documents to procure a back-up generator have been 
prepared.  The project manager is currently making arrangements for the tender to be 
issued.

 Envelope Filling Equipment – a new envelope filling machine was installed following a 
short procurement exercise. The new machine has provided more advanced capabilities 
and is more reliable than the previous machine.

 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – at Full Council on 17 December 2019, Members gave 
approval for the addition of a £2m loan within the 2019/20 Capital Programme for the 
purpose of providing long term funding to the Elizabeth Huggins Cottages Charity 
Housing Association. There was no request for funding received prior to the end of the 
financial year and this provision is now reflected within the Capital Programme for 
2020/21.

Page 42



17

5 Capital Resources

5.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      
the future    

General Fund Capital Resources

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2019                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2019/20                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2019/20                                                          

£       

Final Balance 
31/03/2020           

£
Capital Receipts (988,020) (6,670) 398,410 (596,280)
S106 Capital Contributions (531,050) (50,000) 50,000 (531,050)
Capital Grants unapplied (330,290) 0 183,100 (147,190)
Total Capital Resources (1,849,360) (56,670) 631,510 (1,274,520)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2019/20

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2019                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2019/20                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2019/20              

£

Final Balance 
31/03/2020              

£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 (179,160) 0 176,190 (2,970)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Local Enterprise Partnership Funding (6,910) 0 6,910 0
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (330,290) 0 183,100 (147,190)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2019/20

Page 43



5.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These  
      contributions are treated as specific grants as they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          

£
HRA               

£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2019/20                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0 0 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.
Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (259,460) (259,460)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Total S106 Contributions (531,050) 0 (81,000) (612,050)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2019/20

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

P
age 44



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this provisional outturn report is to identify performance against the 
original budget set for the 2019/20 financial year and illustrate how this affects the 
Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the council at the end of the 
financial year (subject to audit).

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 45

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


20

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 46



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 29 June 2020 / 21 July 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn Report  
2019/20

Purpose and summary of report:
To present:

 The 2019/20 provisional Housing Revenue Account Revenue Outturn and movements 
in the Housing Revenue Account working balances and earmarked reserves

 The 2019/20 provisional Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn

To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact the HRA 
Business Plan.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report provides details of the 
provisional budget outturn for the 2019/20 financial year and complements the 2019/20 
Financial Statements for the authority which will subsequently be considered by the 
Finance & Audit Committee. 

1.2. During 2019/20 the Council continued to operate robust budgetary control actions to 
ensure good financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s 
finances.  In addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget 
monitoring reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

Page 47 Agenda Item 8



2

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, 
as set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 48



3

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of the financial year, income and expenditure was balanced, with a net total 
positive variance of £462k against the original budget.  In the 2019/20 original budget, a 
contribution of £337k was needed from the HRA General Reserve to balance the budget 
and a further £3.173m was being taken from the HRA General Reserve to support the 
HRA capital programme.  However despite an additional £21k being taken from the HRA 
General Reserve to finance the capital programme, as a result of the outturn position, no 
monies were needed from the General Reserve to support the revenue position, and a 
contribution of £146k to the HRA General Reserve is instead being made.

2.2. The position was generated in the main due to increased costs set against Supervision 
and Management, and Capital Financing which was offset by savings against the 
Repairs and Maintenance budget and additional rental income.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at the end of the year remained at £3.0m, the minimum 
level of Working Balances for the HRA.  

2.4. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform. 

Housing Capital

2.5. The final outturn of the Housing Capital Programme for the year was £15.8m, against 
budgeted expenditure of £18.6m.  Capital budgets totalling £1.187m have been carried 
forward to 2020/21 (beyond those approved by Full Council in February), relating to the 
maintenance of the Council’s housing stock, the New Build programme and the 
provision of Disabled Facilities Grants.

Page 49



4

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2019/20

3.1.1. The table below sets out the provisional year-end position against the original budget for 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) based on variances during 2019/20.

3.1.2. At 31 March 2020 there was a net total positive variance of £462k against the original 
budget.

Description
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 (£)

Outturn   
2019/20 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,357,200 5,952,020 594,820
Repairs and Maintenance 7,618,140 7,394,930 (223,210)
Depreciation 6,911,810 6,953,620 41,810
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 667,490 640,450 (27,040)
Capital Finance 10,189,750 10,426,700 236,950
Sub Total Expenditure 30,744,390 31,367,720 623,330
Rents of Dwellings (25,031,400) (25,665,980) (634,580)
Other Rental Income (29,300) (19,750) 9,550
Service Charges (1,399,800) (1,819,640) (419,840)
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (147,130) (7,130)
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,480) (517,240) 4,240
Other Income (112,450) (150,530) (38,080)
Sub Total Income (27,234,430) (28,320,270) (1,085,840)
Contributions to/(from) reserves (3,509,960) (3,047,450) 462,510
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2019/20

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £594K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £239k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2019/20 incorporated a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It was anticipated that 
this would occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover 
within day-to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design 
of services.  The year end position is an underspend of £339k therefore giving rise to a 
net favourable variance of £239k.  Whilst the majority of this underspend is attributable 
to the Supervision and Management budget line, there is an element of the savings that 
is incorporated in the Repairs and Maintenance budget lines.

3.2.2. Warden Salary Recharges: £432k adverse variance – The re-allocation of Warden’s 
Salaries are no longer required since the introduction of the Intensive Housing 
Management.  The adverse variance is attributable to an adjustment made to correct the 
corresponding budget entry from the 2019/20 budget.

3.2.3. Accounting Adjustments: £187k adverse variance – There has been a revaluation of 
employee benefits undertaken (as per IAS19) which has resulted in an increased 
pension contribution not budgeted for in 2019/20.  However, the opposite side of this 
adjustments is reported as an underspend within the Capital Finance budget line.  As a 
result there is no overall negative impact on the HRA of this adverse variance.

Page 50



5

3.2.4. Covid -19: £50k adverse variance – The Covid-19 pandemic has increased the 
probability of loss of income in respect of housing and sundry debt, and as a result an 
additional debt impairment provision has been made to offset any potential loss directly 
associated with the pandemic.

3.2.5. Community Wardens: £26k adverse variance – Due to anti-social behaviour it was 
deemed necessary to have increased security patrols at The Hive, Gravesham Court 
and Homemead.  This resulted in additional spend against the original budget set for 
2019/20.

3.2.6. Rental Income Analytical Software: £37k adverse variance – The housing income 
team purchased rental income analytical software at a cost of £37k.  Whilst this has 
created an adverse variance as there was no provision for the expenditure in the original 
budget, the funding for the software was carried forward from the 2018/19 underspend.

3.2.7. Consultants Fees: £29k adverse variance – The Housing Department undertook an 
independent strategic review of the services which are provided in 2019/20 which has 
resulted in an adverse variance against the original budget.

3.2.8. Holding Hands Scheme: £17k adverse variance – The increased incentive payment 
scheme to encourage eligible tenants to downsize their property has been more 
successful than anticipated.  This has resulted in an adverse variance of £17k in 
2019/20 but the outcome has had a positive effect on the housing stock, releasing much 
needed larger properties.

3.2.9. Council Tax: £22k adverse variance – The Housing Revenue Account is responsible 
for making payment of Council Tax on empty properties.  The turnover of vacant 
properties has been higher than anticipated and has resulted in the adverse variance.   

3.2.10. Other Minor Variances: £33k adverse variance – A number of minor variances were 
recorded within Supervision and Management; the net effect of these variances was an 
overspend of £33k.

3.3. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE – £223K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Repairs & Maintenance: £223k favourable variance – As reported through 2019/20, 
the Responsive Repairs Team continue to deliver efficiencies and savings in its 
operations whilst providing an equitable service that meets the Council’s objectives as a 
landlord as well as managing tenants’ expectations.  Additional software has been 
purchased to compliment the IT system that was introduced in 2018/19 to support the 
evolution of the service.  It has created further opportunities to work in smarter ways to 
deliver efficiencies and savings, underpinned and reinforced by the policies that ensure 
that only necessary work is carried out and that any works above and beyond the 
responsibility of the Council are paid for by the tenant.

3.4. DEPRECIATION - £41K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.4.1. Depreciation: £41k adverse variance – the depreciation budget for 2019/20 was 
based on the asset valuation as at December 2018.  However the final depreciation 
charge for 2019/20 was based on the higher HRA asset value as at 1 April 2019 and 
therefore resulted in a increased charge.  The depreciation charge is recycled through 
the Major Repairs Reserve and used as a funding source for future capital works and 
therefore there is a corresponding favourable variance within the Capital Financing 
budget line.

Page 51



6

3.4.2. INTENSIVE MANAGEMENT FUND - £27K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.4.3. Call Centre Costs: £25k favourable variance – the favourable variance is due to a 
duplication of budget for the provision of an out of hours contact centre for supported 
housing residents.  The duplication of this budget will be addressed in the 2021/22 
budget setting process.

3.4.4. Other Minor Variances: £2k favourable variance – A number of minor variances were 
recorded within the Intensive Management Fund; the net effect of these variances was 
an underspend of £2k.

3.5. CAPITAL FINANCING – £236K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1. Interest: £152k adverse variance – the original budget for 2019/20, prepared in 
December 2018, included a provision for debt interest charges, based on the 
continuance of a single loans pool.  However, as reported as part of the 2018/19 outturn, 
the authority’s debt portfolio was switched from a single loans pool to a two loans pool in 
order to apportion debt charges fair and equitably between the General Fund and HRA.  
Therefore, the debt charges resulting from the HRA self financing loans resulted in an 
additional cost of £152k.

3.5.2. Revenue Contribution to Capital: £312k adverse variance – In the 2019/20 original 
budget there was an assumption that £3.173m from the HRA general reserve would be 
used to finance the capital programme.  The capital financing for the HRA programme 
was reviewed as part of the year-end processes and as a result a further £21k was used 
from the reserve.  In addition, service charge contributions towards capital totalling 
£277k was used to finance the 2019/20 capital programme along with a £14k 
contribution from the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation towards works at Wallis Park.  
These three variances have resulted in an overall adverse variance of £312k.

3.5.3. Accounting Adjustment: £187k favourable variance – the technical year end 
accounting adjustments referred to in Para 3.2.3.has a favourable variance on the 
Capital Financial budget line of £186k.  As a result there is no overall positive impact on 
the HRA of this favourable variance.

3.5.4. Depreciation: £41k favourable variance - the final depreciation charge for 2019/20 
was based on the higher HRA asset value as at 1 April 2019 and therefore resulted in a 
increased charge as outlined in 3.4.1.

3.6. RENTS ON DWELLINGS - £634K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.6.1. Rents on Dwellings - £272k favourable variance – the final position was influenced by 
an increase in the number of affordable rented properties as a result of new properties 
built or purchased under the New Build Programme.

3.6.2. Debt Impairment Provision: £362k favourable variance - due to the roll out of 
Universal Credits, the provision for bad debt was budgeted to reflect the potential impact 
of increased rent arrears due to benefits being paid directly to tenants.  Whilst the level 
of arrears has increased, (based on the debt outstanding as at 31 March 2020) there 
was a shift in the debt criteria from long to short term.  Therefore, there was no 
requirement to increase the debt impairment provision in 2019/20 resulting in a 
favourable variance of £362k.

Page 52



7

3.6.3. OTHER RENTAL INCOME - £9K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.6.4. Miscellaneous Rents - £12k adverse variance – Miscellaneous rental income has 
been reallocated to Other Income in order to comply with financial reporting.  The 
adverse variance has been offset with the favourable variance on Other Income. 

3.6.5. Other Minor Variances: £3k favourable variance – A number of minor variances were 
recorded within Other Rental Income; the net effect of these variances was an 
underspend of £3k.

3.7. SERVICE CHARGES - £419K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.7.1. Service Charges - £142k – favourable variance – the favourable variance at year-end 
resulted from the net collection of service charge contributions from both HRA and 
leasehold tenants.

3.7.2. Leaseholder Service Charge (Contribution to Capital): £277k favourable variance – 
income from the leaseholder contribution to capital works was not budgeted for in 
2019/20 and has resulted in a positive favourable variance, which has been used to 
finance part of the capital programme.  This figure is the remaining variance once 
eligible leaseholder refunds have been taken into consideration.  Contributions to capital 
works are refundable if the works have not commenced prior to the leaseholder selling 
their property.

3.8. NON-DWELLING INCOME - £7K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.8.1. Garage Income: £53k adverse variance – The adverse variance was a result of the 
delay in the consultation with tenants for the implementation of an increased charge to 
garage rental. 

3.8.2. Commercial and Other Rental Income: £59k favourable variance - the favourable 
variance is mainly due to the increased rental income received for the hire of space for 
telecommunication masts on HRA land and buildings.  

3.8.3. Minor Variances: £1k favourable variance – a number of minor variances were 
recorded within Non-Dwelling Income; the net effect of these variances was a favourable 
outcome of £1k.

3.9. INTENSIVE MANAGEMENT  INCOME  - £4K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.9.1. Minor Variances: £4k – adverse variance – a number of minor variances were 
recorded within the Intensive Management Income; the net effect of these variances was 
income being underachieved by £4k.

3.10. OTHER INCOME - £38K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.10.1. Cost Recovered: £41k – favourable variance – the final position was influenced due 
to the recovery of the Court Costs which does not form part of the original budget and 
the reallocation of other rental income.

3.10.2.  Variances: £3k – adverse variance – a number of minor variances were recorded 
within Other Income; the net effect of these variances was £3k.

Page 53



8

3.11. Working Balances and Reserves

3.11.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 
balances:

Working Balances £

Balance Brought Forward from 2018/19 3,000,000
Outturn Position 2019/20 (3,047,450)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 31 March 2020) before 
transfers to/from HRA General Reserve (47,450)

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 3,047,450
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 31 March 2020) 3,000,000

Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

3.11.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year:

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2019 
£'000

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income) 
£'000

Forecast Use 
of Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
£'000

Forecast 
Balance 

31/03/2020 
£'000

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (6,085,210) (146,390) 3,193,850 (3,037,750)

Total (6,085,210) (146,390) 3,193,850 (3,037,750)

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

Page 54



9

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The following table details the final outturn for the Housing Capital Programme and the 
revised original budget for 2019/0, taking into consideration adjustments for the carried 
forward items approved by the Section 151 Officer and Management Team, and subject 
to audit.

Ref No: Scheme

2019-20 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/fwd

2019-20 
Final 

Outturn
Variance

Estimated 
C/Fwd 

approved at 
Council for 

2020-21

C/fwd to 
2020-21

2020-21 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/fwd

A Replacement Programmes 4,920,550 4,439,030 (481,520) 0 116,800 4,122,450
B Improvement Programmes 2,069,290 1,931,460 (137,830) 0 0 1,702,350
C Health & Safety Works 1,773,980 1,937,520 163,540 0 0 1,305,310
D Major Void Works 0 0 0 0 0 200,000
E New Build & Acquisitions 7,662,300 6,837,440 (824,860) 0 824,860 12,399,860
F Housing Computer Systems 600,000 0 (600,000) 600,000 0 600,000
G Replacement Play Equipment 80,000 14,290 (65,710) 0 0 103,750
H Bin Housing 0 0 0 0 0 13,190
I CCTV 0 0 0 0 0 37,060
J Fire Doors 0 0 0 0 0 175,000

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 17,106,120 15,159,740 (1,946,380) 600,000 941,660 20,658,970
K Disabled Facilities Grant 1,526,400 651,220 (875,180) 0 875,190 1,707,990

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 18,632,520 15,810,960 (2,821,560) 600,000 1,816,850 22,366,960

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2019/20

4.2. The total capital budget for 2019/20 was £18,632,520 of which £17,106,120 relates to 
HRA capital schemes and £1,526,400 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  These 
budgets included £1,216,890 and £693,600, respectively that are carried forward from 
2018/19.

4.3. The focus of the 2019/20 HRA capital programme was to maintain  a minimum decent 
homes standard for the Council’s housing stock, with £8,763,820 earmarked for this 
purpose across the Replacement, Improvement and Health & Safety Works 
Programmes.  After taking into account the proposed carried forward amounts across 
these three programmes there are savings of £338k at the end of the financial year.  
Reduced replacement costs on kitchens and bathrooms have contributed toward these 
savings.

4.4. The council also continues its commitment to build new homes with £7,662,300 
allocated for this purpose.

4.5. The works that were undertaken/completed in 2019/20 are detailed below:

4.5.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A)

 210 kitchen replacements;

 127 bathroom replacements;

 64 properties had new window and door replacements.  A further 52 properties 
and communal areas at Carl Ekman is 95% completed but have been delayed 
due to Covid-19.  Window to communal areas at The Hive is now complete;

 1669 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, 
minor works and upgrades to consumer units;

 50 blocks has had communal electrical tests and/or remedial works completed;

Page 55



10

 7 residential blocks had the roofing completely replaced;

 27 domestic properties have had roof renewals.

4.5.2. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 347 properties had new central heating systems installed;

 21 properties had new storage heating installed;

 1468 properties have had CO (carbon monoxide) detectors installed;

 66 level access showers/wet rooms/over bath showers installed;

 39 stair-lifts installed;

 11 adaptations completed (kitchens, wheelchair accessibility);

 16 properties have had modernisation works carried out;

 A major refurbishment project at Park Place comprising of 6 blocks has been 
completed.  This included the renewal of flat roofs, upgrades to the stairways, 
handrails, balustrades and new/re-surfacing to walkways.

4.5.3. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 3 passenger lifts situated in Wallis Park have had major modernisation works 
carried out;

 The retrofitting of a Fire Sprinkler system at Homemead and Gravesham Court 
has been completed and commissioned;

 Works to upgrade access control equipment completed at 19 sites;

 Upgrades to warden control systems completed at 4 sites;

 Upgrades to site access (pedestrian/vehicle gates) completed at 6 sites;

 Update of the communal area lighting to LED completed at Park Place and Carl 
Ekman;

 Upgrade of meter cupboard doors to fire rated doors in communal areas at The 
Hive, Gravesham Court, and Homemead completed;

 Asbestos Management surveys completed for communal areas at various sites.

4.6. New Build (Ref D)

4.6.1. The authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of additional 
social housing.  The following is the reported position at year end:

 The development of St Hilda’s Way, now known as Pankhurst Place, was 
completed and hand over took place on 12 February 2020 and is providing an 
additional 17 units consisting of 10 x 1 and 2 bed apartments which includes a 1 

Page 56



11

x 2 bed wheelchair compliant home, 4 x 2 bed maisonettes and 3 x 2 bed 
houses;

 Construction continues on the former Whitehill Tenants Associations Club site 
where Westridge Construction Limited will deliver 24 x 1 and 2 bed apartments 
and 8 x 3 bed houses.  Due to the Covid-19 pandemic the contractor anticipates 
a slowdown of works due to supply chain issues.  This will have an impact on the 
completion date and a revised programme is expected to indicate that completion 
will be early 2021.  The site is being overseen by the Considerate Constructors 
Scheme (CCS) who have reported safety precautions are in place with regard to 
social distancing and additional PPE has been made available where necessary

 Following a mini tender via the South East Consortium (SEC) Framework, 
Westridge Construction have been appointed as the main contractor for the 
demolition and development of the Valley Drive site.  The site will deliver 32 x 1 
bed apartments for over 55’s and 16 x 1, 2 and 3 bed general needs apartments 
including 1 x 3 bed wheelchair compliant home.  Westridge are in possession of 
the site and are awaiting disconnection of the gas and electrical services to the 
current units.  Pre-demolition works are due to commence in April to remove any 
hazardous materials and non-structural elements.  The scheme was a finalist in 
‘Best Older Persons Development – under 50 homes’ at the Inside Housing 
National Awards in November 2019;

 Following a mini competitive tender, Westridge Construction were successfully 
appointed to deliver the scheme at St Patrick’s Gardens for 23 x 1 and 2 bed 
apartments.  Contracts are currently being drafted and once signed, Westridge 
are expected to take possession of the site late May/early June 2020;

 Planning permission was approved on 5th February 2020 for 7 x 1 bed bungalows 
at Constable Road/Rembrandt Drive.  The tender documents and employers 
requirements have been submitted to the SEC with a tender submission date of 
3rd July 2020;

 A planning submission for 1 x 1 bed bungalow at Rembrandt Drive was 
presented and rejected by the Planning committee on 5th February 2020.

4.6.2. Despite the current impact from the Covid-19 pandemic, the council remains determined 
to deliver on its agenda of increasing the housing supply and continues to work with it’s 
stakeholders in the identification, design, and construction of good quality affordable 
homes.

4.6.3. The Housing Development Team are currently working on approximately 20 sites that 
are at various stages of the planning, design and build process from initial conception to 
works on site.

4.6.4. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2019, the balance on the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve fund stood at £438,550.  The proposal is to use the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme.

4.6.5. Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

Page 57



12

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £
2012-15 c/f 3,330,320 7,770,750 11,101,070 51,278,050 31-Mar-17
2015-16
Q1 124,270 289,960 414,230 11,515,300 30-Jun-18
Q2 233,510 544,870 778,380 12,293,680 30-Sep-18
Q3 589,670 1,375,910 1,965,580 14,259,260 31-Dec-18
Q4 650,580 1,518,010 2,168,590 16,427,860 31-Mar-19
2016-17
Q1 697,650 1,627,850 2,325,500 18,753,360 30-Jun-19
Q2 205,200 478,790 683,990 19,437,350 30-Sep-19
Q3 541,710 1,263,990 1,805,700 21,243,060 31-Dec-19
Q4 532,670 1,242,890 1,775,560 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-21
Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-21
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-22
2019-20
Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-22
Q2 1,382,090 3,224,870 4,606,960 40,932,920 30-Sep-22
Q3 544,030 1,269,410 1,813,440 42,746,360 31-Dec-22
Q4 559,730 1,306,040 1,865,770 44,612,130 31-Mar-23

13,383,630 31,228,500 44,612,130

Table 5: New Build

4.7. Housing Computer System (Ref E)

4.7.1. Following extensive due diligence and market testing a new supplier for a housing 
system has been identified.  Officers are working with colleagues in both the Legal and 
the Information Technology department to complete the procurement process using the 
G Cloud 11 Framework by way of a direct award.  It is anticipated that procurement will 
be completed in the coming months with an expected implementation project start date 
of mid-June 2020.

4.8. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.8.1. A 20 year replacement plan to upgrade the sites has been agreed by Management 
Team.  This project has been included within the Housing Asset Business Plan and is 
due to commence in 2020/21.  Works at Wallis Park, carried out in 2019/20,  were 
funded by the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation and therefore the full years budget 
allocation will be carried forward into 2020/21.

Page 58



13

4.9. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I)

4.9.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council, via the Better Care Fund, in 2019/20 was 
£832,800.  The total funding available is £1,526,430 which includes carry forward from 
2018/19 of £693,630.

4.9.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care.   In Quarter Four of 
2019/20 a total of 89 cases have been processed, of which the breakdown is as follows:

 23 grant cases were approved

 21 households had works completed

 3 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances

 42 grant cases are awaiting approval

4.9.3. The Council distributed £185,400 to private homeowners within the borough who qualify 
for Disabled Facility Grant assistance and additional grants totalling £434,290 have been 
approved in principal.

4.9.4. A total of 41 people have benefited from the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 
which enables people to gain access to funding which otherwise would not have been 
available.  It has assisted 4 people to have better managed hospital discharges and a 
further 37 people have been discharged from hospital into a safer home environment.  In 
Quarter Four there was a significant increase in the number of people being discharged 
from hospital, compared to previous periods, as hospitals were facilitating quicker 
discharges to manage the pressures on the NHS due to the emerging COVID-19 
pandemic.

4.10. Capital Resources

4.10.1. The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2019 (£)

Income 
2019/20 (£)

Use of Funding 
2019/20 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,318,810) (261,170) 419,970 (1,160,010)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (68,900) (17,280) 0 (86,180)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (1,402,480) (6,715,650) 8,031,960 (86,170)
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (652,030) (197,360) 0 (849,390)
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (5,544,950) (2,869,320) 1,970,830 (6,443,440)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve (438,550) (814,250) 1,252,800 0
Disabled Facility Grants (693,640) (832,800) 651,220 (875,220)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 0 (766,000)
Total (14,458,360) (11,707,830) 12,326,780 (13,839,410)

Table 6: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2019/20

Page 59



14

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 31st March 
against the original budget set for the 2019/20 financial year, and illustrate how this 
affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 60

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


15

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 29 June 2020 

Reporting officers: Income Manager
Principal Accountant (General Fund)
Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Corporate Debt Strategy

Purpose and summary of report:
To present the Corporate Debt Strategy for adoption across the Council.

Recommendations:

 Cabinet are requested to endorse the principles of the Corporate Debt Strategy 
across the Council (appendix 2).

 Cabinet are requested to note the Vulnerable Persons Policy and Vulnerable Persons 
Assistance Groups documents that accompany the strategy (appendices 3 & 4).

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. A recent report presented to the Performance and Administration Committee outlined 
the draft Corporate Debt Strategy providing a consistent and sensitive approach to 
collecting debt whilst at the same time ensuring the council continues to maximise 
collection performance. The Corporate Debt Strategy is now at the final stage for 
presentation for Cabinet to consider on 29 June 2020.

1.2. At 31 March 2020, the amount of outstanding debt owed to the Council across the 
various services and functions totalled £15,529,897. This is an increase from the 
previous year and is broken down as follows: -

Council 
Tax NNDR

Housing 
Rents

Former Tenant 
Accounts

Housing Benefit 
Overpayments

Sundry 
Debtors Parking Total

31.03.2019 4,910,355 610,191 544,903 1,119,951 5,217,825 1,305,381 497,604 14,206,210
30.03.2020 5,697,401 719,913 579,394 1,118,167 5,081,375 1,704,496 629,151 15,529,897

Debt Type - Amount due to the Council £
Date of 

Debt

1.3 It is important that there is a consistent approach to debt recovery across the council to
            ensure officers act fairly and equally with all council customers to maximise collection 
            rates and reduce bad debts where possible. The Corporate Debt Strategy provides 
            structure and expected behaviour through its principles and guidelines to ensure we 
            achieve this outcome.

Page 63 Agenda Item 9



2

1.4 Communication between the council and the customer is key to a positive customer 
interaction and a successful debt recovery process. The council will endeavour to keep 
the customer informed during this process.

1.5       Following the outbreak of Covid-19, the council made the decision to halt active   
      recovery action in respect of debt in all areas of council services. From the February 
      magistrate court hearing for unpaid council tax, no cases were passed to enforcement 
      agents. The March magistrate court hearing was subsequently cancelled and there have 
      been no further hearings. This has resulted in a higher level of council tax debt carried 
      forward to 2020/2021. Other service areas have also ceased active recovery action in 
      respect of debt owed to the council with the exception of current housing rents as  
      regular automated letters were sent, but no court cases or evictions have been carried 
      out, instead arrangements have been sought for these cases.

2. Impact of Covid-19

2.1. As part of year-end financial arrangements, routine processes are in place to ensure 
adequate debt impairment provisions are set aside to safeguard the council’s finances in 
the event of non-payment of outstanding debt. This is typically done on an aged debt 
profile analysis basis, and covers each of the services described within the table at 
section 1.2.

2.2. Given the unique circumstances arising from the Covid-19 pandemic, officers have also 
been assessing the potential impact and wider economic considerations there may be 
on debt collection. Although it is difficult to quantify exactly what the effect will be, it is 
likely that there will be an adverse impact on debt recovery and thus the council’s wider 
finances, as both businesses and individuals find themselves in greater financial 
difficulty. This includes more current debts, which generally would not be thought of as 
at risk from non-payment, and thus in the interests of budgetary prudence and 
recognising these unique circumstances, a further provision has been set aside.

2.3. It should also be noted that reduced income receipts across services, have a wider 
impact on the Council’s finances in terms of cash flow and treasury management 
projections. Officers continue to monitor this situation closely with appropriate action 
taken and reported within Finance and Treasury updates.   

2.4. In light of the above, investigation is underway to establish the most effective way 
forward to commence active debt recovery and put in place a fair and consistent 
approach across all services. Departments will work together to approach the recovery 
action at the same pace.  Information will be sought from other local authorities for 
comparison purposes, together with compliance to the council’s own internal policies 
ensuring a consistent approach.

2.5. Members of the Corporate Debt Working Group are working to establish a corporate 
recovery plan by taking individual services recovery processes and moving forward with 
a consistent approach.  At the meeting of the group on Monday 1 June 2020, it was 
agreed that the process should commence with a “soft” reminder, and build the recovery 
process back up to normal recovery at a gentle pace.

3. Principles of the Corporate Debt Strategy

3.1 Maximise income collection for the Council across all services and functions.

Page 64



3

3.2 Distinguish between those customers who cannot pay and those who choose not to pay.

3.3 Prevent the accumulation of customer arrears by sign-posting to support agencies, and 
provide payment arrangements where appropriate.

3.4 Being firm and fair and ensuring consistency when dealing with customers. 

3.5 Individual departments have responsibility to ensure the data held within their systems is 
up to date, accurate and complete.

3.6 Apply best practice methods to maximise collection of debt across council services.

3.7 Ensure appropriate methods of payment are available and provide advice on these.

3.8 Eligible cases must be referred to the Corporate Debt Team to be considered under the 
council’s corporate debt approach.

3.9 Bad and doubtful debts should be written off in accordance with the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules.

3.10 There is a clear prioritisation of debts owed to the council when considering cases and 
allocation of payments.

3.11 The council will make use of enforcement agents and high court enforcement agents 
where and when it is deemed appropriate.

3.12 Credit balances remaining on an account in excess of 13 months will be considered for 
removal from the account.

4.       Conclusion and Recommendations

4.1 Fair, efficient and effective debt recovery is essential to maintaining high collection rates 
and drive debt levels down, however it is simultaneously important to treat customers 
fairly and consistently across all council functions. The principles of the Corporate Debt 
Strategy aim to achieve this. 

4.2 It is therefore recommended that Cabinet adopt the Corporate Debt Strategy as set out 
in appendix 2, and note the wider information on Vulnerable Persons as set out in 
appendices 3 & 4.    

Page 65



4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

This report is for information only – there are no direct financial implications. 
Adopting a corporate debt strategy will contribute to healthy collection rates with 
corresponding budgetary and cash-flow benefits.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to establish a core set of principles for corporate debt 
within an established strategy,

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 66

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Corporate Debt Strategy

1. Purpose of Strategy 

Gravesham Borough Council is required to collect monies from both residents and businesses for 
the provision of a variety of goods, services and taxes that fall due. The council recognises that 
prompt income collection is vital for ensuring the authority has the resources it needs to deliver its 
services and achieve the objectives of its Corporate Plan in delivering a Gravesham to be proud of.

The council aims to achieve prompt income collection. It endeavours to keep outstanding debt at 
the lowest possible level by instigating a payment culture which minimises debt and prevents the 
accumulation of debt over a period of time.  This strategy sets the framework for a clear, 
consistent, fair and sensitive approach to collecting debt whilst at the same time ensuring the 
council continues to maximise collection performance and will intrinsically link to other relevant 
documents such as the Charging Strategy and individual department debt recovery policies and 
procedures.

For the purposes of this strategy, a debt is defined as any payment expected by the council that 
has not been paid by the due date.

2. Scope of the Strategy 

This strategy covers all debts owed to the council including:

 Council Tax
 Non Domestic Rates (NDR, known as business rates)
 Council House Rent
 Council Garage Rent
 Commercial Rent
 Sundry Debts (including Housing Benefit Overpayments and Former Tenant Arrears)
 Penalty Charge Notices and other Parking-related debt

3. Objectives of the Strategy 

The objectives of the strategy are to:

 Ensure the prompt collection of payments due
 Prevent the accumulation of debt and arrears
 Provide help and support where possible to maximise customers’ income, including referral 

to support agencies, making payment arrangements or signposting to other financial 
support that may be accessible

 Understand customers’ circumstances and ability to pay to distinguish between a customer 
who won’t pay and a customer who can’t pay. This would follow the council making every 
opportunity to engage with the customer to allow them to pay, including the development of 
a tailored instalment plan. 

 Be firm but fair in recovery of debt, ensuring consistency in dealing with customers 

Page 69



Appendix 2
 Share knowledge, information and expertise across the council as appropriate and lawful
 Apply best practice in relation to all types of debt collection activity undertaken
 Maximise the income collection performance for the council

4. Understanding Our Customers 

Debt can arise for a number of reasons: medical problems, changes of circumstances, benefit 
entitlement adjustments, unemployment or failure of a business, changes in working hours, 
difficulties in managing money, relationship issues, large unexpected bills.  The list is not 
exhaustive.

The council expects any person, business or organisation that owes a sum of money to the council 
to follow the principles below:
 

 Pay amounts due promptly, on or before the date that payment is due
 Inform the council of any changes to their details or circumstances that may affect the 

amount to be paid or the ability to pay
 Make contact with the council if it is believed the amount charged is not correct
 Make contact with the council if they are unable to pay an amount that is due
 Be open and honest when providing information in connection with the billing, collection or 

recovery of sums due to the council

To help our customers’ minimise debt and prevents the accumulation of debt, the council aims to 
achieve good practice in revenue collection. To achieve this, the council will seek to ensure that:

 Any request for payment is made promptly and is accurately calculated;
 Requests for payment clearly show the amount to be paid and when this is due;
 Where possible, payment will be requested before the service is provided to avoid the risk 

of debt accruing;
 Appropriate methods of payment are made available;
 Contact with the council can be made through a range of options including face to face, 

telephone, by email or in writing;
 Support is provided to those requesting assistance in making payment or receiving money 

and debt advice;
 Support is provided to those who are identified as being vulnerable;
 Recovery and enforcement actions are reasonable and proportionate;
 Recovery documents are clear and inform of the recovery procedures to be followed and 

the consequences of non-payment;
 Any written communication is in plain English, explaining complex terminology when it is 

required;
 Support is provided to customers with language and communication difficulties through the 

offer of translation services, interpreting and other services wherever possible;
 Enquiries are responded to promptly and courteously; excellent communication is 

recognised by the Council as the key to a good relationship with the customer
 Debt recovery actions enable the effective use of council resources to deliver the best 

possible cash flow for the council.

The council recognises that customers do not pay their debts for various reasons.  Some will have 
difficulty in paying while others may set out to deliberately delay payment.  For those who are 
having difficulty making payment the council will try to assist customers by:

 Providing advice on the methods of payment available
 Entering into payment arrangements
 Assisting the customer in obtaining the correct benefit and debt management advice to 

enable them to pay their bills

Page 70



Appendix 2
 When liability for a debt changes to the Executors of a deceased customer appropriate, 

extended timeframes should be applied.

For those who won’t pay, the council will look to use more robust action to secure payment.

The council will ensure that all customers are treated in a fair and equitable manner and will have 
due regard to the requirements of The Human Rights Act, The Equality Act and any other 
legislation or policies which may have an impact on the recovery of the debt.

5. Vulnerability

Some customers may need additional support in dealing with their financial affairs.  In such 
instances the council will apply the principles of the Vulnerable Persons Policy at Appendix Three 
in considering action to recover money it is owed.  

6. Payment options 

It is acknowledged that the easier it is to pay, the more likely that payment will be made. In order to 
reduce the cost to the council, and therefore local taxpayers, the most cost effective methods of 
payment will be encouraged. Payment by Direct Debit is the council’s preferred method of payment 
for most bills. 

The council provides a wide range of payment methods including through its website and 
automated 24 hour telephone payment line and at PayPoint outlets and the Post Office.  
Information to provide customers with help and support in making payments is available on the 
council’s website and on bills and payment correspondence issued by the council. 

7. Advice and support for Customers

As a responsible public body the council is keen to support individuals and businesses in paying 
any debts that they may owe as quickly as possible. 

The council will offer welfare advice to all its customers and signpost them to support organisations 
providing help with debt advice.  Appendix four provides contact information of organisations that 
may be able to provide financial support and money management or debt advice and assistance.  
Further information can be found on the council website.
 

8. Promoting the Take-up of Benefits and Entitlements

The council will take an active role in promoting the take-up of entitlement to benefits, discounts, 
exemptions, reliefs etc. 

Where appropriate, information about claiming Housing Benefit, Local Council Tax Support or 
other discretionary support funds will be included with arrears letters. The council will make every 
effort to encourage people to apply for benefits and other assistance.
 
The council will also take steps to advise individuals/ businesses as to the range of other 
discounts, reliefs and reductions available. 

Staff in contact with customers will signpost them to where they can obtain advice on benefits and 
debt matters, where appropriate.

Page 71



Appendix 2
9. Arrangements for the Repayment of Arrears

It is the council’s expectation that monies owed will be paid by the due date. Anyone experiencing 
difficulty in making a payment is encouraged to contact the council at the earliest opportunity to 
discuss options for repayment, including making an arrangement to repay debt owed. 

In making an arrangement the council will consider the type of debt and the customer’s personal 
circumstances to arrive at a mutually acceptable payment plan.   In coming to an arrangement, 
consideration will be given to other priority debts of the customer that could result in loss of an 
essential service, loss of a person’s home or imprisonment.

Any arrangement is reliant on the customer sharing information with the council which is 
considered necessary to assess their ability to pay; any refusal to divulge such information will 
prevent an arrangement for repayment of arrears being made.

Arrangements for the repayment of arrears will:

 seek repayment of all outstanding arrears, as soon as possible; 
 Where appropriate, seek to ensure the current year debt is prioritised over older debt;
 Where appropriate, take account of other debts owed to the council; 
 Be confirmed in writing to ensure both the customer and the council are clear on repayment 

amounts and their frequency.

Failure of a customer to maintain an arrangement for repayment of arrears will result in further 
action being taken to recover the debt.

10. Fair, Efficient and Effective Debt Recovery 

It is the responsibility of individual departments to collect monies owed to the council and to ensure 
that robust and proportionate recovery methods are in place which have proper regard to relevant 
legislation and this strategy.  The council will seek to:

 Ensure that the information it holds on outstanding amounts is up to date, accurate and 
complete;

 Collect current year due amount first, applying further payments to any outstanding arrears 
to ensure debts do not continue to increase;

 Ensure that recovery processes are consistently and proportionately applied, taking 
account of the individual circumstances of the customer as appropriate, and move from 
informal recovery action to formal recovery action as required;

 Refer eligible cases to the council’s Corporate Debt Team;
 Make arrangements for bad and doubtful debts to be written off in accordance with the 

council’s Financial Procedure Rules.

Action to recover debt will commence when a payment becomes overdue or an instalment plan or 
arrangement for payment is not maintained.

In pursuing payment of overdue sums the council may utilise any and all of the methods available 
to it in law. As a principle, debt recovery action will be employed on an escalating basis, with 
repayment being sought by the least severe action initially, with subsequent actions increasing in 
their severity if payment is not made.  

Customers will be encouraged to make contact with the council if they are unable to pay an 
amount that is due to avoid escalation of recovery action. .

Page 72



Appendix 2
11. Corporate Debt Approach

The council recognises that a person may have debts with more than one council department.  
Such instances will be considered for action under the council’s Corporate Debt Approach.  This 
approach will identify a single council officer to liaise with the customer and work with departments 
to secure payment of outstanding debts as a single case, working with the customer to understand 
their individual circumstances and apply a priority order for the repayment of debt owed to the 
council.  
A joined up approach between departments will also be undertaken should a decision be made by 
a recovery officer to instigate further action such as bankruptcy, winding up or a charging order. 
Any such cases must be advised to all departments by the use of the corporate debt internal email 
address and should form part of the agenda discussed at the four weekly meeting of council 
recovery officers.

12. Prioritisation of debts owed to the council and allocation of payments 

The council has put in place a prioritised order for consideration of cases where a customer may 
have more than one debt with the council which is based on the principles of the Citizens Advice 
definition of ‘priority debt’, which recognises that some debts are more urgent to settle than others 
because the consequence of not paying them can be more serious than for other debts. 

The council has determined the following prioritisation for repayment of debt owed to it and will 
allocate payments in the following priority order:

 Housing Rent arrears
 Council Tax arrears
 Non Domestic Rates arrears
 Commercial Rent arrears
 Sundry Debt arrears/ Overpaid Housing Benefits/ Garage Rent arrears
 Parking Debt arrears

13. Use of Enforcement Action

The council will make use of Enforcement Agents, Collection Agents and High Court Enforcement 
Agents where it is deemed appropriate.  This will usually be after other recovery routes have been 
exhausted or where it has been demonstrated that the customer is deliberately choosing to delay 
or not make payments due to the council.  Enforcement Agents used by the council will be 
members of the CIVEA Civil Enforcement Association or another relevant professional body and 
will be expected to practise the highest industry standards under their associated code of practice. 

14. Bad and Doubtful Debts

The council recognises that in a small number of cases, debts may remain unpaid or not be fully 
recovered.  Where a debt is classified as irrecoverable and all recovery routes have been 
reasonably exhausted, the council will consider writing off a debt in accordance with the 
arrangements set out in the council’s Constitution, in particular the Financial Procedure Rules.

The council’s financial planning arrangements ensure that there is adequate provision within the 
budget each year to meet the costs for bad and doubtful debts, with this taking into account the 
age and risk profile of the debt  held within each department.

Page 73



Appendix 2
15. Write On and Credit Balances

If a credit remains on an account for more than thirteen months, the amount will be considered for 
removal from the account (writing on).  Before this action is taken, sufficient steps will be taken to 
contact the customer to inform them of the credit balance and ascertain whether they wish this to 
be applied to another debt held by the council or for a refund to be issued.
 

16. Information Sharing

The council collects and stores personal data for the purposes of the effective billing, collection and 
recovery of sums due. Data retained for this purpose will be processed in accordance with the 
Data Protection Act 2018 and will be stored securely at all times. 

Data will be shared within the council, external organisations and with agents or contractors 
appointed by the council for the purposes of the billing, collection and recovery of sums due to be 
shared within the council or with external organisations where the law allows, where it is in the 
interests of the debtor or where it will prevent fraud or the unlawful evasion of payment of sums 
due. 

17. Monitoring and Measuring Performance against this Strategy

Performance against this strategy will be monitored and reported on a regular basis as follows:

 Monthly reports to Budget Managers of outstanding debt
 Monthly reports to Management Team on the level of outstanding debt managed by the 

council, including headline indicators on the council’s Corporate Debt approach
 Monthly reporting of movements in bad and doubtful debt provisions
 Service performance monitoring arrangements of income collection and debt recovery
 Monthly Corporate Debt Case Conferences
 Bi-monthly reporting to the Corporate Debt Working Group of actions to improve payment 

processes and support the recovery of debt
 Periodic reporting to Members to update on the management of debt owed to the council, 

provisions for bad debt and write off levels
 In the event of the resurrection of a previously written off debt the Council can write on the 

debt and account for the payment received
 Performance monitoring arrangements in respect of Enforcement Agent activity
 Use of complaints and compliments to shape service delivery
 Consideration of debt recovery arrangements by the council’s Internal Audit function
 Delivery of relevant advice, guidance and training to council staff involved in the recovery of 

debt

18. Review of the Strategy

This Strategy will be reviewed at least annually, with any material amendment subject to approval 
of the Cabinet. 

Page 74



Appendix 3

Updated May 2020

Vulnerable Persons Policy

1 Background
The council recognises that there will be instances where the circumstances of a debtor make it 
inappropriate to apply recovery and enforcement remedies in the usual way. This document is 
intended to set out how the council will expect its staff and collection and enforcement agents to 
deal with persons identified as vulnerable and who owe a debt to the council to ensure these 
cases are handled sensitively and responsibly.

Vulnerability does not mean a customer of the council will not be required to pay amounts for 
which they have a legal obligation to pay.  Consideration may be given however, to applying the 
recovery arrangements adopted by the council and its agents in a flexible and proportionate 
way. In situations of vulnerability the council recognises that it may be more appropriate to liaise 
with the customer’s chosen representative.

2 Definition
There is no set definition of a vulnerable person.  Anyone that finds it difficult to deal with their 
debts because of their situation or health could be considered vulnerable.  This could include 
customers experiencing:

 A recent bereavement

 A long-term or terminal illness

 A physical disability 

 Learning difficulties or mental health problems

 Dementia or brain injury

 Difficulties in communicating

 Financial illiteracy

 Relationship breakdown or difficult domestic circumstances

 Failure of a business 

 Addiction

This list is not exhaustive and vulnerability may be temporary.  Not all people in these groups 
may be vulnerable.

3 What will the council do?
 We will work with you to agree the best method of recovering outstanding arrears and the 

easiest way for you to pay.
 We will clearly mark your records that you are a vulnerable person when vulnerability has 

been identified.

 We will carefully consider each case where vulnerability has been identified before taking 
any recovery action.

 We will adapt our recovery process where we are aware that a customer is vulnerable to 
minimise any hardship or distress.

Page 75



Appendix 3

Updated May 2020

 We will clearly explain our decisions regarding our action and our reasons for refusing any 
requests.

 We will signpost our customers to any help that we consider may be useful in their 
circumstances.

4 What the Customer Should Do
 You must tell us of your vulnerability at the earliest opportunity.  We may ask you to provide 

some evidence, such as a doctor's letter, to establish the nature of your vulnerability. This is 
to ensure that we are clear on any particular needs you may have so we can help you.

 You should complete an Income and expenditure form to give us an accurate picture of 
your financial situation.

 If you want someone to discuss the account on your behalf you will need to write to us 
confirming who can deal with the account

 You should keep us informed of any changes to your circumstances and any address 
change.

 You will keep to any appointments scheduled or contact us if you cannot attend.

 You should make any payments you have offered whilst we are considering your offer.

 You should review any services that our officers may signpost you to so you can decide if 
they are relevant to your circumstances.

 We will try to help you if you are in arrears and have vulnerability but can only do so if we 
know your circumstances.

Page 76

https://my.gravesham.gov.uk/en/AchieveForms/?form_uri=sandbox-publish://AF-Process-254cb0ef-202d-46de-9a1a-119f8d41a14e/AF-Stage3b2d91d8-3e69-43f1-80ca-c4a82a5d7147/definition.json&redirectlink=%2Fen&cancelRedirectLink=%2Fen


Appendix 4

Reviewed June 2020

Step Change
This is the leading debt charity in the UK providing free advice, help with budgets and debt 
management plans tailored to your personal situation. 
http://www.stepchange.org/
Tel: 0800 138 1111

Citizens Advice 
This provides free, independent and confidential advice on getting out of debt and a variety of 
other issues. They have useful resources online, such as debt FAQs and budgeting tools.
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/
Tel: 0344 411 1444

The Money Charity 
This is a charity that helps with money management, as well as free and confidential advice. 
They also provide money management apps such as “spendometer”.
https://themoneycharity.org.uk/
Tel: 020 7062 8933

AdviceUK 
This is the largest support network for free, independent advice centres. Provide support to 
front-line/agencies that offer independent social welfare and legal advice to those in need.
https://www.adviceuk.org.uk/
Tel: 0300 777 0107

Christians Against Poverty 
A national charity, working across the UK to lift people out of debt and poverty offering free debt 
counselling through a network of 260 debt centers.
http://www.capuk.org/
Tel: 01274760720

National Debtline 
National Debtline is a debt charity providing free, confidential and impartial advice and a library 
of online resources- including information packs, personal budget planning and sample letters 
and information that will allow you to determine whether you qualify for a debt relief order. 
https://www.nationaldebtline.org/
Tel: 0808 808 4000

Page 77

http://www.stepchange.org/
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/
https://themoneycharity.org.uk/
https://www.adviceuk.org.uk/
http://www.capuk.org/
https://www.nationaldebtline.org/


Appendix 4

Reviewed June 2020

PayPlan
They offer a fresh approach to dealing with financial difficulties. PayPlan are the UKs largest 
provider of free debt solutions, including debt management and Individual Voluntary 
Arrangements (IVAs)
https://www.payplan.com/
Tel: 0800 280 2816

Financial Ombudsman Service
This service was set up by law to resolve individual disputes between consumers and financial 
services businesses. 
http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk/
Tel: 0800 023 4567

Civil Legal Advice 
Legal aid can help you pay for legal advice, family mediation and representation in court and 
some tribunals. This could include housing, debt, family or education problems. You can also 
get legal aid if you’re accused of a crime 
https://www.gov.uk/civil-legal-advice
Tel: 0345 345 4 345
 

Page 78

https://www.payplan.com/
http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/civil-legal-advice


Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 29 June 2020

Reporting officer: Shazad Ghani - Planning Manager (Policy) 

Subject: Development Plan Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Cabinet with an update on the emerging Local Plan and the implications of 
COVID-19, which effects the delivery of the emerging Local Plan. As part of this update to 
adopt the Maintenance / Replacement Windows and Doors Guidance as a Supplementary 
Planning Document.  As well as seeking Cabinet’s approval to undertake two further 
consultations on the draft Residential Extensions and Alterations Supplementary Planning 
Document and the Local Green Space consultation. 

Recommendations:
Cabinet is asked to:

1. Note the impact of COVID-19 on the emerging Local Plan including the Statement of 
Community Involvement and Local Development Scheme, to provide the Director 
(Planning and Development) in consultation with the Leader, delegated authority to 
amend the Local Development Scheme as and when there is more certainty 
regarding the impact of COVID-19 on the plan-making process. 

2. Note the responses received on the draft Windows and Doors consultation and agree 
for the final document Maintenance / Replacement Windows and Doors Guidance in 
Conservation Areas to be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document. 

3. Suggest any changes to the draft Residential Extensions and Alterations 
Supplementary Planning Document and agree for it to be consulted upon in line with 
the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.         

4. Suggest any changes to the Local Green Space consultation and agree for it to be 
consulted upon in line with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.         

1. Introduction

1.1 The Council’s current Local Development Scheme and Statement of Community 
Involvement were adopted at Cabinet on 7 October 2019. Whilst the Local 
Development Scheme includes a risk assessment, this risk assessment did not 
envisage a public health crisis as being a significant impediment to the delivery of the 
emerging Local Plan. 

Page 79 Agenda Item 10



2

1.2 The Chief Planner for MHCLG, published a newsletter on 23 March that for plan-
making stating, “We understand that local planning authorities may also be concerned 
about the implications of COVID-19 on their capacity to prepare and progress local 
plans and support neighbourhood planning. We encourage all local planning 
authorities to continue, as much as possible, to work proactively with their community 
and other stakeholders to progress plans, even if some adjustments to timetables are 
necessary.” 
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/875045/Chief_Planners_Newsletter_-_March_2020.pdf)

1.3 This was followed by Government publishing additional Covid-19 guidance on Local 
Plans on 13 May 2020, which stated, “We continue to want to see Local Plans 
progressing through the system as a vital means for supporting economic recovery in 
line with the government’s aspirations to have plans in place across the country by 
2023. We recognise the challenges that some local authorities may face, and are 
working on ways to address this, from actively exploring options to achieve online 
inspection of documents being the default position to engaging with the Planning 
Inspectorate on the use of virtual hearings and written submissions. We have also 
issued additional planning guidance on reviewing and updating Statements of 
Community Involvement.” (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-
planning-update#local-plans)

1.4 In order to assist Local Planning Authorities in pushing ahead with their Local Plans 
the Government updated it’s guidance on Plan Making which includes new paragraphs 
076-078. (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making#covid19)

1.5 Paragraphs 076-078 specifically relate to the Statement of Community Involvement 
and COVID-19. Limited guidance is provided on how Local Planning Authorities should 
progress formal consultation stages of a Local Plan, where progress has stalled due to 
Local Planning Authorities not being able to engage the public and wider stakeholders, 
as set out in respective Statements of Community Involvement. 

1.6 The Government advises that where a Statement of Community Involvement cannot 
be complied with, an immediate review should be undertaken of the Statement of 
Community Involvement to enable plan making to continue. At Paragraph 078, the 
Government states, “Local planning authorities will need to assess their Statements of 
Community Involvement to identify which policies are inconsistent with current 
guidance on staying at home and away from others or any superseding guidance. This 
could include, for example, holding face-to-face community consultation events or 
providing physical documents for inspection.

1.7 The local planning authority should then make any temporary amendments that are 
necessary to allow plan-making to progress, and that continue to promote effective 
community engagement by means which are reasonably practicable. Local planning 
authorities are strongly encouraged to use online engagement methods to their full 
potential. Appropriate methods include virtual exhibitions, digital consultations, video 
conferencing, social media and providing documents for inspection on a public 
website. Authorities will also need to take reasonable steps to ensure sections of the 
community that don’t have internet access are involved and consider alternative and 
creative ways to achieve this. Authorities may wish to consider engaging sections of 
the community, that do not have internet access, through representative groups rather 
than directly, targeting only people in areas most affected by proposals, and allowing 
individuals to nominate an advocate to share views on their behalf. Consulting by 
telephone or in writing can also be used where this is feasible and alternatives can’t be 
identified. Opportunities to combine public consultations can be explored so that offline 
methods can be made more cost effective.”

Page 80

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875045/Chief_Planners_Newsletter_-_March_2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/875045/Chief_Planners_Newsletter_-_March_2020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-planning-update#local-plans
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-planning-update#local-plans
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making#covid19


3

Statement of Community Involvement

1.8 The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement adopted on 7 October 2019 sets 
out the legal requirements a local planning authority such as Gravesham has to follow 
when preparing its Local Plan. It also sets out optional requirements which the Council 
may opt to follow. Whilst the Government has made changes to its plan-making 
guidance, no reciprocal changes have been made to the relevant Planning Acts or 
Regulations, therefore to ensure legal compliance with the plan making process the 
Council cannot amend the Statement of Community Involvement to reduce these legal 
requirements. For example where there is a legal requirement to provide physical 
documents for inspection, the Council cannot waive this requirement via a Statement 
of Community Involvement. This can only be achieved through the Government 
amending the relevant Act and/or Regulations. 

1.9 At the present time, there is no specific need for the Council to amend the presently 
adopted Statement of Community Involvement, however there is a need for the 
Council to provide advice on how consultations will be undertaken and documents 
made available during the COVID-19 pandemic. As we can only speculate as to what 
the COVID-19 situation maybe when a consultation needs to be undertaken, officers 
would advise that decisions regarding how to undertake a specific consultation are 
provided to Cabinet nearer the time of the consultation, this would also provide 
Cabinet with an opportunity to consider the implications of any revised Government 
guidance should it be published. 

Some of the implications of COVID-19 in undertaking a consultation

1.10 In the current circumstances, owing to the closure of public buildings such as public 
libraries and the Civic Centre to the public at as a result of COVID-19, the Council 
cannot publicise consultations at these locations. Whilst physical copies of documents 
can be deposited at such locations in order to meet Government requirements, access 
to the documents will be restricted until these locations are fully accessible to the 
public. It should be noted that the Council is currently awaiting guidance from the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government regarding opening of public 
buildings and the Council is currently investigating opportunities for safely opening the 
Civic Centre to the public via an appointment only basis. 

1.11 Consultations can continue to be published via the Council’s website and consultation 
portal, with interested parties notified by email, press notices, social media and adverts 
as appropriate. Officers can endeavour to engage further with representatives of hard 
to reach groups in order to publicise consultations and to seek views on behalf of their 
representative communities. Whilst consideration could be given to holding electronic 
drop-in sessions via for example Zoom, it would not be possible to hold in person drop-
in sessions, workshops or meetings.

1.12 Local residents and wider stakeholders would need to be encouraged to respond to 
consultations via electronic means and preferably via the Council’s consultation portal. 
Paper copies of response forms would not be made available via public buildings such 
as public libraries and the Civic Centre. Due to a reduced postal service and increased 
levels of home working during the current crisis, there are insufficient resources 
available for officers to receive and process paper copies of response forms in 
significant numbers.

Local Development Scheme / COVID-19 Implications for Plan-Making

1.13 The Planning & Compulsory Planning Act 2004, as amended by the Localism Act  
2011,  requires  each  Local Planning  Authority (LPA) to  prepare  and maintain  a  

Page 81



4

document  setting  out  the  statutory  Development  Plan  for  the district; as  well  as 
the  programme  for  the  preparation and  review of the Development  Plan.  This is 
known as the Local Development Scheme.

1.14 An up to date Local Development Scheme is a key component of the plan making 
process and a key project management tool which is also submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate at submission. It also provides local residents and wider stakeholders 
with information on what planning documents are being prepared by the council; and 
outlines the indicative dates of when local residents and wider stakeholders can get 
involved with the plan making process. The Local Development Scheme has to be 
kept under review and updated accordingly, to ensure it does not become out of date.

1.15 The current Local Development Scheme envisaged the Council undertaking a Stage 2 
Regulation 18 consultation in January-February 2020, this was not possible at the time 
due to the supporting evidence base not being finalised. This also coincided with the 
emergence of COVID-19 which resulted in the vast majority of the Planning Policy 
team having to work from home. These changing working practices have applied to 
other areas of the Council, as well as external organisations with whom we engage to 
progress the Development Plan. This has had implications for the delivery of projects 
critical to the delivery of our plan, for example Kent County Council have advised that 
their Transport Model which had been delayed until Autumn 2020, will now not be 
available until Spring 2021 for use by the Borough Council at the earliest. 

1.16 To deal with the COVID-19 pandemic, the Government introduced unprecedented 
measures to restrict movement of people within the UK via the COVID-19 lockdown.  
This lockdown has had a severe economic impact on the UK economy, with retail 
sales and business activity contracting at record levels, with benefit claims and the 
fiscal deficit soaring.  For example recent data on public sector finances show that in 
April, borrowing increased to £63.5bn in a single month, which is almost as much as 
net borrowing levels for the whole of 2019/20.

1.17 The Office of Budget Responsibility is holding back from revising their COVID-19 
reference scenario until July 2020, however the current May 2020 reference scenario 
advises that real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) will fall by -12.8% in 2020. 
Commentators such as PWC UK advise that GDP levels may be around 1.5-7% below 
pre-pandemic trends by the end of 2021. The Bank of England estimates that GDP will 
plunge by 14% in 2020, before recovering by 15% in 2021. In short, pre-pandemic 
levels in terms of the economy are unlikely to be reached before 2022. However, this 
masks the impact COVID-19 will have on factors such as pay levels, employment 
levels, demand for housing, demand for retail and commercial floorspace etc. Such 
factors need to be taken into account in the plan making process for an emerging plan 
to be flexible yet provide certainty in order to get through examination. 

Page 82



5

Figure 1: University of Oxford - Summary of the breakdown of the direct and indirect costs of COVID-19, 
adapted from Evans D, Over M. 2020. The Economic Impact of COVID-19 in low and middle-income 
countries. Center for Global Development, March 12, 2020: Washington, DC.

1.18 Figure 1 published by the University of Oxford provides an overview of the direct and 
indirect costs associated with COVID-19. In the short term the direct costs are 
associated with dealing with the pandemic. However dealing with the pandemic results 
in indirect costs which will vary in nature (short, medium to long-term) and are linked to 
falls in productivity, disruption of supply and demand. As an example personal 
consumption levels have fallen as a result of the lockdown with retail shops and 
restaurants not being able to open. In some cases spend has shifted from the high 
street to online channels, recent data published by Card Factory suggests their online 
sales have increased by 302% since lockdown commenced. 

1.19 In terms of jobs, information published by McKinsely & Company shows that sectors 
linked to tourism, retail, leisure and construction are at the greatest risk of job losses 
as a result of COVID-19 (see figure 2). These sectors are predominantly occupied by 
lower paid workers who do not have qualifications beyond GSCEs. McKinsley & 
Company’s analysis also shows the demographic groups in the workforce that are at 
risk, these include women, those under 35 years of age and part-time workers. Others 
impacted, but to a lesser extent, include Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic groups and 
lone parents. (https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-sector/our-insights/covid-
19-in-the-united-kingdom-assessing-jobs-at-risk-and-the-impact-on-people-and-
places)

Page 83

https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-sector/our-insights/covid-19-in-the-united-kingdom-assessing-jobs-at-risk-and-the-impact-on-people-and-places
https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-sector/our-insights/covid-19-in-the-united-kingdom-assessing-jobs-at-risk-and-the-impact-on-people-and-places
https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-sector/our-insights/covid-19-in-the-united-kingdom-assessing-jobs-at-risk-and-the-impact-on-people-and-places


6

Figure 2: McKinsley & Company - The impact of COVID-19 across sectors and jobs 

1.20 The London School of Economic and Political Science have produced a discussion 
piece on COVID-19 and housing. Some of the key messages from this work are:

● In the very short term, COVID-19 has produced stasis: buying and selling has all 
but stopped;

● As the lockdown is wound down and the housing market ‘unfreezes’, the 
transaction volume is likely to continue to fall. In part this will be because 
households are loss averse and not likely to want to realise a loss on their home. 
However, it will also be due to ongoing economic disruption.

● House prices will tend to fall, especially as incomes disappear for large numbers 
of people, triggering, in some cases, real financial distress and near forced sales. 
Banking policies will affect the scale of these impacts.

● In the medium term lower house prices will not improve affordability, since this 
will coincide with lower incomes and depleted savings. In some instances people 
will not have the capital gains from their current homes to trade-up, and in other 
instances savings will be depleted on essentials and paying day to day bills, 
thereby postponing house purchases. 

● The lasting effects of COVID-19 will mean that home ownership will be 
unaffordable for the young and those on lower incomes, especially in London and 
the South East, and for other people and sectors hardest-hit by COVID-19. 

Page 84



7

1.21 It should be noted that COVID-19 Pandemic follows the global financial crisis of the 
late noughties that had a significant and detrimental impact on the housing market and 
economic sectors such as retail and construction. It took six years for house prices to 
return to pre-cash levels, with home ownership becoming more dependent on the bank 
of Mum and Dad. In 2018 Legal and General published data which showed that 1 in 4 
housing transactions were funded by the bank of mum and dad, with the average 
contribution being £18,000. In London that contribution stood at £30,600, however 
younger age groups were disproportionally impacted with 3 in every 5 homes receiving 
help from the bank of mum and dad. The COVID-19 pandemic in the short to medium 
term will likely exacerbate this problem and hinder the ability of younger age groups to 
step onto the housing ladder, without the delivery of more affordable homes and 
housing products of different tenures such as Built to Rent. 

1.22 The implications of COVID-19 on the construction industry and house builders in 
particular are yet to be understood. However, in previous recession’s falls in consumer 
demand, house prices and lower pay levels reduced house building in the country. In 
the recession of the late noughties, construction of homes was supported via direct 
and indirect funding from Government. At present, no similar package of measures 
has been announced. Some initial work produced by Barton Willmore suggests that 
from approx. 244k net housing additions in 2019/2020, net housing additions will fall to 
an average of 150k / year, between 2020-2025. With pre-pandemic levels not being 
reached until 2027/2028. (https://tinyurl.com/ycloa69e) 

1.23 The implications of COVID-19 on the Borough’s housing land supply therefore needs 
to be understood in more detail to ensure that the emerging Local Plan is ‘sound’ 
moving forward. At present no changes have been made by Government to the 
Standard Method for calculating housing need, five year land supply requirements or 
the housing delivery test to reflect the immediate impacts of COVID-19. When 
lockdown started, work on most of the development sites within the Borough ground to 
a halt. Consultancies such as Barton Willmore and Knight Frank are setting out the 
potential implications of this, and are advising that it will result in a significant fall in 
housing completions. One of the key pieces of evidence that needs to support an 
emerging Local Plan is the Borough’s housing land supply and it needs to be robust. 
Due to the implications of COVID-19 further evidence is being collated by officers from 
developers to ascertain the impact of COVID-19 on their development trajectories. 
Members should also note that due to COVID-19 should housing affordability in the 
Borough worsen, this will result in an increased need for housing during the emerging 
Local Plan period due to affordability forming part of the input to the Government’s 
Standard Method for calculating housing need. Updated affordability data however will 
not be published by Government until approximately March 2021. 

1.24 At present, economic commentators are speculating about what form a COVID-19 
recession will take, a quick recovery would be V shaped, a slower and prolonged 
recovery would be U shaped and a quick recovery followed by a second or more 
decline would be W shaped. Whilst the Office for Budget Responsibility and others are 
predicting a V shaped recovery, no consensus exists regarding what shape the 
recovery will take. Other commentator’s views vary from predicting a U shaped 
recovery (with a more prolonged downturn) to a W shaped recovery (where recovery is 
prolonged and inconsistent). A W shaped recovery reflects a scenario where a second 
coronavirus wave might occur and the potential impacts of Brexit.  

1.25 Whilst there is lots of uncertainty, there is a clear consensus that the world will be 
different post-lockdown. The term most commonly used to express this is “the new 
normal”. In terms of the Local Plan this uncertainty has implications in numerous ways 
but at a high level it is linked to the level of retail and commercial floorspace, as well 
the level and type of housing that needs to be planned for. As such there is a need to 

Page 85

https://tinyurl.com/ycloa69e


8

commission additional evidence to model what the impact of COVID-19 could be on 
both demand and supply for these types of development in greater detail at the local 
level. This work is needed to support the Regulation 18 Stage 2 consultation and 
therefore will impact on the timing of the Stage 2 consultation and consequently the 
timetable in the Local Development Scheme.  Realistically this is likely to delay the 
consultation until late 2020.  

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)

Conservation Areas - Maintenance / Replacement Windows and Doors Guidance SPD

1.26 A six week consultation was undertaken between 31 January – 13 March 2020 on the 
draft Windows and Doors Guidance. This guidance document builds upon and 
provides more detailed information on Policies CS19: Development and Design 
Principles and CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment of the adopted 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

1.27 This guidance note explains the principles of good practice for the care of original 
windows and doors. It explains why repair is preferable to replacement and why some 
modern replacement windows and doors are considered unacceptable in unlisted 
buildings in conservation areas. 

1.28 The Consultation was primarily promoted through the Council’s Your Borough 
Magazine, social media accounts and the Council’s consultation portal and website. 
Three responses were received which all agreed with the need for the additional 
guidance on Windows and Doors. All three respondents also agreed that the guidance 
document provided a clear message and way forward for conserving windows and 
doors in conservation areas. One respondent raised concerns regarding ensuring local 
residents in Conservation areas were aware of their responsibilities and that proactive 
enforcement should be undertaken of planning breaches. Some minor amendments to 
wording was also offered, to view the responses please see Appendix 2.

1.29 Based on the comments received officers have made minor alterations to the draft 
guidance, with the final document being available at Appendix 3, a quick guide 
accompanying the final document has been published on the Council’s website and is 
available at Appendix 4. Whilst the level of responses is low, but not surprising as the 
document had been based on best practice, no objections have been made to the 
contents of the draft guidance, as such Cabinet is asked to adopt the guidance 
document as a Supplementary Planning Document, so that it can be a material 
consideration when determining a planning application. 

Draft Residential Extensions and Alterations SPD

1.30 Planning applications need to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. A Supplementary Planning 
Document cannot supersede development plan policy and must conform to it, however 
it is a mechanism by which existing policies can be elaborated upon. Whilst the Local 
Plan Core Strategy (September 2014) includes Policy CS:19 Development and Design 
Principles, bearing in mind Member desire for the Council to be supportive by 
providing helpful information, officers are of the view that there is a need to raise 
awareness of the value of good design and how it can benefit a home that is being 
extended or altered. This will contribute towards protecting the residential amenity of 
neighbours and enhancing the local built, historic and natural environment whilst giving 
further clarity to the public and businesses about proposals which are likely to be 
policy compliant. 

Page 86



9

1.31 With this in mind, officers have prepared a draft residential extensions and alterations 
SPD for consultation (see Appendix 5). Cabinet is being asked to approve the 
document for public consultation in line with the Council’s Statement of Community 
Involvement.  This will be for a period of at least four weeks.

1.32 Due to the current COVID-19 pandemic, whilst officers will deposit copies of the 
consultation document at public buildings i.e. the Civic Centre and libraries within 
Gravesham. The ability of the public to view the document will be directed by 
Government guidance in relation to COVID-19 at the time of the consultation. 
Furthermore, in line with the Government’s current guidance on COVID-19 and 
interacting with members of the public, the consultation will be undertaken via online 
channels but promoted through Your Borough Magazine. 

Local Green Space Consultation

1.33 At the 7 October 2019 Cabinet meeting, Members were advised of draft Proposed 
Policy DM: 22 on Local Green Spaces which sets out a policy for protecting and 
managing Local Green Spaces. The mechanism for designating land as Local Green 
Space is via the Site Allocations process and will be examined as part of the emerging 
Local Plan. 

1.34 Local Green Space designation was first introduced in 2012 as part of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. The designation is intended to provide special protection 
for green areas of particular importance to local communities. With local communities 
being able to nominate such areas to the Council for consideration through the plan 
making process. The National Planning Policy Framework provides some guidance of 
what factors should be taken into consideration when designating areas as local green 
space, these factors include that:

● The green area has to be in reasonably close proximity to the community it 
serves;

● The green area has to be demonstrably special to a local community and hold a 
particular local significance e.g. due to its beauty, historical significance, 
recreational value, tranquillity, richness of wildlife; and

● The green area has to be local in character and not an extensive tract of land. 

1.35 Green areas protected through existing designations e.g. Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty and Green Belt are unlikely to be designated as local green space, without 
very good justification being put forward for the need for the additional protection. Any 
land nominated for designation must be consistent with sustainable development and 
not hinder future developments, as such any nominations put forward on land with 
planning permission, current or future allocations would not be suitable for designation 
as local green space. 

1.36 To progress work on the emerging Local Plan, officers have produced a consultation 
document on Local Green Space (Appendix 6), Cabinet is being asked to approve the 
document for public consultation in line with the Council’s Statement of Community 
Involvement. This will be for a period of at least four weeks.

1.37 Due to the current COVID-19 pandemic, whilst officers will deposit copies of the 
consultation document at public buildings i.e. the Civic Centre and libraries within 
Gravesham. The ability of the public to view the document will be directed by 
Government guidance in relation to COVID-19 at the time of the consultation. 
Furthermore, in line with the Government’s current guidance on COVID-19 and 

Page 87



10

interacting with members of the public, the consultation will be undertaken via online 
channels but promoted through Your Borough Magazine. 

Page 88



11

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Implications have been highlighted above in respect to the need to adhere to the 
legislation and regulations for plan-making as exist at the time. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Expenditure will come from within existing budgets or the case for additional budget 
through usual budgetary processes.

Risk Assessment All activities will be risk assessed.
More broadly, without positive action to promote the vitality and viability of the Town 
Centre, together with actions to ensure public safety within the Town Centre there 
is likely to be decline rather than recovery.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
Yes – this will be covered by the existing Data Protection and Privacy Notices 

used for Local Plan consultations, see 
https://localplan.gravesham.gov.uk/gf2.ti/f/912418/36375685.1/PDF/-
/Privacy_Notice_April_2018.pdf

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Objectives - People: Protected Environment (carbon neutral borough, improve the 
local environment) and Quality Living (deliver an ambitious and diverse programme 
of building, a sound car parking offer). Place: Vibrant economy (enhance the 
vibrancy of the Gravesham economy, improve economic conditions, positively 
promote sustainable development) and Connected community (improve resident 
well-being, enhance the borough's cultural offer, promote Gravesham's arts and 

Page 89

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


12

heritage).

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder considerations pertaining to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

Subject to approval, the Council's website will be updated with the approved 
Maintenance / Replacement Windows and Doors Guidance SPD and the 
consultations on Residential Extensions and Alterations and Local Green Space. In 
due course updates will also be provided on the Statement of Community 
Involvement and the Local Development Scheme. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications pertaining 
to this report.

Page 90



Consultee Do you agree with the 
need to provide 
additional guidance on 
the Council’s approach 
to Windows and Doors in 
Conservation Areas? If 
not, please explain why

Comments Do you think that 
the guidance 
document provides a 
clear message and way 
forward for conserving 
windows and doors in 
Conservation Areas? 
Please elaborate on your 
answer and be as precise 
as possible.

Do you consider that any 
modification(s) should be 
made to the guidance 
document, prior to its 
adoption? If yes, if you 
are able to please put 
forward your suggested 
revised wording of any 
text. Please be as precise 
as possible.

Additional Comments GBC Response

Shorne Parish Council Yes Very good guide and very 
interesting, liked seeing 
local examples in the 
photos

Is clear and comprehensive 
but the difficulty lies in 
getting the guidance to the 
people who need to be 
following it and then the 
enforcement aspects.

Introduction: bottom of 
page 1 could be more 
definite, delete "are most 
likely" and say "means" not 
"might mean".
Generally make clearer that 
it is rules that need 
implementing and not just 
advice

As said above, our concern 
is about how property 
owners can be actively 
informed that their home 
has restrictions on works 
and what is then done 
about infringements. 
Notices should be served? 
Prosecutions? Grants made 
available? Also, needs 
GBC not to give 
retrospective permissions 
for infringements (e.g. as 
recently at Regulatory 
Board - how can that 
happen?). Some of the 
properties that have had 
incorrect windows and 
doors put in are GBC 
owned!

Obviously having this 
guidance in a place is a 
good first step and we look 
forward to the full 
implementation. 

Re modification 
suggestions: the text in the 
introduction refers to Article 
4 Directions which are not 
applied to every property in 
a conservation area, there 
fore conditions might apply 
to your property.

The Introduction states in 
1.3  That the guidance will 
be taken into account in 
Development Management 
decisions when considering 
proposals to replace or 
reinstate windows and 
doors in Conservation 
Areas across the Borough.

Dickens Country Protection Yes No comments Yes No No comments Response not required

HE Services Yes No Comments Yes Yes see additional 
comments

However if the property has 
a mix of old and new were 
do I stand?

To address the consultee’s 
comments I would refer 
them to the Design Element 
section of the guide if 
considering replacing either 
old or new windows. 

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Conservation Areas
Maintenance/Replacement
Windows and Doors Guidance

Supplementary Planning Document

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 93



1 Introduction         1

2 Why is planning permission required 
for windows and doors in a conservation area?    3
Article 4 directions        4

3 When is planning permission/Listed building consent required? 5
Unlisted buildings        5
Listed buildings        6
Flats, maisonettes and commercial property     6
Conditions on previous approvals      6

4 When is planning permission/Listed building consent not required? 7
Planning enforcement        7
Pre-application advice for windows and doors    8
Professional advice        8

5 How to apply for planning and listed building consent applications. 9

6 Windows and doors maintenance plan     10
Timber windows and doors       10
Metal windows         12
Painting         12
Lead paint         13

7 Sustainability, energy efficiency & security    14
Sustainability         14
Draught-proofing        15
Secondary Glazing        15
Slim profile double glazing in replacement timber windows (for non listed
historic buildings)        16

Low-e single glazing in replacement timber windows (for non-listed historic 
buildings)         16
Security         17
Windows         17
Doors          17

8 Design elements to consider when reinstating or replacing windows 18
Sash windows         18
Glazing bars         18
Meeting rail         19
Horns          19
Weights         19
Position – window reveal       19
Ventilation         20
Opening         20
Casement windows        21
Opening light         21
Glazing bars         21
Position – window reveal       21
Ventilation         21
Opening         22
Early modern metal windows       22

9 Criteria for considering article 4 direction applications - windows 23
   
10 Design elements to consider when reinstating or replacing doors 25
Traditional doors        25
Glazing          26
Door furniture         26
Enclosing a recessed doorway      26

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 94



11 Criteria for considering article 4 direction applications - doors 27

12  Traditional windows in Gravesham     28
Sash windows         28
Casement windows        29
Leaded light         29
Dormer windows        30
Cast iron         30

Glossary         31

Further Reading        34

Policy Background        35

Appendix (Photographic evedence for planning applications)   36

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 95



1 Introduction

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council has published this supplementary planning document for owners 
of unlisted buildings (buildings which have not been given a Statutory Listing by Historic England) in 
Conservation Areas to encourage effective participation in the preservation and enhancement of our historic 
environment.

1.2 This guidance document builds upon and provides more detailed information on Policies CS19: 
Development and Design Principles and CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment of the adopted 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). Existing supplementary planning documents and 
other guidance (including Conservation Area Appraisals) adopted by the Council are available online at: 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building

1.3 The guidance will be taken into account in Development Management decisions when considering 
proposals to replace or reinstate windows and doors in Conservation Areas across the Borough.

1.4 Conservation areas exist to manage and protect the special architectural and historic interest of a place 
- in other words, the features that make it unique. In conservation areas there are some extra planning 
controls and considerations in place to protect the historic and architectural elements which make the place 
special.

These extra planning controls and considerations are most likely to affect owners who want to work on the 
outside of their building or any trees on their property.  Being in a conservation area might mean that your 
house is affected by special controls (called 'Article 4 Directions').  These restrict work you can normally do 
without planning permission such as replacing a door or window.

1.5 Traditional windows are often referred to as ‘the eyes’ of a building, providing material evidence of 
technologies, artisan skills and architectural styles integral to its character and the wider streetscape.  
Surviving windows and doors are an irreplaceable resource and contribute significantly to the character of a 
conservation area; the Council’s approach is to preserve the integrity of historic buildings and conservation 
areas in Gravesham through retention, reinstatement and replacement of original architectural features for 

Original timber arched sash window - Windmill Hill 
Conservation Area

1

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 96

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building


2

the benefit of both present and future generations.

1.6 This design guidance explains the principles of good practice for the care of original windows and doors.  
It explains why repair is preferable to replacement and why some modern replacement windows and doors 
are considered unacceptable in unlisted buildings in conservation areas.

1.7 If you live outside a conservation area and your property is not listed, permitted development rights may 
allow you to replace your windows and doors without planning permission, though the requirement to use 
materials of a ‘similar’ appearance to existing examples also applies.  If you are interested in preserving the 
character or reinstating traditional windows and doors in your property you may find the information within 
this guidance of interest. 

Traditional six over six timber sash windows - Church 
Street, Higham Conservation Area 

Original timber casements - Church Street, Higham 
Conservation Area 

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 97



2 Why is planning permission required for windows and doors in a conservation 
area?

2.1 Planning legislation requires that special attention is paid to conserving and enhancing the character 
and appearance of conservation areas. With emphasis on management rather than prevention, it allows us, 
the Council, to consider the merits of a planning application against a conservation area’s special character. 
Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans have been produced for each conservation area in 
consultation with the residents of the Borough. These documents are useful aids in identifying and retaining 
what is important in an area and they can be found on our Heritage and conservation web page.

2.2 Unless they are Listed buildings, single dwelling houses (not flats or maisonettes) may have permitted 
development rights (unless these have been removed) that enable certain developments to be carried out 
without the need for planning permission. Amongst others, these works may include changes to windows 
and doors.  Although minimal in each case, such alterations have a cumulative effect when carried out 
in historic areas.  Due to the need to protect some of the Borough’s most historic areas, the Council 
has made Article 4 Directions in conservation areas which remove some of the permitted development 
rights of single dwelling houses within these areas. Where a property is subject to an Article 4 Direction, a 
planning application has to be made to the Council and determined by the Council, prior to the works being 
undertaken. Such works can only be undertaken if they have been permitted by the Council and must be 
completed in line with the permission granted.

3

Replacement does not respect the shape and 
proportions of the original window opening and glazing 
bars.

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 98



2.3 Article 4 Directions

2.4 An Article 4 Direction is a Direction under Article 4 of the Town & Country Planning General Permitted 
Development (England) Order 2015 (as amended) which enables a local planning authority to withdraw 
specific permitted development rights across a defined area to take account of local sensitivities.  

2.5 Conservation Area Appraisals identified the loss of architectural details including historic windows and 
doors and use of inappropriate materials in their replacement, as contributing factors in the erosion of the 
special character of many conservation areas. To halt this damage to character and appearance of these 
areas, the Council has made Article 4 Directions in the Borough’s rural and urban conservation areas.

A list of conservation areas with Article 4 Directions can be found on our website. 

2.6 Please note that your property may be subject to other Article 4 Directions and/or may have had other 
permitted development rights removed through a previous planning application decision notice associated 
with your property. If you are unsure about the planning history of your property and whether or not any 
Article 4 Directions apply to your property, you are advised to visit the Council’s website and/or to contact 
the Council’s Development Management section at planning.admin@gravesham.gov.uk

Well-intentioned unsympathetic changes to windows 
and doors have had a damaging effect on our 
conservation areas. 

4

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 99

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/article-4-directions
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building
mailto:planning.admin%40gravesham.gov.uk?subject=


Use of approved replacement windows in non 
traditional material reflecting the proportions and style 
of the adjacent property - Darnley Road Conservation 
Area.

Property before replacement windows and door.
(on right)

5

3 When is Planning Permission / Listed Building Consent required?

3.1 Unlisted Buildings 

3.2 For unlisted buildings subject to an Article 4 Direction in a conservation area, planning permission is 
required for the following works to windows or doors:

• The removal or replacement of windows and doors if there is a material change in the design, 
materials and profiling from those being replaced;

• Material changes1 to in-situ windows and doors, including repairs and change of colour;
• Reinstatement of an original window or door which had previously been removed.

3.3 Guidance from Historic England explains that traditional windows can often be simply and economically 
repaired, usually at a cost significantly less than replacement. For timber windows this is largely due to the 
high quality and durability of the timber that was used in the past to make windows.

3.4 Applications to replace original/historic windows will only be supported where it can be demonstrated 
to the Council’s satisfaction that they have deteriorated beyond practical and/or economic repair.  This 
will require a survey report from an architect, surveyor or specialist timber joinery workshop setting out the 
extent of decay and justification for replacement rather than repair. 

1 Material changes are those that would result in changes to the appearance of your building as well as how that changed ele-
ment functions.  In the case of alterations to windows and doors these could be the change in the profile and size of a window 
frame or materials that windows or doors are made of.

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 100



3.5 Listed Buildings 

3.6 The alteration of a listed building2 in any way that will affect its special interest requires listed building 
consent and possibly planning permission.  Listed building consent is required for the following works to 
windows and doors in relation to a listed building:

• The installation of double glazing within existing window frames;
• The installation of secondary glazing;
• The removal or replacement of windows and doors;
• Material changes to windows and doors i.e. alterations to the design and materials, size, opening 

mechanism or proportions as well as blocking up windows and doors;
• Changing the colour of windows and doors
• Reinstatement of an original window or door.

3.7 Flats, Maisonettes and commercial property 

3.8 Flats, maisonettes and commercial properties do not have the same permitted development rights as 
single dwelling houses and planning permission is required should you wish to replace windows and doors 
in such properties.  Lessees and tenants whose property is under management should seek advice from the 
relevant property’s managing body or landlord/freeholder.

3.9 Conditions on previous approvals 

3.10 On occasions developments have planning conditions applied to the property which remove the normal 
permitted development rights associated with the property. Late 20th century and more recently constructed 
buildings may have further restrictions, please ensure you check for any detailed restrictions attached to 
the planning permission for the property.  You can check for planning conditions by visiting our website’s 
planning applications  page.

2 Buildings are listed in their entirety and the listing extends to structures or objects fixed to the building. It is important to note that 
other structures around the listed building could also be listed as curtilage structures if they date from before 1 July 1948.  It is 
therefore important to seek advice from us before embarking on any alterations.

The integrity of the borough’s (approximately 300) 
listed buildings are protected by the requirement 
of listed building consent for internal and external 
development - Shorne Conservation Area

6

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 101



4 When is planning permission/listed building consent not required? 

4.1 In non-listed buildings subject to an Article 4 Direction in a conservation area, planning permission will 
not be required for like-for-like3 repairs and replacement. 

4.2 In listed buildings, repairs to original windows and doors will not require listed building consent, providing 
the repair work identically matches the original form and materials i.e. like-for-like. 

4.3 Planning Enforcement

4.4 If works are carried out that require consent without the relevant planning permission being received 
from the Council, the Council will investigate if a breach of planning control has occurred and as appropriate 
may seek to have such a breach of planning remedied via an enforcement notice; this can involve 
reinstatement of the building to its former condition.  

4.5 With regards to works carried out to a Listed Building, it is also a criminal offence (under English law) to 
carry out works that require listed building consent without such a consent being obtained from the Council. 
The offence is committed by the person who carried out the works (possibly a builder) and by anyone who 
caused them to be carried out (someone instructing a builder). It is not a defence to say that the fact that the 
building was listed was not known.

4.6 Demolition of an unlisted building in a conservation area without planning permission is also a criminal 
offence. As with listed buildings ignorance is not a defence and penalties are the same as for listed buildings. 
As with listed buildings, an enforcement notice can be served to rectify any works done without planning 
permission or work done in breach of a condition on such a consent. Breach of the enforcement notice is 
itself a further offence committed by the then owner.

3 In both un-listed and listed buildings “like-for-like” means the same materials, details of construction, dimensions, opening method, 
decorative finish and details as existing including glazing type and fixing of glass (e.g. putty).  The original proportions and glazing 
pattern must also be respected.

Like-for-like repairs do not require planning permission.

7

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 102



4.7 Pre-application advice for windows and doors

4.8 If your property is located in a conservation area to which an Article 4 Direction applies or it is listed, you 
may wish to consult the Planning Department if you are intending to carry out:

• External alterations - Like-for-like repairs or reinstatement
• The details of the proposed repair, alteration or replacement should always be discussed with us 

from the outset in a pre-application consultation to determine whether planning permission/listed 
building consent is required4

• Internal alterations - Like-for-like repairs or reinstatements to a listed building
• Alterations to the rear of your property
• Alterartions to the rear of your property - Article 4 Directions and the requirement of planning 

permission, usually only apply to the facades of a building facing a street, public footpath or open 
space, but in certain cases can apply to the rear of your property. Therefore, it is advisable to seek 
pre-application advice if you are considering alterations to the rear of your property.

4.9 This service is not free of charge; you can find full details on the Pre-application page of our website.  
Alternatively, you can submit a planning application directly to the Council, further details are available on 
applying for planning application.

4.10 Professional advice

4.11 If you need to submit a formal application to obtain permission, we recommend that you employ the 
services of a professional planning agent. Details of Planning agents that are registered with the RTPI can be 
found here.

4 In some instances, people have embarked on alterations believing that those alterations were like-for-like when it transpired that 
they were mistaken and there were differences from the original. Enforcement action has been successful on appeal.

8

Traditional timber panelled door - Thong Lane 
Conservation Area

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 103

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/pre-application-service
https://www.rtpiconsultants.co.uk/#/


5 How to apply for planning and listed building consent applications

You should ensure that your application includes the following:

• Existing and proposed elevation drawings to a scale of 1:50 in order to show the windows and doors 
in the context of the whole building;

• Scaled drawings of the joinery details at a scale of 1:10 to show the front elevation, section and plan 
view of each window;

• 1:2 or full size details, as appropriate of the detailed parts of the window; window head, meeting rail, 
cill, plan through box sash/casement and window, glazing bars etc. 

• Where appropriate - 1:2 or full size details as appropriate of the detailed parts of the door; fanlights, 
panelling, moulding style and depth, glazing, door furniture 

• Heritage Statement – refer to the Heritage Statement criteria in the Councils Validation List

The following information may also be useful to provide as part of your application:

• Photos of the building showing each elevation in its entirety with each window and/or door clearly 
labelled stating which are included/not included in the planning application.  

• Detailed photographs of each window and door relevant to your application.
• Manufacturer’s details of the proposed windows/doors – a front view of each window should be 

given.  Each window/door should correspond with the labelling given on the existing windows/doors.  
• Confirmation that the position of the window or door within the opening will not be altered unless this 

is to restore it to its original position.   
• Please refer to the Appendix for an example of photographic evidence required. 

5.3 Please ensure all documents required are submitted to GBC in order to progress your application.  Refer 
to the Validation list on the council’s website before submitting your application.  The Planning Portal website 
www.planningportal.gov.uk contains advice on various development permissions and details of how to 
submit your application.

9

Traditional metal frame leaded light casement windows 
above timber sliding sashes - Cobham Conservation 
Area

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 104

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/local-list-of-validation-requirements
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/applications


6 Windows and Doors Maintenance Plan

6.1 With increasing awareness of energy efficiency, replacing original windows and doors with modern 
ready-made units is an option many home owners consider, with low maintenance being an understandable 
incentive.  However, it is worthwhile remembering the original windows and doors in your property will 
have been functioning for many years and repairing rather than replacing makes sound environmental 
and economic sense when carried out in conjunction with upgrading security, if needed, and thermal 
performance.  

6.2 Timber Windows and Doors

6.3 Regular maintenance of timber is the most cost effective way of prolonging the life of timber windows 
and doors, this increases the longevity of the timber for many years to come, with repairs almost always 
costing less than the cost of full replacement.

6.4 Maintenance should include re-painting windows and doors to prevent moisture penetration.  However, 
advances in modern paint technology mean that windows, doors and frames painted in specialised exterior 
paints can now last up to five to ten years before external re-painting is necessary. 

6.5 Without regular maintenance timber can be prone to rot due to water penetration which is often found 
in the bottom rail and cills of timber windows, doors and their frames.  Wood rot will spread if left untreated 
but if caught in time can be addressed without the need for total replacement.  It is a simple process for a 
competent joiner to repair and replace sections of rotting wood with sections of sound, treated timber on 
a like-for-like basis.  Epoxy resins can be used as a substitute for treated timber when making minor patch 
repairs.  Planning permission is not required for repairs on a like-for-like basis.
 

Removing old paint from windows and doors as part 
of a maintenance routine will allow you to assess for 
repairs.

10

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 105



6.6 It is good practice to check timber windows and doors for:

• Evidence of structural movement around the opening,
• Pointing between the frame and wall opening – cracked, loose or missing pointing will allow moisture 

and draughts to penetrate around the frame or sash-box,
• Evidence of water absorption that could lead to wood decay (wet rot),
• Interior/exterior paint failure,
• Opening of the frame joints, 
• Cracked, loose or missing putty,
• Standing water on cills,
• Faulty flashings or water shedding features associated with openings,
• External cables fed through the frame will allow water to enter and could cause rot,
• Joints between the timber cill and masonry sub cill,
• Loose hinges,
• Damaged screw holes with timber dowels,
• Loose joints and panels on doors,
• Corrosion of metal fixtures and fittings,
• Broken cames (lead that holds glass in place) in leaded lights.

6.7 Sashes – common faults causing restricted movement:

• Swelling due to water absorption (see above),
• Over-painting joinery,
• Stop beads – too tight,
• Pulley wheels that have seized up through over painting or lack of lubrication,
• Broken sash cords,
• Lack of lubrication on sash and pulley,
• Thicker, heavier replacement glass – weights may need adjusting.

6.8 In most cases timber decay is wet rot but wood boring insects and dry rot can also affect joinery.  
Evidence of wood boring insects does not necessarily mean you have an active infestation but it could mean 

11

Exterior paint failure will allow moisture to penetrate 
timber.

Evidence of wood boring insects does not necessarily 
mean you have a live infestation.

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 106



that structural timber has been left weakened. Detailed advice on how to assess this can be found on the 
Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings website, search advice.  If dry rot is suspected you should 
seek specialist advice from an independent chartered surveyor or consultant, not a remedial treatment 
contractor.
 
6.9 Metal Windows

6.10 Metal windows, as with timber, benefit from a regular maintenance plan to ensure your windows last as 
they should. Common defects that occur in metal windows include: distortion, build-up of paint, rust (due 
to exposure of bare metal), corrosion and hinge and fitting failures. Corrosion and its repair are dependent 
on the fabric of your window, corroded sections of wrought iron windows can be cut out and replacement 
sections welded in. Repair of cast iron is more difficult as it will require ‘cold metal stitching’ which is a 
specialist process.  The maintenance of galvanised steel windows (popular post WW1 and commonly 
known as ‘Crittal’) is relatively simple; repair putty and glazing if necessary and remove excess paint from 
frames, being careful not to damage the galvanised finish. Bare metal should be primed and finished with 
paint specific to the fabric of the windows.

6.11 It is good practice to check your metal windows for the following in addition to the above:

• Corrosion of metal framing
• Corrosion of metal fixtures and fittings
• Build-up of paint restricting closure and movement
• Signs of rusting
• Distortion of the frame
• Broken cames (lead that holds glass in place) in leaded lights

6.12 Painting

6.13 Slow grown softwoods such as pine, used in the 19th and 20th centuries, were traditionally painted.  
Timber stains and varnishes are modern introductions and are not traditional finishes.
Changing the external colour of windows and doors will require planning permission where the building is 

Historic metal casement windows still survive in 
urban and rural Conservation Areas - High Street 
Conservation Area

Windows and doors painted in traditional colours - 
Chestnut Green Conservation Area

12

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 107

https://www.spab.org.uk/


listed or has an Article 4 Direction in place that restricts the change in colour. If you are considering 
changing the colour, it would be advantageous to look at similar properties with original details in 
the vicinity and paint manufacturers ‘Heritage’ exterior colour ranges, appropriate to the age of your 
property, to inform your choice.

6.14 Lead Paint

6.15 Up until the mid-1960s lead was often in paint used on; external metal work, windows and 
doors, internal woodwork and metalwork i.e. radiators and pipes. Sometimes lead paint has been 
buried under subsequent layers.  If you are uncertain it should be assumed that it is there and you 
should follow guidance on the safe removal of lead paint.  If you are employing a professional, ask 
them how they are going to deal with this possibility.

6.16 For in-depth advice on the care and maintenance of traditional windows Historic England 
have produced detailed guidance in Traditional Windows Their Care, Repair and Upgrading and the 
Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings produces guidance on a wide range of issues relating 
to maintenance and repair. (see further Reading)

Changing the colour of your windows and doors will 
require permission if your building is listed or has an 
Article 4 Direction in place. 

13

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 108

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/221085/pb10973-leadpaintleaflet.pdf
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/traditional-windows-care-repair-upgrading/


7 Sustainability, Energy Efficiency & Security

7.1 Historic homes can be made more energy efficient while maintaining their special character and 
appearance while reducing heat loss and draughts. Certain classes of historic building are exempt from 
energy efficiency upgrades when thermal elements are replaced or renovated. Conservation areas where 
surface materials and details contribute to the character of the area are exempt under Building Regulations 
Part L – Energy Conservation. 

7.2 Historic England has produced comprehensive guidance on Draught-proofing windows and doors  
and Secondary Glazing which detail the principles, risks, materials and methods for upgrading the thermal 
performance of windows and doors.  

7.3 Sustainability

7.4 A Climate Emergency was declared by Members of the Council on 25 June 2019, and thus reuse 
and recycling is more important than ever.  Renovating what we have and reusing old materials when the 
opportunity arises is fundamental in helping tackle these issues. Metal windows and timber in original 
windows and doors is very rarely unrepairable.  

7.5 The comfort and energy efficiency which comes with newly fitted window and door frames and integral 
draught proofing are benefits that can also be achieved through repair and draught proofing of existing 
windows and doors or from fitting secondary glazing.

7.6 Alternatively, in non-listed historic buildings,  where there are single or two pane sash windows, double 
glazed units can be installed into existing sash boxes using 12mm thick slim line Low-emissivity5  double 
glazing, thereby retaining the embodied energy of the existing timber which is usually very good quality 
Baltic timber.   The use of double glazing in an existing sash window will require the sash weights to be 
re-balanced due to the increased weight of the glazing unit.

5 Commonly known as low-e glass, a type of energy-efficient glass designed to prevent heat loss.

Example of well fitted secondary double glazing with 
proportions matching original window dimensions and 
glazing details - Darnley Road Conservation Area

14

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 109

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/eehb-draught-proofing-windows-doors/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/eehb-secondary-glazing-windows/


7.7 Draught-proofing

7.8 Older buildings are prone to heat loss through cracks and gaps which develop as building elements 
move and distort over a period of time.  This is often the case around windows and doors and can be a 
major source of heat loss.  Pointing between the frame and wall opening should be investigated prior to any 
works to your windows and doors as this could be the cause of drafts and heat loss.  

7.9 If you have internal/external wooden shutters these provide additional privacy and security, reduce heat 
loss and help with noise insulation. The use of heavy curtains for windows and doors will also reduce heat 
loss.

7.10 Draught proofing can reduce air leakage from windows and doors by between 33% - 50%, significantly 
reducing the heating requirement for a room6.

7.11 In non-listed properties draught proofing will not require consent. For Listed Buildings, you will need to 
look at the detail of your building’s listing to determine if such additions would impact on the designation. We 
recommend that you contact us for confirmation if your building is listed on planning.admin@gravesham.gov.
uk 

7.12 Secondary Glazing

7.13 Windows - A cost effective alternative to double glazing which allows existing windows to remain intact 
with little or no impact on the buildings appearance.  Secondary glazing increases thermal performance, 
security and can be highly effective at reducing noise if a larger gap is left between the window panes. 

7.14 Doors - Secondary glazing systems can be secured to the frame of single glazed upper panels, 
fanlights and side windows in front doors to improve the thermal performance and preserve the original 
etched or stained glass. 

6 https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/eehb-draught-proofing-windows-doors/heag084-draughtproofing/ 

Internal and external wooden shutters will provide 
extra security and insulation

Secondary glazing designed to open by the same 
method as the external window.

15

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 110

mailto:planning.admin%40gravesham.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:planning.admin%40gravesham.gov.uk?subject=


7.15 In non-listed properties secondary glazing will not require consent.  For Listed Buildings, you will 
need to look at the detail of your building’s listing to determine if such additions would impact on the 
designation. We recommend that you contact us for confirmation if your building is listed on.  Planning.
admin@gravesham.gov.uk 
 
7.16 Slim profile double glazing in replacement timber windows (for non-listed historic buildings)

7.17 Slim double glazing (12mm thick sealed units) is acceptable in non-listed historic buildings within the 
conservation area and does not require planning permission provided only the glazing is being replaced or 
that the replacement joinery accurately replicates the appearance of the original in terms of material, profile 
and detailing i.e. like-for-like. 

7.18 Windows must use solid (through) glazing bars to replicate any original windows and the timber profiles 
should be matched to the original profiles.  Glazing bars applied to the surface of a sealed glazing unit will 
not be acceptable. The glazing unit can be puttied into conventional size timber sashes/casements and 
glazing bars, leaving no signs of double glazing. 

7.19 When considering double glazing in like-for-like frames, we will ask for a new slim double glazing 
technology with a total glazing thickness of 9-12mm (3-4mm glass, 3-4mm gas, 3-4mm glass) to be used. 
These windows are likely to weigh more than the single glazed windows being replaced, so the weights in 
timber sashes may also need to be rebalanced.
 
7.20 Replacing historic stained, leaded or etched glass with this method of glazing is not acceptable.

7.21 Low-e single glazing in replacement timber windows (for non-listed historic buildings)

7.22 Low-e single glazing is acceptable and does not require planning permission in un-listed properties 
provided only the glazing is being replaced or that the replacement joinery accurately replicates the 
appearance of the original in terms of material, profile and detailing i.e. like-for-like.

Example of existing original stained and coloured glass. 
It is important to retain original glazing when replacement 
is necessary as modern double glazing cannot replicate 
originals.

16

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 111

http://Planning.admin@gravesham.gov.uk 
http://Planning.admin@gravesham.gov.uk 


7. 23 Windows must use solid (through) glazing bars, not applied glazing bars, to replicate any original 
windows and the timber profiles should be matched to the existing profiles. The glazing unit can be puttied 
into conventional size timber sashes/casements and glazing bars.

7.24 Energy efficient ‘low-e’ coatings reduce thermal radiation, together with draught proofing it can reduce 
heat loss through the glass and frame.

7.25 Replacing historic stained, leaded, or etched glass with this method of glazing is not acceptable.

7.26 Security 

7.27 Internal security upgrades to windows and doors do not require planning permission in unlisted 
buildings in a conservation area, however such alterations will require listed building consent for listed 
buildings.

7.28 Windows

7.29 Traditional sash window catches and casement latches are not sufficient on their own.  There is a 
wide variety of ironmongery on the market to upgrade the security on windows; locks, dual screws, anti-lift 
devices (sash stops), key operated locks for casements, mortice bolts and sash chains increase security 
on traditional windows.  If you have internal/external wooden shutters these provide additional security and 
insulation. 

7.30 Doors

7.31 Additional security measures on doors can be easily incorporated without affecting the character of the 
door, for example extra mortice locks, rim locks and bolts. However, such alterations to a historic door may 
cause harm to the significance of a listed building and the conservation officer should be consulted through 
the pre-application advice service before such work is carried out.
 

17

Example of a modern double glazed uvpc door next to 
a timber door with original stained and coloured glass 
in an urban Edwardian terrace.  

Detail of original stained and coloured glazing in an 
original timber door in an urban Edwardian terrace.

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 112



8 Design elements to consider when reinstating or replacing windows

8.1 If you are thinking about reinstating or replacing traditional windows, it is important to think very carefully 
about the type of replacement window being utilised, any replacement should match the original window 
as far as possible. Applications to replace original/historic windows will only be supported where it can be 
demonstrated to the Council’s satisfaction that they have deteriorated beyond practical/economic repair.  
Survey reports by a surveyor, or joiner, with experience in the repair of windows, should be submitted with 
your application describing the extent of decay to each window that it is to be replaced and discussing the 
options for repair or why such repairs cannot be carried out.

8.2 The following design elements detailed below must be considered when looking to replace or reinstate.  
You will need to supply detailed designs and implementation methods when submitting your application. In 
the case of replacing like-for-like, where planning permission is not required, we strongly advise you to apply 
for Pre-application advice to prevent possible enforcement action at a later date. 

8.3 Sash Windows

8.4 Glazing Bars

8.5 Glazing bars should be of a traditional profile (according to the age of the property) or match any existing 
original windows. In all cases glazing bars should match the original in position and size.  Bars inserted 
into or applied onto double glazed window units are inappropriate and not acceptable. Machine routing 
after assembly is not appropriate to the character of traditional glazing bars. See traditional sash window 
components illustration for glazing bar details. 

18

Runner for inner sash
1   Parting Bead
2   Staff Bead (baton rod)
3  Pulley Lining/Stile

Sash Box
Pulley lining stile
4   Inner Lining
5   Outer Lining
6   Pulley
7   Sash Cord
8  Sash Weight

Inner/Lower Sash
9   Meeting Rail
10 Sash Stile
11 Bottom Rail
12 Glazing Bar

1

9

2

3

10
12

5
4

6

7

811

10

12

12

Components of a typical sash window

Glazing Bar Profiles

Late 17th - to Early 18th century Early 18th - to Early 19th Century
 

Dimensions in millimetres

38

Late 19th Century 

astragal

ovolo

ovolo and fillet

lamb’s tongue

13

19

Components of a typical timber sash window.

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 113



8.6 Meeting Rail

8.7 Particular attention must be paid to the meeting rail, where the upper and lower sashes overlap; this 
should not exceed 34mm when closed or where an original window survives it should match that window.

8.8 Horns

8.9 In the 19th century, windows were strengthened to accommodate larger panes of glass with projections 
known as horns. It is important to avoid the use of horns where they have not been used historically, for 
example they would not have been used on a Georgian house with multi-pane windows but are a common 
feature on Victorian and later properties with large single or double paned windows.

8.10 Weights

8.11 The weight of the sash is counterbalanced by a lead or cast iron weight within the outer frame or box. 
This weight is connected to the window by a waxed sash cord with a pulley at the top of the frame.  Spring 
balances are sometimes used on modern sashes, these are not acceptable in listed buildings but will be 
considered appropriate on non-listed buildings.
 
8.12 Position – window reveal 

8.13 The position of the sash within the opening is important and as with other details should reflect the 
age of the property.  Up until the early 18th century sashes had their box frames exposed, finished with an 
architrave surround and set flush with the outer face of the wall. By 1709 The London Building Act required 
the sash box to be set back four inches with the sash box still fully exposed.  The 1774 Act required the 
sash box to be hidden behind the reveal for fire protection. 

Meeting rail 

Horn - common feature on sash windows from the 
Victorian period onwards.

19

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 114



8.14 Ventilation

8.15 Trickle vents that provide background ventilation are commonly seen in modern windows, these would 
not have been an original feature on sash windows.  In many cases this type of ventilation is not needed as 
ventilation can be achieved by a ventilation latch on the window itself. Visible trickle vents are not acceptable 
on un-listed historic buildings. Trickle vents are not acceptable on listed buildings.

8.16 Opening

8.17 When replacement is necessary existing window openings should be used.  If, however you propose 
to alter the position, shape or size of the window opening the positioning should be carefully considered and  
the architectural integrity of the building retained.  It is important to ensure that additional windows match 
existing in terms of materials and design features such as brick arch detailing and stone cills. The overall size 
of the window must be kept in proportional harmony with the rest of the façade and new windows should be 
sited to minimise overlooking adjacent properties.  Planning permission will be required for such alterations. 
 

1. Glazing Bars, 2. Position - window reveal, 3. Trickle 
Vent.  These details apply to both sash and casement windows.

1

2

3

20

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 115



8.18 Casement Windows

8.19 Opening Light

8.20 The opening light of a traditional casement was always set flush with the frame or recessed when 
closed and is known as a flush casement.  This detail sets apart a traditional casement from many modern 
‘off the peg’ windows that are storm proofed, where the opening light is set atop the frame. This detail must 
be taken into consideration when replacement is being proposed. 

8.21 Glazing Bars

8.22 Glazing bars should be shaped to a traditional profile (according to the age of the property) and mitred 
to the frame.  Bars inserted into double glazed window units are inappropriate and not acceptable. Machine 
routing after assembly is not appropriate to the character of traditional glazing bars. See traditional casement 
window components illustration for glazing bar details. 

8.23 Position – window reveal

8.24 The position of the casement within the opening is important and as with other details should reflect 
the age of the property. Up until the early 18th century windows had their frames exposed, finished with an 
architrave surround and set flush with the outer face of the wall. By 1709 The London Building Act required 
the window frame to be set back four inches with the frame still fully exposed.  The 1774 Act required the 
frame to be hidden behind the reveal for fire protection.

8.25 Ventilation

8.26 Trickle vents that provide background ventilation are commonly seen in modern widows, these would 
not have been an original feature on casement windows.  In many cases this type of ventilation is not 
needed as ventilation can be achieved by additional air vents or a ventilation latch on the window itself. 
Visible trickle vents are not acceptable on un-listed historic buildings. Trickle vents are not acceptable on 
listed buildings.

21

Components of a typical casement window

Internal lintel
(timber, concrete or steel)

Stone lintel

Head of fixed frame

Glazing bar

Jamb of window opening

Pane

Fixed mullion;casement stile

Bottom rail of casement

Internal cill

Top rail

window reveal

Stone cill

Early 18th - to Early 19th Century
 

Late 19th Century Late 17th - to Early 18th century

Dimensions in millimetres

38

astragal

ovolo

ovolo and fillet

lamb’s tongue

13

19

Glazing Bar Profiles

Components of a typical timber casement window

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 116



8.27 Opening

8.28 When replacement is proposed, existing window openings should be used, if however, the shape or 
size of the window openings are altered their position should be carefully considered and the architectural 
integrity of the building retained.  With additional windows, ensure they match existing in terms of materials 
and design, features such as brick detailing and cills should be copied.  New windows should be sited to 
minimise overlooking adjacent properties.  Planning permission and building regulations will be required.

8.29 Early Modern Metal Windows

8.30 Early modern metal framed windows should be repaired (see Maintenance and Care) if this is not 
possible they should be replaced with matching windows of the same materials and design.  Survey reports 
by a surveyor, or specialist metal window manufacturer with experience in the repair of metal windows, 
should be submitted with your application describing the extent of decay to each window that is to be 
replaced and discussing the options for repair or why such repairs cannot be carried out. 

Early modern metal casements.  Hook Green 
Conservation Area

22

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 117



9 Criteria for considering Article 4 Direction applications - windows.

The Council has adopted the following criteria for assessing applications for window alterations/
replacements in unlisted buildings where an Article 4 Direction is in place:

1. Use of purpose made or high quality factory made timber sash/casement windows.    
 Planning permission not required if windows are an exact copy, like for like, or replica.

2. Use of factory made timber sash windows or uPVC vertical sliding sash windows     
 as replacements for Victorian/Edwardian one over one or two over two sash     
 windows (i.e. windows with one or two panes, not Georgian style multi-paned     
 windows which are commonly divided into six or eight small panes for each  sash). Approve subject  
 to choice of manufacturer and detailing; ensure that  vertically sliding sashes are proposed.

3. Use of factory made timber or uPVC casements as replacements for Victorian/    
 Edwardian casement windows.  Approve subject to choice of manufacturer and detailing and ensure  
 that casement is flush with the frame or recessed when closed. Use of aluminium profile    
 casement windows in suburban houses (post 1920). Approve subject to choice of window style.  In  
 many cases aluminium replacements can match the appearance of original      
 metal framed Crittal] windows.

4. Applications to replace inappropriate modern windows in pre 1920 houses (i.e.     
 houses originally built with timber sashes and casements) or post 1920 (i.e. houses     
 originally built with metal framed [Crittal] windows. Approve subject to choice of     
 style  of replacement unit. The replacement should match the appearance of     
 traditional sashes/casements/metal framed windows as far as possible.

5. Applications to replace traditional vertical sliding timber sash/casements windows with    
 standard uPVC units (i.e. side hung, top hung, bottom hung, horizontal pivot, vertical pivot or louvre)
 will be refused.  

23

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 118



6. uPVC or aluminium finish sliding sashes and casement windows which meet the     
 colour, positioning and hanging criteria set out above, on non-principal or non-public    
 elevations (elevations with no street frontage or open to public view) where it can be    
 demonstrated that they do not harm the character or appearance of the conservation    
 area and taking into consideration the age and style of the building and its immediate surroundings  
 will be considered acceptable 

24

Researching your property’s history can uncover 
documentation of original features - Thong Lane 
Conservation Area

Image courtesy of The London Picture Archive

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 119



10 Design elements to consider when reinstating or replacing doors

10.1 The front door and its surround is one of the most prominent features of a house, if original it is 
unique to your property and a valuable asset as it informs us of its history and status.  Some of the 
front doors in the Borough’s conservation areas may well be over a 100 years old and can last for 
many more if maintained. 

10.2 The timber used in older doors is often superior in quality, it is either native hardwood or 
imported slow-grown softwood from the Baltic.  In both cases it is often superior to the faster grown 
softwoods available today.  Modern softwood has a high degree of sapwood, which lacks natural 
durability and when damp will be more readily attacked by beetle or rot.  Modern hardwoods are 
expensive and in some cases linked to unsustainable forestry practices.  

10.3 When considering reinstating or replacing a traditional door, it is important to think very carefully 
about the type of replacement door to be used and to ensure it match’s the original door as far 
as possible. Applications to replace original/historic doors will only be supported where it can be 
demonstrated to the Council’s satisfaction that they have deteriorated beyond practical/economic 
repair.  Survey reports by a surveyor, or joiner, with experience in the repair of doors, should be 
submitted with the relevant planning application describing the extent of decay to each door that is 
to be replaced and discussing the options for repair or why such repairs cannot be carried out.

10.4 Traditional Doors

10.5 Traditional doors and doorways are usually solid timber frame construction with inset panelling 
and/or glazing retained by mouldings. 

10.6 Reinstated doors must match traditional designs typical of the area.

10.7 Where a building has lost its original door it should be reinstated with a purpose made timber 
door based on historic evidence or original doors in the same street, or adjoining properties.  When 
replacing a historic door, features should match the original door or a typical historic door in the area.

25

1. Fanlights, 2. panelling, 3. Moulding style and depth, 
4. Door furniture; letter box, door knocker etc, 
5. Glazing, 6. Traditional painted finish (not stained or 
varnished)

1 & 5

2

3

4

6

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 120



10.8 Glazing

10.9 Replacements should match the originals. Decorative glass plays an important ornamental role 
and should always be repaired and retained where possible within a replacement door, its surround 
and fanlight.  Original glazing makes a positive contribution to the historic appearance of the building 
when reused. If the existing joinery is beyond repair it will be acceptable to replace it with new joinery 
sections matching the original. 

10.10 Door furniture

10.11 Original door furniture should be retained and reused or age appropriate reclaimed door 
furniture or modern replicas in appropriate material used.  

10.12 Enclosing a recessed doorway

10.13 Many older properties have recessed front doors with decorative stained or coloured glass in 
side panels and fan lights and contribute to the street-scape. Enclosing the recess with a modern 
door detracts from the character of the building and those surrounding it, especially if it shares 
architectural details with neighbouring properties e.g.attached houses where the front doors are 
situated next to each other (halls adjoining houses.) 
 
10.14 The original inner door should be checked for repairs if draughts are an issue and the reason 
for wishing to enclose the recess.  Planning permission will be required for enclosing a recessed 
doorway. 

Enclosing recessed doorways detracts from 
shared features and the area’s character.

26

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

Original maintained doorways 

P
age 121



11 Criteria for considering Article 4 Direction applications - doors

The Council has adopted the following criteria for assessing applications for door alterations/replacements in 
unlisted buildings where an Article 4 Direction is in place:

1. Use of purpose made or high quality factory made timber doors and frames.     
 Planning permission not required if doors and frames are an exact copy, 7like-for-like,    
 or replica.

2. Applications to replace inappropriate modern doors.  Approve subject to choice of style of    
 replacement door. The replacement should match the appearance of      
 traditional doors as far as possible.

3. Applications to replace traditional timber doors with a standard composite door and    
 frame (i.e. modern factory manufactured doors using modern materials) will be     
 refused. 

4. Leaded lights replicated by plastic or applied lead strips will be refused.  

7 ‘like-for-like” means the same materials, details of construction, dimensions, opening method, decorative finish and details as 

existing including glazing type and fixing of glass (e.g. putty).  The original proportions and glazing pattern must also be respected.

27

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 122



12 Traditional Windows in Gravesham

Within the borough there are generally three types of traditional windows, sliding sashes, side hung 
casements and post 1920/30s metal and timber casement windows.

Up until the early 18th century windows had their frames exposed, finished with an architrave surround and 
set flush with the outer face of the wall. By 1709 The London Building Act required the window frame to be 
set back four inches with the frame still fully exposed.  The 1774 Act required the frame to be hidden behind 
the reveal for fire protection.  

Although this legislation came into being in 1709 it took some time before everyone complied with the 
legislation and indeed the farther away you travelled from London the less likely the compliance would be 
carried out with haste. The Borough’s rural and urban conservation areas still have good examples of early 
frames set flush with the wall.

12.1 Sash Windows

Introduced into Britain in the 17th century, sashes remained the most common window type in new 
buildings up until the early 20th century. Sash windows are almost always made from softwood, commonly 
pine, hardwood frames such as oak can be found in grander houses throughout the country.

Double-hung sash consist of two glazed frames or sashes, the front sash is suspended in the top half of the 
frame and the rear sash forms the bottom half.  Sashes are counter balanced by lead or cast iron weight 
suspended in hollow sections of the window framework, allowing the windows to move up and down. 

Single-hung has the upper frame fixed directly to the frame, with counter weights or pegs used to hold the 
bottom window open. 

Yorkshire sash has one fixed sash and one sliding sash that move horizontally. This type of sash is usually 
found on small farmhouses or cottages.

28

Timber sash windows

Leaded light timber Yorkshire sash

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 123



Glazing patterns were usually 12 pane sash windows, six panes over six (in some cases individual panes are 
broader than they are tall) and divided three panes wide to four panes high.  Advances in the manufacture 
of glass saw the production of larger panes, so the total number of panes and glazing bars decreased 
from those in the early Georgian period.  By the mid-19th century the use of plate glass meant that sash 
windows were often divided into four panes and eventually two.  Larger panes meant that sashes needed to 
be strengthened and short upward or downward projections called ‘horns’ were added to the corner of the 
sash meeting rail to retain stability and are a common feature on Victorian sash windows.

12.2 Casement 

A hinged window usually hung on the vertical and latched shut with an iron catch or held open with an iron 
stay. Originally seen with multiple panes per window, advances in glass manufacture saw the number of 
panes often reduced to two with one horizontal glazing bar. 

Casements were the common form of window before the introduction of sash windows in the 17th 
century.  Around the beginning of the Victorian period, casement frames were usually made of timber, 
although examples of leaded wrought iron framed windows, with stone mullions, still exist in the Borough.  
Casements can also be found elaborated with Gothick arches or smaller panes and date from the mid-19th 
century.  A top hung casement, the hinging of a small section of window to provide a small top opener, was 
uncommon until the 20th century when the manufacture of galvanized steel windows became popular.

12.3 Leaded Light 

Leaded light windows are found in buildings from different periods and consist of multiple panes of glass set 
in lead bars (cames) which hold the structure together. When light falls on a traditional leaded light, whatever 
period it is from, it creates a multi-faceted effect that cannot be replicated with strips of lead stuck on the 
surface of large panes of glass or sandwiched between double glazing. The repair of leaded lights is a 
specialist task and should be undertaken with care and caution by a reputable company. 

29

Cast iron leaded light casement windows

Timber casement windows

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 124



12.4 Dormer Windows 

A dormer is a frame projecting from a pitched roof.  Typical construction is a roof, two sides (cheeks) and a 
window.  Most dormers project above the line of the pitched roof although they can be recessed or semi-
recessed.  Dormer windows can consist of casement or sashes and should be maintained as other windows 
in your property.  Secondary glazing could prove difficult due to the size or lack of cills. 

12.5 Cast Iron 

Cast Iron windows in former industrial properties in Gravesend Town Centre industrial and institutional 
building have a variety of window types, depending on their age and function.  Original windows should 
be retained wherever practicable, although flexibility on window design may be acceptable to allow for 
conversions.  By retaining original windows and doors in buildings that have changed use we preserve the 
heritage of the area.

Cast iron  windows - High Street Conservation Area

Dormer windows - Shorne Conservation Area

30

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 125



31

Glossary

Article 4 Direction
A Direction removing some or all permitted development rights, for example within a conservation area or 
curtilage of a listed building. Article 4 Directions are made by local planning authorities.

Came 
A divider bar used between small pieces of glass to make a larger glazed panel. An H-shaped came holds 
two pieces of glass together and U-shaped sections are used for borders. 

Conservation Areas
Areas of special architectural or historic interest, designated under the Planning (Listed Building & 
Conservation Areas) Act 1991, the character, appearance or setting of which it is desirable to preserve or 
enhance. Permitted development rights may be restricted in these areas.

Character
Refers to the features of a Conservation Area or Listed Building, including the appearance of any place in 
terms of its landscape or the layout of streets and open spaces, giving it a distinct identity.

Curtilage
Curtilage can be defined, for the purposes of the listed building legislation, as an area of land around a 
listed building within which other buildings pre dating July 1948 may potentially be considered listed. Not all 
buildings will have a curtilage. With those that do there will be cases where the extent of the curtilage will be 
clear (such as a garden boundary) but in others it may not be as clear each case will always be a question of 
fact and degree. A decision taker may take the following factors into account in assessing the matter: i) the 
physical layout of the listed building and the building; ii) their ownership past and present; and their use or 
function past and present specifically whether the building was ancillary (i.e subordinate to and dependent 
on) the purposes of  the listed building at the date of listing.

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 126



Dry Rot
Fungal timber decay occurring in poorly ventilated conditions in buildings, resulting in cracking and 
powdering of the wood.

Glazing bars
A ridged supporting strip between adjacent panes of glass.

Halls Adjoining Houses
A pair of attached houses where the front doors are situated next to each other.

Like for like
The same materials, details of construction, dimensions, opening method, decorative finish and details as 
existing including glazing type and fixing of glass (e.g. putty).  The original proportions and glazing pattern 
should always be respected.  

Listed Building Consent
Consent required for the demolition, in whole or in part of a listed building, or for any works of alteration or 
extension that would affect the character of the building.

Listed Buildings
Listed buildings are graded I, II* or II with grade I being the highest.  Listing includes the interior as well as 
the exterior of the buildings also any buildings or permanent structures, e.g. wall, within its curtilage.  Historic 
England is responsible for listing buildings in England.

Permitted Development
Nationwide planning permission to carry out certain limited forms of development without the need to 
make a planning application. These provisions are granted under the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. It should be noted that local planning authorities have the 
power to remove permitted development rights through planning conditions or Article 4 Directions.

32

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 127



33

Planning Consultant
A company or individual that specialises in providing advice on planning matters.

Recessed Porch
Where the front door sits further back than the rest of the house’s front wall with a protruding first floor room 
above and to the side.

Wet Rot
State of decay in timber caused by various fungi affecting timber with high moisture content.

Wood boring insects
A worm or larva that breeds in or bores into wood. 

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 128



Further reading

Dormer windows Historic England advice on insulating dormer windows

Energy efficiency and historic buildings draught-proofing windows and doors. Historic England

Secondary glazing. Historic England 

The Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings (SPAB) useful information on a wide range of topics 
regarding the maintenance of your property, including woodworm.

https://www.spab.org.uk/advice/timber-windows

Https://www.Spab.Org.Uk/advice/technical-qas/technical-qa-8-metal-windows/ 

Https://www.Spab.Org.Uk/advice/technical-qas/technical-qa-5-old-doors/ 

Traditional windows their care, repair and upgrading. Historic England

Wrought iron and steel windows  by Eleni Makri. Cathedral Communications Ltd (GBC does not formally 
‘approve’ or ‘recommend’ the companies listed within this link)

Http://www.Thebrooking.Org.Uk/  National Collection of Arcitectural Details

The Georgian Group  English and Welsh conservation organisation created to campaign for the preservation 
of historic buildings and planned landscapes of the 18th and early 19th century

The Twentieth Century Society  safeguarding the heritage of architecture and design in Britain from 1914 
onwards.

The Victorian Society charity championing Victorian and Edwardian buildings in England and wales

34

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 129

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/eehb-insulating-dormer-windows/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/eehb-draught-proofing-windows-doors/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/eehb-secondary-glazing-windows/
https://www.spab.org.uk/
https://www.spab.org.uk/advice/timber-windows
https://www.spab.org.uk/advice/metal-windows
https://www.spab.org.uk/advice/metal-windows
https://www.spab.org.uk/advice/doors
http://Traditional windows their care, repair and upgrading
https://www.buildingconservation.com/articles/iron-steel-windows/iron-steel-windows.htm
http://www.thebrooking.org.uk/
https://georgiangroup.org.uk/
https://c20society.org.uk/about-us/
https://www.victoriansociety.org.uk/


35

Policy Background

• NPPF 12 Achieving well-designed places para 124-132
• NPPF 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment para 184-202
• Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the Act) 
• Policies CS19: Development and Design Principles and CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment 

as detailed in our Local Plan Core Strategy adopted September 2014 
• Gravesham’s Conservation Areas Appraisals and Management Plans 
• Historic England Guidance Notes

Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

P
age 130

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/gravesham-local-plan-core-strategy


Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

A

ED

CB

Window A not to be replaced, not 
included in applicationA

B Window B to be replaced, included in 
application

C Window C not to be replaced, not 
included in application

D Window D to be replaced, included in 
application

E Window E to be replaced, included in 
application

Front elevation of  - Property address and Planning ref:

36

Appendix - Photographic evidence for planning application

Front elevation insert property address and planning reference

P
age 131



Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

37

Width

height 

Width

height 

Width

height 

Width

height 

Width

height 

A CB

D E

Front elevation of Property address and planning refFront elevation insert property address and planning reference

P
age 132



Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

38

F
G

H

Side elevation (please state North/South/East/West) 

Window F cill to be replaced,
included in applicationF

G Window G to be replaced, included in 
application

H Window H to be replaced, included in 
application

Side elevation (N/S/E/W) insert property address and planning reference

P
age 133



Conservation Areas - Windows and Doors design guidance                      Spring 2020

39

G H

Width Width

height 

height 

Width

F

height 

Existing stone cill to be 
replaced with item X from 
manufacutures catalogue

Side elevation (N/S/E/W)  of Property address and planning ref

Side elevation (N/S/E/W) insert property address and planning reference

Existing stone cill to be 
replaced with item (no.) 
from manufacturers 
catalogue

P
age 134



P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Do I live in a  
Conservation Area?

You can check via Conservation Area Maps on 
the Conservation and Heritage pages on our 
website.

I am in a Conservation 
Area, so do I need planning 
permission to make 
changes?

Yes, if you are changing the external 
appearance of your home, for example 
replacing or altering existing windows and 
doors. If in any doubt, contact the Council’s 
planning team to check at planning.admin@
gravesham.gov.uk – do not just assume you do 
not need planning permission.

My property is a Listed 
building, what difference 
does that make?

You will require Listed Building consent to 
replace or alter internal and external windows 
and doors.

How do I apply for the 
necessary permissions?

The council can help with pre-application 
advice. For details and informationon how to 
apply for advice and planning permission, visit 
our website.

We are consulting on our draft Window and 
Door Design Guidance. The consultation will run 
for 6 weeks until 17:00 on Friday 13 March 2020

LOCAL
PLAN

G R A V E S H A MCONSERVATION 
AREAS 
Windows and Doors 
changes 
and  
design 
guidance

Page 137

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-areas/conservation-area-maps
mailto:planning.admin%40gravesham.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:planning.admin%40gravesham.gov.uk?subject=
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/overview


Please do:
• Maintain windows and doors to extend their life. Our Windows and Doors Guidance 

includes a maintenance plan.

• Consider alternatives such as draught proofing, secondary glazing and slim profile 
double glazing/low-e single glazing in existing frames. This will help improve the 
energy efficiency of your home.

• Find a reputable joiner/metal worker to carry out a condition survey of your windows 
and doors . This is required when applying for planning permission if you are 
considering installing replacements.

• Retain historic glazing and metalwork where possible, for example letterboxes, door 
knockers, etc.

• Pay attention to the quality of the work and materials you are considering and ensure they 
meet the requirements of the Windows and Doors Guidance. These also apply to the 
replacement of non-historic windows in non-traditional materials in an historic building.

• Remember that each element of an historic window works in harmony with the 
others. All elements need to be considered in your application.

• Refer to our validation checklist to ensure your application includes all the necessary 
information.

Please don’t:
• Put off repairs. Windows and doors are rarely unrepairable and repairs usually cost 

less than full replacement.

• Assume replacement is your only option.

• Submit a survey or estimate from a window/door installation company with your 
planning application as evidence that your windows and and doors need replacing.

• Consider modern replica glazing, glazing bars, or fittings in inappropriate materials.

CONSERVATION AREAS 

4

8

LOCAL
PLAN

G R A V E S H A M

Keep in contact
Please feel free to contact the Planning Policy Team at:
planning.policy@gravesham.gov.uk

Page 138



Draft Designating Local Green Spaces Consultation

Introduction

Gravesham Borough Council recognises the importance of green spaces to the health and 

well-being of those who live and work within the Borough. Green spaces provide a range of 

social, environmental and economic benefits including:

 Improved well-being and health

 Improved social activity and community cohesion

 More attractive places to live, work, visit and play

 Enhanced biodiversity including providing opportunities for wildlife habitats and wildlife 

corridors

 Providing opportunities for climate change adaptation and mitigation especially in 

urban areas, e.g. flood mitigation, reducing rain water runoff, carbon stores through 

planting additional trees and shrubs, etc. 

The Council is seeking residents of the Borough and other stakeholders to nominate 

potential sites for Local Green Space designation, and to comment on the criteria that will be 

used to assess these nominations for formal designation through the emerging Local Plan.  

Background

The National Planning Policy Framework makes provision for the designation of land as a 

Local Green Space through the preparation or revision of local and neighbourhood plans1.  

This designation is intended to be a means by which communities can identify and protect 

green areas that are of particular importance to them. 

The National Planning Policy Framework does not define what it means by the term ‘green 

space’ although the glossary does include a definition of ‘open space’ as:

Open space: All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of 

water (such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer important 

opportunities for sport and recreation and can act as a visual amenity.

The National Planning Policy Framework advises that the Local Green Space designation 

should only be used where the local green space meets the following criteria:

1 See NPPF 2019 paragraphs 99 – 101 at 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf 

Page 139

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf


 It is in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;

 It is demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local 

significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational 

value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and

 It is local in character and not an extensive tract of land.

The National Planning Policy Framework goes on to advice that once designated, policies 

for managing development within a Local Green Space should be consistent with policies 

applying to Green Belts.  This would stop inappropriate development within a Local Green 

Space unless justified as an exception under policy or where very special circumstances 

exist that clearly outweigh harm to the designated Local Green Space.

Additional guidance on Local Green Space designation

Planning Practice Guidance2 issued by the Government sets out further advice on the 

process of designating Local Green Spaces, the sorts of land to which it could apply and its 

relationship to the wider objectives of the planning system.  This guidance is reproduced 

below as it relates to Gravesham.

What is Local Green Space designation?

Local Green Space designation is a way to provide special protection against development 

for green areas of particular importance to local communities.

How is land designated as Local Green Space?

Local Green Space designation is for use in Local Plans or Neighbourhood Plans. These 

plans can identify on a map (‘designate’) green areas for special protection. Anyone who 

wants an area to be designated as Local Green Space should contact the local planning 

authority about the contents of its local plan or get involved in neighbourhood planning.

How does Local Green Space designation relate to development?

Designating any Local Green Space will need to be consistent with local planning for 

sustainable development in the area. In particular, plans must identify sufficient land in 

suitable locations to meet identified development needs and the Local Green Space 

designation should not be used in a way that undermines this aim of plan making.

2 See https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-
local-green-space#Local-Green-Space-designation 

Page 140

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space#Local-Green-Space-designation
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space#Local-Green-Space-designation


What if land has planning permission for development?

Local Green Space designation will rarely be appropriate where the land has planning 

permission for development. Exceptions could be where the development would be 

compatible with the reasons for designation or where planning permission is no longer 

capable of being implemented.

Can all communities benefit from Local Green Space?

Local Green Spaces may be designated where those spaces are demonstrably special to 

the local community, whether in a village or in a neighbourhood in a town or city.

What if land is already protected by Green Belt?

If land is already protected by Green Belt policy, then consideration will need to be given to 

whether any additional benefit would be gained by designating such land as Local Green 

Space as well. It will be the exception not the norm for land to be protected through both  

Green Belt and Local Green Space designations. 

What if land is already protected by designations such as National Park, Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty, Site of Special Scientific Interest, Scheduled Monument or conservation 

area?

Different types of designations are intended to achieve different purposes. If land is already 

protected by designation, then consideration should be given to whether any additional local 

benefit would be gained by designation as Local Green Space.

What about new communities / developments ?

New residential areas and developments may include green areas that were planned as part 

of the development. Such green areas could be designated as Local Green Space if they are 

demonstrably special and hold particular local significance.

What types of green area can be identified as Local Green Space?

The green area will need to meet the criteria set out in the National Planning Policy 

Framework (see above). Whether to designate land is a matter for the local planning 
authority and ultimately requires the approval of Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government. Examples of green areas include land where sports 

pavilions, boating lakes or structures such as war memorials are located, allotments, or 

urban spaces that provide a tranquil oasis.

How close does a Local Green Space need to be to the community it serves?

Page 141



The proximity of a Local Green Space to the community it serves will depend on local 

circumstances, including why the green area is seen as special, but it must be reasonably 

close. For example, if public access is a key factor, then the site would normally be within 

easy walking distance of the community served.

How big can a Local Green Space be?

There are no hard and fast rules about how big a Local Green Space can be because places 

are different and a degree of judgment will inevitably be needed. However, the National 

Planning Policy Framework is clear that Local Green Space designation should only be used 

where the green area concerned is not an extensive tract of land. Consequently, blanket 

designation of open countryside adjacent to settlements will not be appropriate. In particular, 

designation should not be proposed as a ‘back door’ way to try to achieve what would 

amount to a new area of Green Belt by another name.

Is there a minimum area?

Provided land can meet the criteria set out in the National Planning Policy Framework there 

is no lower size limit for a Local Green Space.

What about public access?

Land being considered for designation as Local Green Space can be publicly accessible or 

have no public access at all. Land without public access could be considered for designation 

due to the land being valued because for its importance in terms of wildlife, historic 

significance and/or beauty.

Designation does not in itself confer any rights of public access over what exists at present. 

Any additional access would be a matter for separate negotiation with land owners, whose 

legal rights must be respected.

What about public rights of way?

Areas that may be considered for designation as Local Green Space may be crossed by 

public rights of way. There is no need to designate linear corridors as Local Green Space 

simply to protect rights of way, which are already protected under other legislation.

Does land need to be in public ownership?

A Local Green Space does not need to be in public ownership. However, the local planning 

authority (in the case of local plan making) or the qualifying body (in the case of 

neighbourhood plan making) are advised to contact landowners at an early stage about 

proposals to designate any part of their land as Local Green Space. Landowners will have 

opportunities to make representations in respect of proposals in a draft plan.

Page 142



Would designation place any restrictions or obligations on landowners?

Designating a green area as Local Green Space would give it protection consistent with that 

in respect of Green Belt, but otherwise there are no new restrictions or obligations on 

landowners.

Who will manage Local Green Space?

Management of land designated as Local Green Space will remain the responsibility of its 

owner. If the features that make a green area special and locally significant are to be 

conserved, how it will be managed in the future is likely to be an important consideration. 

Local communities can consider how, with the landowner’s agreement, they might be able to 

get involved, perhaps in partnership with interested organisations that can provide advice or 

resources.

Can a Local Green Space be registered as an Asset of Community Value?3

Those proposing land to be designated as Local Green Space can nominate such land or 

buildings to the Council for listing as an Asset of Community Value. Once land or buildings 

are nominated to the Council, the Council will decide if the nomination meets the 

Government requirements for liisting as an asset of community value. The statutory rules 

about assets of community value can be found in sections 87 – 103 of the Localism Act 2011 

and in The Assets of Community Value (England) Regulations 2012.

Assessing whether land should be designated as a Local Green Space through 
the Local Plan process.

The Council is seeking to designate Local Green Spaces through the emerging Local Plan. 

However, we can only do so a Local Green Space meets the requirements of the National 

Planning Policy Framework as set out in the introduction to this consultation document.  

Regard also has to be had to the additional guidance on Local Green Space Designation 

contained in national Planning Practice Guidance.

As the Local Planning Authority for Gravesham, we will consider all sites submitted to the 

Council for local green space designations and those found to meet the requirements will be 

3 The Localism Act 2011 introduced the ‘Community Right to Bid’ in relation to what are referred to as Assets 
of Community Value. For guidance on this provision see - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-right-to-bid-non-statutory-advice-note-for-local-
authorities 

Page 143

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111526293
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111526293
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-right-to-bid-non-statutory-advice-note-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-right-to-bid-non-statutory-advice-note-for-local-authorities


published as part of a Regulation 18 Local Plan consultation for further comment at a later 

date.

A policy relating to Local Green Spaces will be included in emerging policy. Designating land 

as Local Green Space should:

 Be consistent with national and local policies, including planning of sustainable 

development

 Complement investment in sufficient homes, jobs and other essential services

To assist in this process, the Council is proposing to use the following criteria in assessing 

candidate sites put forward by local communities or their representatives.  Those proposing 

sites for Local Green Space designation will need to provide evidence as to why the Council 

should do this and upon which it can base its decision. This is also an opportunity for local 

stakeholders to provide feedback on the following criteria via the attached questionnaire. 

Criterion 1: There is no current planning permission for the site (in whole or in part) 

which once implemented would undermine the designation of the site as a Local Green 

Space. 

The designation of a site as a Local Green Space would not normally be appropriate where 

there is an existing planning permission for development.  An exception to this would be 

where a site is sufficiently large to accommodate such a designation as part of the proposed 

development or where planning permission is no longer capable of being implemented.

Criterion 2: The proposed Local Green Space is not land allocated for development as 
part of a Local or Neighbourhood Plan or required to meet the Borough’s 
development needs and is consistent with the objective of achieving sustainable 
development through the planning process, complementing investment in the delivery of 

sufficient homes, jobs and other essential services.

It would not be appropriate to designate an area as a Local Green Space where it is 

allocated or proposed for development in a Local or Neighbourhood Plan unless it can be 

shown that such a designation is consistent with such an allocation or proposal and the 

Local Green Space could be incorporated within the site as part of the development.

Criterion 3: The Local Green Space designation would provide protection additional to 
any existing protective policies and its special characteristics could not be protected 
through any other reasonable and more appropriate means.

Page 144



It is only appropriate to designate a Local Green Space already protected by another 

designation where it would provide additional and justifiable benefit to the community.  This 

accords with advice set out in national Planning Practice Guidance.

Criterion 4: The site proposed for designation as a Local Green Space is local in 
character and not an extensive tract of land. 

Whilst national policy and guidance does not set out precisely what an ‘extensive tract of 

land’ means, as a matter of planning judgment, such areas should be by definition ‘local’ and 

be fairly well contained and defined by edges so as not to be ‘extensive’.

Criterion 5: The proposed Local Green Space should be within close proximity to the 
community it serves.

National planning policy states that an area to be designated as a Local Green Space 

should be in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves.  Whether or not a site is 

in ‘close proximity’ is a matter of planning judgement based on local circumstances and why 

the green area is considered to be special.  If public access is a key factor, then the site 

would normally be within easy and safe walking distance of the community served and not 

severed from it due to changes in levels or presence of other significant barriers to 

movement.  Sites should feel part of the local area and should not stand isolated from the 

communities they serve.

Criterion 6: The site’s special characteristics and any use, activity or function which 
forms part of the case for designation as a Local Green Space should be capable of 
being maintained and managed so as to endure beyond the period of the Local Plan.

To accord with the requirements of national planning policy.  The end of the Local Plan 

period would normally be a minimum 15 years from the date of adoption.  This would be in 

the region of 2036/7 if the document is adopted following examination around 2021/22.

Criterion 7: The site to be designated as a Local Green Space should be demonstrably 
special to the local community it serves and hold a particular local significance that 
community.

Page 145



To accord with the requirements of national planning policy. To determine whether this 

criterion is met, robust and convincing evidence must exist to satisfy at least one of the 

following supporting evidence below is met.

i. The proposed Local Green Space is of particular local significance because of its 

beauty.

This would include an assessment of the visual attractiveness and aesthetic 

value of the proposed Local Green Space and the contribution it makes towards 

townscape, landscape, character and/or setting of the settlement of which it 

forms part.  Features on the site such as woodland, specimen or ancient/veteran 

trees or water could also contribute to the overall value of a site, as could the 

presence of important public views or vistas made available by the existence of 

the site.  The site should contribute significantly to local identity and character 

and plays an important role in defining the sense of place of the area.

ii. The proposed Local Green Space is of particular importance because of its own 

historical significance or the contribution it makes to the significance of heritage 

assets as part of their setting.

This would involve an assessment of whether the proposed Local Green Space 

itself could be viewed of local significance because of its own historical 

importance to the local community.  This may be because:

• There are recognised heritage assets on the site;

• The site has well established and documented links with an historic person or 

event; or

• The site has retained historic features or boundaries that contribute to sense 

of place and an appreciation or enjoyment of the historic environment.

In addition, any contribution the site makes towards the significance of heritage 

assets as part of their setting would also be a consideration.

iii. The proposed Local Green Space is of particular local significance because of its 

recreational value.

This would involve an assessment of the significance of the proposed Local 

Green Space for recreation and whether or not it provides an important asset for 

the local community pursuing a particular activity or range of activities.  Although 

most green and open spaces will fall within this category and be of recreational 

value, the aim is to identify why a particular area offers something unique or 

Page 146



special that could not realistically be accommodated on the sites that would 

otherwise serve the local community.

National guidance states that there is no need to designate linear corridors as 

Local Green Spaces simply to protect public rights of way, as they are already 

protected under other legislation.

iv. The proposed space is of particular local significance because of its tranquillity.

This would involve an assessment of whether the site can be considered of 

importance to the local community because of the tranquillity it provides, offering 

a place for quiet reflection and peaceful enjoyment.  A proposed Local Green 

Space would need to demonstrate the following type of qualities:

• A feeling of remoteness or quiet contemplation

• A general inability to see man-made structures such as roads, power lines or 

excessive lighting

• Has a general lack of noise from vehicles or industry 

Within urban areas, the proposed Local Green Space should be sufficiently 

distinct from its surroundings to offer a tranquil experience that would otherwise 

be lacking, contributing significantly to sense of place.

v. The proposed Local Green Space is of particular local significance because of its 

richness of wildlife.

In assessing whether the site can be considered of importance to the local 

community because of its richness of wildlife, it would as a minimum need to 

relate to one of the following:

• Be designated for its wildlife value (e.g. Local Wildlife Site or site identified of 

similar value)

• Include a combination of important landscape features such as ancient 

hedgerows, ancient woodland, aged or veteran trees, pockets of woodland 

and wildflower meadow

• Show a unique and/or diverse range of wildlife.  This would need to be 

evidenced by ecological surveys and/or expert advice.

Page 147



Areas that the Council is unlikely to designate as Local Green Space given 
national policy and guidance

The designation of a Local Green Space should not be seen as a way of blocking 

development, but rather as a way of identifing green spaces that are important to local 

communities and worthy of retention because of their importance and special qualities.

As noted above, the National Planning Policy Framework is quite clear that the designation 

of any Local Green Space should be consistent with the objective of achieving sustainable 

development through the planning process and complement investment in the delivery of 

sufficient homes, jobs and other essential services.

Designated Local Green Spaces are also required to be capable of enduring beyond the 

Local Plan period and there are two circumstances where this is unlikely to be the case.  

These are:

 School and college playing fields – in order to address future needs for school places 

there may be a need to reconfigure the arrangement of school buildings and playing 

fields to accommodate new or improved accommodation.  National planning policy 

states that Councils should give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter 

schools.  It is arguable therefore, that educational sites should not be designated as 

Local Green Spaces.

 Highway land/roadside verges – land adjoining an existing highway is subject to a 

range of ‘Permitted Development’ rights or may also be required to bring forward 

important local highway schemes.  Under these circumstances, it would be difficult to 

demonstrate that the green space has the potential to endure.  National guidance 

also states that there is no need to designate linear corridors as Local Green Space 

simply to protect rights of way, which are already protected under other legislation.

In accordance with national planning guidance, the Council is also unlikely to designate a 

site as a Local Green Space where it is already within the Green Belt.  The exception to this 

could be where there would be an additional local benefit as a result of such a designation, 

related to the reasons for the Local Green Space being created. 

Next Steps

Once the consultation period has closed, the Council will consider all submissions received 

against the assessment criteria and identify candidate Local Green Spaces that can be 

taken forward as part of the emerging Local Plan.  

Before doing this, the Council will endeavour to contact the owners of the candidate Local 

Green Space sites to seek their views on designation.  However, it should be noted that 

Page 148



there is nothing to prevent the Council from seeking to designate any site in public or private 

ownership where the criteria are met in accordance with national planning policy and it is 

properly justified.

The emerging Local Plan will be subject of further public consultation at the appropriate time, 

with the next consultation being a Regulation 18 Stage 2 Consultation. As part of this 

consultation, local residents and other stakeholders will be able to give their views on 

candidate sites that the Council has identified as meeting the criteria for allocation as part of 

the emerging plan. 

Ultimately, any such decision to designate or not designate a Local Green Space will be 

subject to independent examination by a Planning Inspector appointed by the Secretary of 

State, to which further representations may be made in accordance with due process.

Page 149



Appendix 1: Nominate a site to be considered by the Council for the Local 
Green Space designation

Site Details Response

Description of site

Address of site (Please attach location plan on an Ordnance 

Survey base clearly showing site boundaries, access to the 

site and area that the site will serve.)

Site area (ha)

Current use of the site

Owner of the site

Is the owner of this application?

If yes, does the owner support this application?

Site Assessment Criteria

Criterion 1: Does the proposed site benefit from an existing 

planning permission?

Criterion 2: Is the proposed site a Local Plan or Neighbourhood 

Plan allocation or proposed site?

Criterion 3: Is the proposed site protected under existing policies or 

legislation?

Criterion 4: Does the proposed site have clearly defined edges?

Does the proposed site feel local in character and scale?

Criterion 5: How close is the proposed site to the community it 

serves? (This probably speaks for itself – you may wish to point if 

you live close by and how frequently you or other you know use the 

proposed site.)

Page 150



Criterion 6: Will the proposed site endure beyond the emerging 

plan period?

Criterion 7: What evidence is there to demonstrate that the space 

has a particular local significance with respect to at least one of the 

following aspects:

Beauty - Please explain why you think the site is beautiful for 

example you may wish to comment on the wild nature of the site, 

the number of trees, wildlife, etc 

Historic Significance - You may wish to comment on the historic 

use of the land by the community, links with a historic person or 

event, heritage features, etc.

Recreational Value - You may wish to comment on the level of 

recreational activities undertaken at the site e.g. walking, 

community walks, bird watching, etc and how this affects health 

and well-being.

Tranquillity - You may wish to comment on the tranquillity of the 

site and how this differs from other locations within the local area 

and wider Borough. 

Richness of its wildlife - Please comment on any wildlife you are 

aware of on the proposed site.

Page 151



Appendix 2: Assessment criteria comment form

Criterion: (Please select 1-7)

Comments: (Please provide any 

comments you may have on this 

criterion)

Page 152



DRAFT

Residential1 Extensions / Alterations 
Design Guide

Supplementary Planning Document 

May 2020

1 To be renamed: Householder and all images in document to be updated and made consistent.

Page 153



Table of Contents

Table of Contents ...............................................................................................................................................2

1. Introduction................................................................................................................................................4

2. Why do we need design guidance? .............................................................................................................4

3. Aims of this guidance..................................................................................................................................5

4. Status of this guidance................................................................................................................................5

5. Building Regulations...................................................................................................................................6

6. Party Wall Act.............................................................................................................................................6

7. What constraints could affect your plans to extend / alter your house? ......................................................6

Conservation Areas........................................................................................................................................................7

Listed Buildings..............................................................................................................................................................7

Green Belt .....................................................................................................................................................................8

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty.............................................................................................................................8

8. Is planning permission required? ................................................................................................................9

Pre-application Service ..................................................................................................................................................9

What you need to provide with your application ...........................................................................................................9

Enforcement ................................................................................................................................................................10

9. Key Principles............................................................................................................................................11

Character and design quality........................................................................................................................................11

Overshadowing............................................................................................................................................................12

Privacy .........................................................................................................................................................................12

Overbearing.................................................................................................................................................................13

Architectural detail ......................................................................................................................................................13

Materials .....................................................................................................................................................................13

Gardens and trees........................................................................................................................................................13

10. Extensions and Alterations ....................................................................................................................15

Rear Extensions ...........................................................................................................................................................15
Single Storey Rear Extensions ..............................................................................................................................................................15
Two Storey and First Floor Rear Extensions.........................................................................................................................................17

Side Extensions ............................................................................................................................................................18
Single Storey Side.................................................................................................................................................................................18
Two Storey Side....................................................................................................................................................................................19

Extensions to houses on Corner Plots...........................................................................................................................21

Front Extensions & Porches..........................................................................................................................................22

Roof Extensions ...........................................................................................................................................................24
Side roof extensions.............................................................................................................................................................................24
Rear Roof Extensions ...........................................................................................................................................................................26

Front Roof Extensions ..................................................................................................................................................28

Page 154



Doors & Windows ........................................................................................................................................................29

Outbuildings & Garages ...............................................................................................................................................30
Outbuildings.........................................................................................................................................................................................30
Garages ................................................................................................................................................................................................30

Materials & Details ......................................................................................................................................................30

Front Gardens & Parking ..............................................................................................................................................31

Front Garden Boundary Treatments.............................................................................................................................32

Solar Panels .................................................................................................................................................................33

11. GLOSSARY .............................................................................................................................................34

12. Appendix 1 -  45 and 25 degree rules .....................................................................................................36

Page 155



1.Introduction

1.1. Extensions and alterations to a home can be an economical way of ensuring a home can meet a 

household’s present and future needs. In seeking to meet such needs it is important to ensure that any 

extensions or alterations to a home are well designed, well-built and sympathetic to their surroundings. 

By doing so we can ensure that there are no adverse effects on the original house, immediate 

neighbours, the local view of the street, as well as the character and appearance of the local area. 

1.2. It is not always possible for a house to be extended or altered to meet the requirements of a household. 

For example in certain instances the proposal may be out of scale and proportion with the original house, 

their maybe insufficient space around the original house to accommodate an extension without 

detrimentally impacting the availability of private amenity space, whilst in other instances an extension 

may create unacceptable levels of overlooking or overshadowing of neighbouring properties. 

1.3. Within the Gravesham there is great variety in the type, style, age and quality of housing. Many areas 

within the Borough have a distinct character which with the quality of the buildings, their layout and 

landscaping have become much cherished. Due to the nature of the Borough it is not possible for this 

guidance to cover every possible scenario, the guidance does however encapsulate what the Council will 

take into account when judging whether or not an application is acceptable in planning terms. Only in 

rare and in a limited number of instances will there be justified planning reasons for departing from this 

guidance, for example when an innovative design solution is put forward. 

1.4. The document is intended to provide design guidance on extensions and alterations, for use by 

applicants, planning agents, architects, members of the public affected by such proposals, elected 

Members of the Council and others such as the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation.

2.Why do we need design guidance?

2.1. Planning applications need to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are other material considerations, the development 

plan should be the starting point.

2.2. The Development Plan for Gravesham currently comprises the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and 

Policies Map, September 2014; Saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review, November 1994; 

and the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan, July 2016.

2.3. This guidance document builds upon a number of the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy policies 

(September 2014), but in particular Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles. There are a 

Page 156



number of other planning policy and guidance documents which are material considerations, including 

the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF), the National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), the 

National Design Guide and other documents adopted by the Council such as Supplementary Planning 

Documents. When making a planning application to the Council, it is important that you consider the 

requirements of all relevant documents that form the Borough’s Development Plan and material 

considerations. 

2.4. The NPPF identifies that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 

sustainable development, and that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development.  A good 

development should function well, be visually attractive, be sympathetic to local character and history 

and help establish or maintain a strong sense of place.  It also requires that “Permission should be refused 

for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character 

and quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any local design standards or style 

guides in plans or supplementary planning documents”

2.5. The National Design Guide establishes the principles of good design and sets out the components which 

should be used for all developments. These components are the layout, the form and scale, the 

appearance, landscape, materials and detailing.

3.Aims of this guidance

3.1. The main aims of the guide are to:

● Expand on planning policies set out in the Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework

● Raise awareness of the value of good design and how it can benefit a home that is being extended or 
altered

● Protect the residential amenity of neighbours and enhance the local built environment

4.Status of this guidance

4.1. This guide will have the status of a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and has been prepared in 

line with the requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and associated regulations 

and guidance on Supplementary Planning Documents. Supplementary Planning Documents are used 

together with the Development Plan and other material considerations to guide decisions on planning 

applications by the Council. 

4.2. Supplementary Planning Documents adopted by the Council are available on the Council’s website at 

www.gravesham.gov.uk/localplan 

Page 157

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/localplan


5.Building Regulations

5.1. The majority of extensions and some alterations to a property, regardless of whether or not they require 

planning permission, will require Building Control consent. Planning permission and Building Regulations 

consent are two separate requirements, obtaining planning permission does not mean that you have 

obtained Building Regulations consent, and vice versa. For further details regarding Building Regulations 

consent please visit the Council’s website at https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-

building/building-regulations/overview .

6.Party Wall Act 

6.1. If you intend to carry out work on, or within close proximity to, your neighbour’s boundary or party walls, 

you will need to consider the requirements of the Party Wall Act. This is designed to resolve disputes, 

which may arise between neighbours when building work is carried out. The basic requirement of the Act 

is that you notify your neighbour of the intended work. For further advice and guidance please visit the 

Government’s website at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/party-wall-etc-act-1996-guidance

Please note The Party Wall Act is not administered by the Council and is a private matter between you 

and your neighbour(s).

7.What constraints could affect your plans to extend / alter 

your house?

7.1. When planning permission is required it is important to understand the constraints on your property that 

may affect the acceptability of your proposal in line with the Council’s Development Plan, this guidance 

applies to all proposals for residential extensions and alterations. It is recommended that you seek pre-

application advice before progressing with your proposal (see Paragraph 8.5).

7.2. This is particularly important, if your property is a listed building or lies within a conservation area 

where a particularly sensitive approach is required.  Much of the Borough lies within the Green Belt and 

the eastern half of the Borough lies within the North Kent Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  These 

designations can also affect the acceptability of your proposal to extend your property or erect a building 

in your garden.   

Page 158

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/building-regulations/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/building-regulations/overview
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/party-wall-etc-act-1996-guidance


Conservation Areas
7.3. Conservation Areas are protected for their architectural style and historic interest. The Borough’s 

Conservation areas vary in size, ranging from the Windmill Hill Conservation Area, to the much smaller 

Milton Place Conservation Area. Conservation Areas are often centred on listed buildings, but other 

features of merit, such as open spaces, trees, historic street patterns, or items of historic or 

archaeological interest may also contribute to the special character of a Conservation Area. 

7.4. Adopted Policy CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment, in line with the NPPF, and saved Policy TC3: 

Development Affecting Conservation Areas require development to preserve and enhance the character 

or appearance of a conservation area. Where located within a conservation area, the design of an 

extension and materials used for construction, must preserve or enhance the character of the area and 

compliment the original property and adjoining properties. 

7.5. In the majority of cases extensions and additions which front a highway in a conservation area will 

require planning permission, there are also greater restrictions on alterations to the rear of dwellings, 

buildings within the curtilage, alterations to windows, doors, roofs, cladding, balconies, raised platforms 

and satellite dishes.  This list is by no means exhaustive and it is always recommended that you check 

prior to undertaking works in a conservation area in order to establish if permission is required.  Some 

conservation areas have article 4 directions removing certain classes of permitted development rights. In 

these cases alterations such as replacing windows and doors or the removal of front boundary walls and 

other alterations may require planning permission. 

7.6. Conservation Area consent may also be required for the demolition of some outbuildings and boundary 

walls. For further details regarding Conservation Areas, please visit the Council’s website at 

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-

areas 

Listed Buildings 
7.7. Listed buildings are protected for their intrinsic architectural/historical importance special consideration 

needs to be given to the architectural and historical integrity of the building or groups of buildings when 

considering an extension or alteration to a property and to its setting when considering a building within 

the curtilage. 

7.8. Any internal or external alterations to a listed building will require Listed Building Consent. All extensions 

and some alterations to the external fabric or any new buildings within the curtilage of a listed building 

will also require planning permission.   Even relatively minor works, such as painting, may affect the 

Page 159

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-areas
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-areas


character of a listed building, so it is advisable to seek pre-application advice from the Council if your 

building is listed. To find out if your property is listed please visit 

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/ .

Green Belt
7.9. Much of the Borough is rural in character and the majority of the rural areas is designated as Green Belt.  

In considering extensions to residential properties in the Green Belt, the Council will require proposals to 

meet the policy requirements set out in the National Planning Policy Framework and the criteria set out 

in Saved Local Plan Policy C13: Extensions to Dwellings in the Countryside.

7.10. Residential extensions may have a significant impact on openness. A limited extension to an existing 

dwelling may not be considered to be inappropriate development in the Green Belt provided that it does 

not result in disproportionate addition over and above the size of the building as it existed on 1 July 1948 

or, if constructed after 1 July 1948, as it was originally built. Any extension which would result in a 

disproportionate addition would constitute inappropriate development which is by definition harmful to 

the Green Belt.  The Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map shows the extent of the Green Belt in Gravesham 

and is available on our website at https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/localplan . 

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty
7.11. Parts of the rural area fall within the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a designated 

exceptional landscape whose distinctive character and natural beauty are precious enough to be 

safeguarded in the national interest. The Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty offers dramatic 

views, vibrant communities, a rich historic and cultural heritage and diverse wildlife and habitats making 

it a worthy landscape for national protection.

7.12. For all proposals the prime consideration in such areas is the conservation of the natural beauty of the 

landscape. Particular attention will be given to the siting, size, form, materials and detailed design of 

proposals. Permitted Development rights are reduced in these areas in order to retain the natural 

beauty.  The Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map shows the extent of the Area of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty in Gravesham and is available on our website at https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/localplan .

Page 160

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/localplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/localplan


8.Is planning permission required?

8.1. Some extensions to a house do not always require planning permission. This is known as ‘Permitted 

Development.’ Permitted development is subject to strict criteria, for example relating to height, depth, 

positioning and materials choices. There are certain types of permitted development that also require 

‘prior approval’ from the council before work can be undertaken to your home. This is explained in more 

detail through the “Permitted development rights for householders: technical guidance document”, 

further information can also be found on the Council’s website at:

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/do-i-need-planning-permission/what-is-
permitted-development  and on the Planning Portal at 
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200125/do_you_need_permission .

8.2. The regulations relating to permitted development are complex, and subject to change from time to 

time, to avoid any confusion as to whether you house benefits from permitted development rights you 

are strongly advised to seek advice from the Council before carrying out any development by applying for 

a Certificate of Lawful Development in order to obtain a formal view from the Council. 

8.3. It should also be noted that a previous planning permission for your site may contain planning conditions 

that remove the permitted development rights for future development.

8.4. Particular care must be taken if the property is a Listed Building; within a Conservation Area, affected by 

an Article 4 Direction (these often apply in Conservation Areas, as well as to housing constructed in 

recent decades), or is in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). In these circumstances different 

regulations apply. 

Pre-application Service
8.5. The Council runs a pre-application service which provides an avenue for you to articulate your proposal 

to the Council and seek initial views from the Council before committing further resources to a project 

and applying for planning permission if required. We can help ensure your proposal meets all the 

relevant requirements which helps to avoid unrealistic expectations and delays. Further details can be 

found on our website at: https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-

planning-permission/pre-application-service 

What you need to provide with your application
8.6. The Council has recently published its Local List of Validation Requirements, which sets out the type and 

quality of drawings and information that will be required to accompany planning applications, in order to 

provide a degree of certainty and clarity to assist applicants. The requirements are proportionate to the 

nature and scale of your proposal, and following the Local List of Validation Requirements can reduce 

Page 161

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permitted-development-rights-for-householders-technical-guidance
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/do-i-need-planning-permission/what-is-permitted-development
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/do-i-need-planning-permission/what-is-permitted-development
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200125/do_you_need_permission
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/made
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/pre-application-service
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/pre-application-service


unnecessary delays in validating and determining a planning application.  The main list and explanatory 

guides are available here:

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/local-list-
of-validation-requirements

Enforcement
8.7. Failure to obtain planning permission (where it is required) can lead to enforcement action being taken 

by the Council and the possible requirement to remove any extension or alteration built without planning 

permission. Similarly, it is important to build what has been given permission. Where works are 

undertaken that do not accord with the approved drawings, enforcement action may be taken and it may 

be necessary to significantly alter or rebuild an extension in order to comply with the planning 

permission.

8.8. With regards to works carried out to a Listed Building, it is also a criminal offence (under English law) to 

carry out works that require listed building consent without such consent being obtained from the 

Council.  The offence is committed by the person who carried out the works (possibly a builder) and by 

anyone who caused them to be carried out (someone instructing a builder).  It is not a defence to say 

that the fact that the building was listed was not known.

Page 162

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/local-list-of-validation-requirements
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/local-list-of-validation-requirements


9.Key Principles

9.1. All the following design guidance must take into account.

Character and design quality
9.2. Any proposed extensions and alterations to a house should respect the original character of the existing 

dwelling, complement and correspond with the character of neighbouring properties and the local area. 

It should be noted that this does not mean an exact replication of the existing character. Your proposal 

should reflect and respect the original character and respond to its features. In order to achieve this as a 

starting point all residential extensions and alterations should be subordinate to the host 

property/building allowing the original building to remain dominant.

9.3. Matching roof styles and pitches should be used in new extensions and new extensions should normally 

not be larger, higher or forward of the existing dwelling unless they echo an existing characteristic in the 

local area. It is usually preferable for an extension to have a lower roofline and be set back behind the 

front building line. In most cases a flat-roofed extension to the front or side, or where clearly visible from 

the street, will not be supported (unless the original house has a flat roof).

9.4. In Conservation Areas, or where schemes would impact upon the setting of a Listed Building, or directly 

impact a listed building itself, the character and appearance of the area is more sensitive to new 

development.  More advice regarding heritage consideration generally, and on the specific character of 

the borough’s 23 Conservation Areas, as well as appraisals or management plans relating to specific 

areas is available on the Council’s website at

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-areas

Page 163

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-areas


Overshadowing
9.5. Extensions should not create an unreasonable amount of overshadowing of neighbouring properties. 

Account should be taken of the orientation and position of neighbouring properties, and in particular any 

impact that the extension with have on neighbouring windows and private gardens. Where an extension 

would result in a significant reduction in light, or cause excessive overshadowing, planning permission 

may not be granted. In particular, care should be given when proposing extensions on the boundary with 

neighbouring properties that are either single-storey with a long projection, or are two-storeys in height. 

When considering overshadowing the Council will have regard to the 45 / 25 degree rule (see Appendix 

1), as well as the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) and the Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) methods 

for calculating daylight and sunlight. 

Privacy
9.6. Windows, balconies and raised decking can result in the loss of privacy to neighbouring properties from 

overlooking of their private amenity areas, or from direct close views into windows. To ensure adequate 

privacy levels are retained, there may be a requirement for privacy screens to the end of raised decks or 

balconies. Careful consideration should be given to window positions to ensure no windows on the 

boundary with neighbouring properties cause harmful overlooking and to ensure that windows above 

the ground floor retain adequate privacy distances. It may be possible, in some cases, to use high level 

and obscure / translucent glazing. 

Page 164



Overbearing
9.7. An extension close to a neighbouring properties window, or a large extension on the boundary can cause 

a loss of amenity by appearing overbearing and creating a sense of enclosure and dominance. Careful 

consideration will therefore need to be given to the relationship to existing neighbouring windows and to 

the size and design of an extension that may change the outlook from a neighbouring property.

Architectural detail
9.8. Architectural details such as sills, barge boards, brick coursing, window positions and sizes on an existing 

property are part of its character and should be replicated in proposed extensions. Window 

arrangements, their size, materials and opening style should also reflect the existing dwelling

Materials
9.9. Extensions should normally be constructed using matching materials to the main dwelling. Matching 

bricks or render should be used along with similar coursing and pointing detailing and colours. Roof tiles 

or materials should match the existing in terms of materials, texture, colour and size. Where appropriate, 

extensions may be constructed of an alternative material if this is consistent with other development in 

the area and where the extension would still be clearly subordinate to the main dwelling.

Gardens and trees
9.10. These are an important element of the character of the property, the visual amenity and biodiversity of 

the locality. Extensions should maintain a garden area that allows for practical use and reflects the 

established character of the area and the size of the house. Householders should retain as much soft 

landscaping in their garden as possible, whilst trees within and adjacent to the site should be protected 

from damage or removal where new extensions are proposed.

Page 165



9.11. Some trees in the borough are protected for their outstanding value by a tree preservation order (TPO), 

they may also be subject to protection if they are within a conservation area. If this is the case, the 

Council will need to consider the risk to any protected trees when determining the planning application. 

Page 166



10. Extensions and Alterations 

10.1. This section outlines the type of residential extensions and alterations that the Council may consider 

acceptable. Each planning application will be considered by the Council on its merits on the basis that 

each property is different. 

Rear Extensions
Single Storey Rear Extensions

10.2. Single storey rear extensions are not normally visible from the street so are usually less visually intrusive 

than other extensions. However, these extensions can still have an impact on neighbouring amenity, 

including access to sunlight, daylight and outlook. To resolve these potential issues, single storey rear 

extensions should be designed to ensure that:

● Depth: The extension does not dominate the original property.  This can cause the site to appear 
overdeveloped, and cause long dark internal spaces to be formed.  Extensions to extensions will generally 
not be supported.

● Height: Single storey extensions should not rise above the window sill level of any first-floor windows.  
Care should be taken to limit the height of extensions where they abut neighbouring property 
boundaries, especially where extensions are of significant depth (above 3m deep)

● Width: Generally, extensions should not be of greater width than the original building
● Design: Whilst flat roofs on low visibility rear extensions might be acceptable, care should be applied to 

extensions to properties on open corners.  Pitched roof extensions to single storey properties should use 
roof shapes which reflect the pitch and type of roof of the original building. 

● Materials: Generally, using matching external materials and window / door frames.  In some instances, 
contemporary design may be appropriate, through the use of high-quality materials and design which 
complements the original house and has minimal impact on neighbouring properties. 

● Overlooking: Extensions should avoid inserting any flank windows, or involve raised platforms where 
they would allow new, or significantly increased overlooking views into neighbouring gardens / 
properties

● Light / Outlook: The 45 / 25 degree rule will be used to assess the impact of the extension on 
neighbouring light / outlook.

● Garden Space: Adequate garden area for the enlarged house should be retained following development

Page 167



Page 168



Two Storey and First Floor Rear Extensions

10.3. Two-storey rear extensions are often desirable as they create more space within a home, however they 

are not appropriate in all circumstances e.g. mid-terraced properties, and need to be carefully designed 

to avoid negatively impacting neighbouring properties. Proposals for two-storey rear extensions should 

consider the surrounding context and ensure:

● Depth: The extension does not dominate the original property.  This can cause the site to appear 
overdeveloped, and cause long dark internal spaces to be formed.  Extensions to extensions will generally 
not be supported.

● Height: two storey extensions can have very significant impact on neighbouring amenity, so should 
generally not be built up to site boundaries with neighbouring properties /gardens.  

● Width: Extensions should not be of greater width than the original building
● Design: Extensions are of greater visibility, and should incorporate roof designs to reflect, tie in with and 

not overwhelm the main property’s roof.  Patterns of windows should reflect the host building and local 
character.

● Materials: Using matching external materials and window / door frames is especially relevant for two 
storey extensions.   

● Overlooking: Extensions should avoid inserting any flank windows, or involve raised platforms where 
they would allow new, or significantly increased overlooking views into neighbouring gardens / 
properties

● Light / Outlook: The 45 / 25 degree rule will be used to assess the impact of the extension on 
neighbouring light / outlook.

● Garden Space: Adequate garden area for the enlarged house should be retained following development

Page 169



Side Extensions
Single Storey Side

10.4. Side extensions should consider the impact on the appearance of the street. Care is also needed when 

considering the relationship between any proposed extension and the boundary with neighbouring 

properties as the separation between properties can provide access routes to the rear of the property 

and in some locations are part of the character of the area. Depending on the orientation of the 

neighbouring property, side extensions also have the potential to impact their amenity. To ensure these 

potential issues are resolved, single storey side extensions should be designed in accordance with the 

guidance below.

● Footprint: Extensions should generally aim to appear subservient to the original building by lying behind 
the main front building line, though where designed well or having regard to positive local character, 
other approaches can be supported

● Height: Extensions that directly abut a neighbouring boundary should be designed to minimise impact on 
neighbouring amenity.

● Width: Extensions should generally be no greater than half the width of the original building. 
● Design: Extensions are of greater visibility, and should incorporate roof designs to reflect the main 

property’s roof.  The use of flat or false pitched roofs visible from the street should be avoided.  Patterns 
of windows should reflect the original building and local character.  Walls to extensions should not form 
the site boundary with the public highway, as these can be oppressive and encourage antisocial activities.

● Materials: Matching external materials and window / door frames should be used.
● Overlooking: Extensions should avoid inserting any flank windows where they would allow new, or 

significantly increased overlooking views into neighbouring gardens / properties
● Light / Outlook: The 45 / 25 degree rule will be used to assess the impact of the extension on 

neighbouring light / outlook.
● Garden Space: Adequate garden area for the enlarged house should be retained following development

Page 170



Two Storey Side

10.5. Two storey extensions can have a more significant impact on the appearance of the street. Care is also 

needed when considering the relationship between any proposed extension and the boundary with 

neighbouring properties as the separation between properties can provide access routes to the rear of 

the property and in some locations are part of the character of the area. Depending on the orientation of 

the neighbouring property, side extensions also have the potential to impact their amenity. To ensure 

these potential issues are resolved, two storey side extensions should be designed in accordance with 

the guidance below.

● Footprint: Extensions should generally aim to appear subservient to the host building by lying behind the 
main front building line, though where designed well or having regard to positive local character, other 
approaches can be supported.  See advice of extensions to corner properties in the following section.

● Height: Extensions that directly abut a neighbouring boundary should be designed to minimise impact on 
neighbouring amenity.

● Width: Extensions should generally be no greater than half the width of the host building. The existing 
rhythm of the street, including for example characteristic gaps between properties, the symmetry of 
pairs of semi-detached homes or groups of terraced houses, should not be unreasonably interrupted. A 
minimum gap of 1 metre should be retained between the extension and the flank boundary.

● Design: Extensions are of greater visibility, and should incorporate roof designs to reflect and generally 
be subservient to the main property’s roof.  The use of flat or false pitched roofs visible from the street 
should be avoided.  Patterns of windows should reflect the host building and local character.  Walls to 
extensions should not form the site boundary with the public highway, as these can be oppressive and 
encourage antisocial activities.

● Materials: Matching external materials and window / door frames should be used.
● Overlooking: Extensions should avoid inserting any flank windows where they would allow new, or 

significantly increased overlooking views into neighbouring gardens / properties
● Light / Outlook: The 45 / 25 degree rule will be used to assess the impact of the extension on 

neighbouring light / outlook.
● Garden Space: Adequate garden area for the enlarged house should be retained following development
● Bin Storage: Adequate provision should be made for discreet storage of waste bins in the front garden

Page 171



Page 172



Extensions to houses on Corner Plots
10.6. Corner plots provide opportunities to create large extensions that face onto the return road and in some 

cases can create a landmark building feature. Their location makes them highly visible from two streets 

and can provide an opportunity to improve the appearance of an area. Houses on corner plots may have 

capacity for two-storey extensions that extend to the side or rear. Extensions should follow the relevant 

advice given in preceding sections and ensure:

● Building Line: Any projection forward of the building line on the return street is carefully designed as this 
will be highly visible. This may be resolved through the massing (such as stepping), fenestration or 
material treatment of the proposal. Views along the return street to the proposed building should be 
considered.

● Roof Form: The relationship between the roof of the existing property and an extension on a corner is 
carefully considered.

● End Walls: Extensions that result in overbearing end walls, including blank, uncharacteristic gables, will 
generally not be acceptable.  Walls to extensions should not form the site boundary with the public 
highway, as these can be oppressive and encourage antisocial activities

Page 173



Front Extensions & Porches
10.7. Front extensions can change the character of the original building and where poorly designed have a 

negative impact on the appearance of the street; due to their visibility these kind of extensions are most 

likely to have an impact on the wider street scene. It is therefore important to invest a high level of 

design quality in such proposals following the guidance below:

● Design: Front extensions must be designed to respond to and enhance the character of the existing 
dwelling and street.

● Scale: The scale and design of new porches should respond to the existing dwelling. 
● Existing Features: Care should be taken to preserve the appearance of existing features, such as bay 

windows and avoid porches that would impact these by subsuming their form or erasing their 
prominence. Existing porches that are open to the street and are an original feature that form part of a 
local pattern of development should generally not be enclosed.

● Car Parking: Extensions or porches should not result in the retention of front parking spaces of 
inadequate depth. 

Page 174



Page 175



Roof Extensions
Side roof extensions

10.8. The use of loft space to provide additional accommodation can often provide more space for relatively 

little cost, using natural light through the use of skylights. Roof extensions, such as dormer windows or 

box extensions which project out from the roof slope, should be used where there is a need to enlarge 

the useable floor space within a loft or where they are more characteristic of the area. Extensions and 

alterations to roofs should be set away from the gables, hips, eaves and ridge of a property and follow 

the guidance below follow the guidance below:

● Height: Should be no higher than the existing ridge-line.
● Massing: Should not wrap around two-sides of a hipped roof unless in special circumstances where it can 

be justified; this will be judged on a case by case basis.  Dormers should not overwhelm the roof slope 
within which they are to be placed, being sited well clear of the roof edges and eaves.

● Alignment of Windows: Should include window position and design which reflects the position, design 
and character of windows to the lower levels of the host building

● Detail: Large blank facades on dormers can have an overbearing appearance and will not generally be 
acceptable.

● Unbalancing: If proposing a hip to gable roof extension, this should not interrupt or unbalance the 
pattern of roof form visible from the street.

Page 176



Page 177



Rear Roof Extensions

10.9. Whilst in many instances, rear roof extensions can be undertaken without permission under permitted 

development, these can and have had a harmful effect on roofscapes.  When assessing planning 

applications, a high standard of design shall be required.  Rear roof extensions and alterations should be 

set away from the gables, hips, eaves and ridge of a property and follow the guidance below:

● Height: Should be no higher than the existing ridge-line, and original ridgeline treatment should be 
retained.

● Massing: Should not wrap around two-sides of a hipped roof unless in special circumstances where it can 
be justified; this will be judged on a case by case basis.  Dormers should not overwhelm the roof slope 
within which they are to be placed

● Alignment of Windows: Should include window position and design which reflects the position, design 
and character of windows to the lower levels of the host original building

● Detail: Large blank facades on dormers can have an overbearing appearance and will not generally be 
acceptable

Page 178



 

Page 179



Front Roof Extensions
10.10. It will generally not be acceptable to create dormers on the front of a property.

Page 180



Doors & Windows
10.11. Unless they are Listed buildings, houses (not flats or maisonettes) may have permitted development 

rights (unless these have been removed) that enable changes to windows and doors. Although minimal in 

each case, such alterations have a cumulative effect when carried out in historic areas. Due to the need 

to protect some of the Borough’s most historic areas, the Council has made Article 4 Directions in 

conservation areas which remove some permitted development rights. In other circumstances, changes 

to doors and windows still need to be of a ‘similar appearance’ to those within the existing property.

10.12. Windows are a defining feature of a building. Poor window design and placement, and inconsistency of 

design and size can disrupt the appearance of buildings and the rhythm of the street scene.  

10.13. Where proposed as part of extensions, or where proposals relate to window or door alterations only, the 

key considerations to observe are:

● The type, proportions, frame pattern and materials of the new windows and doors should match those of 
the original house. 

● The proportion of windows is particularly important in successfully integrating an extension with an 
existing building as this could affect the appearance of the property regardless of whether it needs 
planning permission. For example, an extension to a house with windows of vertical proportion should 
not have windows that are square or horizontal in proportion.

● New windows should be arranged to line up vertically and horizontally with those of the original house, 
to give a sense of balance and proportion

● The ratio of solid wall to window should reflect that of the original house or local buildings. The number 
and size of windows in an extension should be limited to those absolutely necessary; otherwise the 
elevation would appear too cluttered.

Page 181



Outbuildings & Garages
Outbuildings 

10.14. An outbuilding should normally only be used for purposes incidental to the enjoyment of the house. 

Examples could include common buildings such as garden sheds, other storage buildings, garages, and 

summer houses. A purpose incidental to a dwelling house does not include use as separate self-

contained accommodation, or other primary living accommodation incorporating such components as a 

bedroom, bathroom, or kitchen. Proposals to provide separate accommodation or a commercial use 

(unless it constitutes working from home) in an outbuilding requires planning permission.  

10.15. Outbuilding should not deprive the existing property of adequate private garden space and should be 

subordinate in scale to the existing dwelling and to the plot. In assessing proposals, the Council will 

consider factors such as the scale, height, proximity to boundaries, roof design, finishing materials and 

prominence in the street scene or rear garden environment. 

10.16. As with all extensions, outbuildings should not detract from the character of the area (this is especially 

important where the outbuilding will be visible from the street) and should be unobtrusively located to 

the side and rear of the existing dwelling.  They should also not have an adverse impact on the amenity 

of the surrounding properties in terms of noise and disturbance created through access or overlooking / 

or overshadowing of existing properties.   

Garages

10.17. Detached garages should reflect the design, materials, character and style of the existing property. 

Garages should not be located in a position which would detract from the attractiveness of the street 

scene. Usually garages should be positioned to the side of a dwelling, behind the front line of the 

building.

10.18. In order to properly function as car parking, garages should provide clear internal dimension of 5.5m 

(length) x 3.6m (width) for one car and 5.5m by 6m width for 2 cars.

Materials & Details
10.19. The choice and use of materials for an extension or alteration can significantly impact the appearance of 

a dwelling. Choice of materials should consider the neighbouring properties and ensure:

● In areas where there is a strong sense of character through the use of particular materials, extensions 
and alterations should use materials that respond to this character. Where appropriate, this may allow 
the introduction of new, high-quality materials, including in historic environments where contemporary 
materials may be used to offer a contrast to the appearance of traditional materials and enhance the 
qualities of and provide a clear distinction from the original fabric.

Page 182



● Materials chosen to match the existing dwelling are carefully chosen to consider the effects of 
weathering and time. This is crucial where materials need to match the existing.

● The long-term wearing of materials is considered. Materials such as render and wood can wear 
drastically if poorly detailed and not maintained, particularly if north facing.

● The reuse of materials where possible for a repair or extension. Elevations which are visible from the 
street, including roofs, should be prioritised in the reuse of materials. A mixture of old and new materials 
is more appropriate on rear-facing elevations, and should ensure that similar colours, textures and sizes 
are used to those of the original roof covering.

10.20. Innovation or the use of new materials will be encouraged, except where it detracts from the character 

of an area.

Front Gardens & Parking
10.21. The laying of hard surfaces to the front gardens of houses often do not require planning permission.  

Where large areas, non-permeable surfaces or changes in ground levels are involved, or permitted 

development rights have been withdrawn, the following considerations will apply: 

● Hardstanding should be proportionate to the size of the dwelling and the relevant car parking standards 
and avoid paving over a significant amount of the forecourt. Soft landscaped planted border along all 
boundaries should be provided in all spaces not specifically defined as parking or turning spaces.

● Allow sufficient space between the car and the dwelling to allow access to the front door and side of the 
property. 1 metre should be the minimum space between or around car parking spaces.

● Front garden parking must be designed to avoid cars overhanging the pavement.  Car parking spaces a 
minimum of 2.5m wide (2.7m where spaces adjoin an enclosed boundary) and 5m deep should be 
provided.

● Should not include gates. Where gates already exist, they must not open outwards and should allow 
enough space for them to be opened inwardly (if relevant) whilst a car is parked. 

● Gates should enable a pedestrian on the footway to have clear visibility of any vehicle exiting (i.e. they 
should be railings or have some form of transparency) and should not be of a height that blocks visibility 
of passing pedestrians and should enable visibility from the footway.

● Avoid removing any existing trees or established hedges and introduce new planting wherever possible.
● Introduce permeable paving to new areas of hardstanding to minimise rainwater run-off issues, as per 

the requirements of Permitted Development.
● There should be no water run-off from the forecourt onto the public highway.
● Where loose surfacing is proposed, a minimum of 1m depth of non-loose hardstanding should be 

provided at the front edge of the driveway with the public highway
● Repair or restore any original decorative tiled paths that are a characteristic or historic feature of the 

existing dwelling.
● Pedestrian and vehicle visibility splays should be provided. 

10.22. If a new dropped kerb and crossover is required, applicants must apply for and obtain consent via the 

relevant landowner (if crossing private / third party land, such as amenity strips) as well as the highway 

authority

Page 183



Front Garden Boundary Treatments
10.23. Boundary treatments help to define the relationship between a dwelling and the street. They can include 

garden walls, fences, railings and hedges. Existing boundary treatments and garden walls should be 

retained where they allow sufficient visibility splays to avoid open planned front gardens. A strong front 

boundary treatment should be incorporated into proposals, particularly where this is characteristic of the 

street. Boundary treatments visible from the street should:

● Respond to the design of the dwelling;
● Be consistent with the height of other enclosures on the road;
● Avoid the introduction of different styles along the street. Treatments should reinforce the dominant 

boundary type along the street, ensuring consistency with the style and age of the property;
● Consider well-maintained planting as an alternative solution and retain any hedgerow;
● Encourage natural surveillance of the street and help design out crime.
● Incorporate visibility splays and sight lines for pedestrian and vehicular safety.
● Hedges are also encouraged given their air quality benefits

Page 184



Solar Panels
10.24. The installation of solar panels (photovoltaic and thermal) on dwellings may be ‘permitted development’ 

with no need to apply to the Council for planning permission. There are, however, important limits and 

conditions which must be met to benefit from these permitted development rights.

10.25. Solar panels should be sited, so far as is practicable, to minimise the effect on the external appearance of 

the building and the amenity of the area.

10.26. Conservation Areas - wall mounted panels must not be fitted to a wall which fronts a highway. 

Equipment on a building should be sited, so far as is practicable, to minimize the effect on the external 

appearance of the building and the amenity of the area. 

10.27. Further information on the conditions that need to be met for the proposal to be permitted development 

can be found on the Planning Portal.

Page 185



11. GLOSSARY

Main Building line: A designated line beyond which a building cannot extend. 
Character: A term relating to Conservation Areas or Listed Buildings, but also to the appearance of any rural or 
urban location in terms of its landscape or the layout of streets and open spaces, often giving places their own 
distinct identity. 
Conservation Area: a designated area of special architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of 
which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. 
Context: The setting of a site or area, including factors such as traffic, activities and land uses as well as landscape 
spaces and built form
Curtilage: The area normally within the boundaries of a property surrounding the main building and used in 
connection with it. 
Dwelling/dwelling house: A self-contained building or part of a building used as a residential accommodation, 
and usually housing a single household. A dwelling may be a house, bungalow, flat, maisonette or converted farm 
building 
Elevation: The actual facade (or face) of a building, or a plan showing the drawing of a facade. 
Flank Wall: Side wall. 
Habitable room: Any room used or intended to be used for sleeping, cooking, living or eating purposes. Enclosed 
spaces such as bath or toilet facilities, service rooms, corridors, laundries, hallways, utility rooms or similar spaces 
are excluded from this definition. 
Highway: A publicly maintained road, together with footways and verges. 
Hipped roof: Hipped roof has sloped instead of vertical end. 
Gable end: Roof with a vertical end. 
Layout: The way buildings, routes and open spaces are placed or laid out on the ground in relation to each other.
Listed Buildings: A building or structure identified by the Secretary of State for Culture, Media & Sport as being of 
special architectural or historic interest. There are three categories of listing: Grade I (the highest quality), Grade 
II* and Grade II.
Original House: Usually defined as a building as it existed on 1 July 1948 where it was built before that date, and 
as it was built when built after that date but for the purposes of this document, it describes the house as it stands 
today.  
Overbearing: A term used to describe the impact of a development or building on its surroundings, particularly a 
neighbouring property, in terms of its scale, massing and general dominating effect. 
Overlooking: A term used to describe the effect when a development or building affords an outlook over 
adjoining land or property, often causing loss of privacy. 
Overshadowing: The effect of a development or building on the amount of natural light presently enjoyed by a 
neighbouring property, resulting in a shadow being cast over that neighbouring property. 
Parapet wall: Walls which project above the surrounding roof level.
Party Wall: A wall that stands astride the boundary of land belonging to two (or more) different owners. 
Permitted development rights: Permission to carry out certain limited forms of development without the need 
to make an application to a local planning authority, as granted under the terms of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order. 
Principal elevation: The part of the house which fronts (directly or at an angle) the main highway serving the 
house (the main highway will be the one that sets the postcode for the house concerned). It will usually contain 
the main architectural features such as main bay windows or a porch serving the main entrance to the house. 
Usually, but not exclusively the principal elevation will be what is understood to be the front of the house.  
Ridgeline: The apex of the roof continued along the length of the roof span.
Roof light: An opening in a roof that allows light to enter the building. 
Roof pitch: The angle of the roof. 
Roofscape: View resulting from a blend of roof pitches, sizes and heights within the built environment.

Page 186



Street scene/Streetscape: The view along a street from the perspective of a driver or pedestrian, especially of 
the natural and man-made elements in or near the street right of way, including roof line, street trees, lawns, 
landscape buffers, signs, street lights, above-ground utilities, draining structures, sidewalks, bus stop shelters and 
street furniture. 
Subordinate: Inferior in size to. 
Sustainability: The principle that the environment should be protected in such a condition and to such a degree 
that ensures new development meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs
Symmetrical: Balanced, being almost identical on both sides. 
Window sill: Slab of wood or stone at base of window. The window rests on the sill and it serves to shed water 
away.

Page 187



12. Appendix 1 -  45 and 25 degree rules

Page 188



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 29 June 2020

Reporting officer: Shazad Ghani - Planning Manager (Policy) 

Subject: Duty to co-operate

Purpose and summary of report: 
● The following report seeks Cabinet’s approval to undertake strategic duty to co-operate 

discussions at the North Kent level and to utilise existing forums such as the Thames 
Gateway Kent Partnership (TGKP) to facilitate this approach.  

● The duty to co-operate is a legal duty imposed on local planning authorities and county 
councils in England, and other prescribed public bodies as set out under Regulations.  It 
requires them to engage constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis to maximise the 
effectiveness of plan making, having regard to strategic cross boundary issues.

● In the absence of robust evidence that the duty to co-operate has been complied with, a 
Planning Inspector can refuse a Local Plan from proceeding to examination.  This is a 
risk that needs to be addressed, as any failure would require a Local Plan to be 
withdrawn from examination and work on a new Local Plan commenced.  Such an 
eventuality would have significant resource implications and could result in ‘planning by 
appeal’.

Recommendations:
Cabinet is asked to:
● Agree the way forward as set out in the report below or suggest alternatives.
● Give authority to the Assistant Director (Planning) and other senior officers in consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Environment and Leader of the Council, to explore 
the establishment of formal duty to co-operate mechanisms with neighbouring authorities.

1. Background

1.1 Section 19(1B) - (1E) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out 
that each local planning authority must identify their strategic priorities and have 
policies to address these in their development plan documents (taken as a whole).

1.2 The development plan for an area is made up of the combination of strategic policies 
(which address the priorities for an area) and non-strategic policies (which deal with 
more detailed matters). Paragraphs 17 to 19 of the National Planning Policy 

Page 189 Agenda Item 11



2

Framework describe the plan-making framework which allows flexibility in the way 
policies for the development and use of land are produced.

1.3 Section 110 of the Localism Act 2011 made a number of amendments to the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and placed a legal duty on local planning 
authorities to cooperate with one another, county councils and other prescribed 
bodies to produce Local Plans with strategic policies that are positively prepared and 
justified. This joint working should address what additional infrastructure is necessary, 
and whether development needs that cannot be met in whole within one plan area 
could be met elsewhere. 

1.4 Paragraph 20 of the National Planning Policy Framework provides guidance on the 
coverage of strategic policies contained in a Local Plan.  These should set out the 
overall strategy for the pattern, scale and quality of development and make sufficient 
provision for:

o Housing (including travellers and affordable housing), employment, retail, 
leisure and other commercial development;

o Infrastructure for transport, telecommunications, security, waste management, 
water supply, wastewater, flood risk and coastal change management, and 
the provision of minerals and energy (including heat);

o Community facilities (such as health, education and cultural infrastructure); 
and

o Conservation and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment 
(including landscapes and green infrastructure, and planning measures to 
address climate change mitigation and adaptation).

1.5 Under the duty to co-operate, Gravesham is required to engage constructively, 
actively and on an ongoing basis with neighbouring authorities, the county council 
and other ‘prescribed bodies’ (as relevant) in order to maximise the effectiveness of 
plan making.  

1.6 ‘Prescribed bodies’ are set out in Regulation 4 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) as being:

o Environment Agency
o Historic England
o Natural England
o Mayor of London
o Civil Aviation Authority
o Homes and Community Agency
o Primary Care Trust (now Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Care 

Group)
o Office of Rail Regulation
o Transport for London (London services)
o Integrated Transport Authority (metropolitan areas)
o Highway Authority (effectively Highways England and KCC)
o Marine Management Organisation (marine planning, including tidal Thames)

Gravesham is also required to have regard to the activities of the South East Local 
Enterprise Partnership and Kent Local Nature Partnership when preparing its Local 
Plan, where those activities are relevant to plan-making. Due to the significant role 
the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation plays in delivery of the Ebbsfleet Garden 
City, it is also important that their activities are acknowledged as part of the plan 
making process.  

Page 190



3

1.7 The outcome from the process is intended to be one or more Statements of Common 
Ground that are submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for examination, the goal 
being to demonstrate to the appointed Inspector that there has been compliance with 
the duty to co-operate. 

1.8 A statement of common ground is a written record that sets out what the key issues 
are between one or more neighbouring authorities, the county council and other 
‘prescribed bodies’ (as relevant). As well as the progress that has been made in 
addressing these issues.

1.9 A distinction must be drawn between a failure to comply with the legal requirements 
under the duty to co-operate and the policy requirements under the NPPF Test of 
Soundness regarding policies being positively prepared.  Where the legal test is not 
passed, a Local Plan cannot proceed to examination and a Local Planning Authority 
is effectively obliged to withdraw it, address shortcomings and re-submit the Local 
Plan or submit a new Local Plan as appropriate. Where there is a concern over the 
Local Plan being positively prepared, then this shortcoming could potentially be 
rectified through Main Modifications recommended by the Inspector.

1.10 Ensuring compliance with duty to co-operate requirements is therefore an essential 
prerequisite of putting a robust up-to-date Local Plan in place.

2. Recent Duty to co-operate failures

2.1 It’s for a Planning Inspector to decide whether the duty to co-operate has been met 
via thoroughly examining the documents submitted to them. It’s for the Inspector to 
use their planning judgement on whether there has been active and ongoing process 
of cooperation between relevant parties. 

2.2 Recently, Planning Inspectors have identified a number of emerging plans as failing 
the legal requirements of the duty to co-operate, plans that have failed include:

● St Albans (2016) – Inspector concluded that the Council had not pro-actively 
sought meaningful engagement with required bodies and nearby LPA’s 
sufficiently. Whilst meetings were held to discuss matters, this did not result in 
cross-boundary issues being addressed for example in terms of housing, 
employment and infrastructure provision.

● St Albans (2020) –  Inspector concluded that the Council had failed in 
engaging relevant bodies in regards to the Strategic Rail Freight Interchange. 
The Council’s approach to the Green Belt was also identified as an area of 
concern to us in relation to the DtC…  The Council was unable to demonstrate 
that the Council’s approach to the Green Belt has been informed by 
discussions with neighbouring authorities about whether they could 
accommodate some of the identified need for development.

● Sevenoaks (2019) – Inspector concluded that there had been a lack of 
effective engagement with neighbouring authorities in an attempt to resolve 
the issue of unmet housing need.

● Wealden (2020) –  Inspector concluded that the Council had withheld 
evidence and not engaged constructively with a number of bodies. For 
example the Council failed to engage positively with Natural England in 

Page 191



4

respect of impacts on habitats and landscape and in respect of the issue of 
unmet housing need in Eastbourne with other relevant bodies. 

● Castle Point (2017) – Inspector concluded that there had been no meaningful 
attempt to deliberate and address strategic matters such as unmet housing 
need and need for Travellers. 

Plans that have been withdrawn from examination as a result of failing Duty to Co-
operate legal duty.

Local authority Date of outcome

Coventry April 16, 2013

Hart September 30, 2013

Kirklees October 23, 2013

Aylesbury Vale February 1, 2014

Mid Sussex May 1, 2014

Bolsover June 5, 2014

Derbyshire Dales October 14, 2014

Runnymede July 25, 2015

Central Bedfordshire October 1, 2015

St Albans November 1, 2016

Castle Point March 1, 2017

Wealden February 1, 2020

Sevenoaks* March 1, 2020

St Albans* April 1, 2020

* Inspectors have recommended non-adoption, Sevenoaks are seeking a Judicial Review 
and St Albans have yet to withdraw their plan. 

3. Duty to co-operate in practice and Statements of Common Ground

3.1 There is no set way in which to comply with the duty to co-operate and produce 
Statements of Common Ground.  Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) issued by the 
Government provides advice in this area but ultimately compliance can only be tested 
at a Local Plan examination.  Based on PPG, the Planning Advisory Service has 
issued a Statement of Common Ground Advice and Template (January 2019).

Page 192



5

3.2 In order to minimise the risk of a Local Plan failing the duty to co-operate, it is clearly 
prudent to follow what advice currently exists.

3.3 The potential risk of failure in this area has been highlighted by recent events 
associated with the examination of the Sevenoaks Local Plan.  Following due process 
and extensive consultation in the course of preparation, this was submitted to the 
Secretary of State for independent examination on the 30 April 2019.  

3.4 Sevenoaks District Council engaged with all neighbouring authorities and other 
prescribed bodies during the drafting of its Local Plan and Statements of Common 
Ground were prepared detailing what the strategic cross-boundary issues were 
considered to be, and the positions adopted by the various parties on them.  

3.5 Sevenoaks District Council also took the precaution of asking the Planning Advisory 
Service for advice on process, particularly as they were promoting a strategy that 
would not fully meet identified development needs due to the constraints that were 
faced.  This culminated in a workshop led by a former senior Planning Inspector 
arranged through the Planning Advisory Service, funded by the Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government.  

3.6 Notwithstanding the fact that there were no objections to the Local Plan from 
neighbouring authorities under the duty to co-operate, the presiding Planning 
Inspector reached a preliminary conclusion that there had been a failure to comply 
and recommended that the plan should be withdrawn.  

3.7 This was because the Inspector concluded that engagement had taken place on 
unmet need in Sevenoaks too late in the process for it to be meaningful, even though 
neighbouring authorities had all said they could not accommodate the additional 
development in their own areas.  Sevenoaks District Council disagreed with this 
position, refused to withdraw and asked in due course that the Inspector publish her 
final report.  Following a delay due to purdah rules during the election period and 
Sevenoaks approaching the Secretary of State, an adverse report was subsequently 
issued on the 2 March 2020.  The Council has since applied for judicial review of the 
decision.

3.8 Concurrently with the above, the Inspectors examining the St Albans City and District 
Council Local Plan notified the Council (letter dated 14 April) that they considered 
there had been a failure under the duty to co-operate not only in terms of meeting 
housing need but also in the approach to the site of a Strategic Rail Freight 
Interchange (SFRI) which they wanted to allocate for housing.  Concerns were also 
expressed regarding the way the Council had undertaken its Green Belt review and 
the scale of parcels considered.  Aside from the general point relating to the duty to 
co-operate, this case does not appear to raise major issues for Gravesham.

3.9 Having a Local Plan fail under the duty to co-operate has serious consequences in 
terms of both resources and timing.  Upon submission, a Local Plan has to be 
supported by a credible and robust evidence base.  Withdrawal may require studies 
to be re-run.  Additional rounds of consultation and re-drafting may also be required, 
along with further engagement under the duty to co-operate to agree on cross-
boundary strategic issues.  There may also be knock-on effects on neighbouring 
authorities, who may also have new Local Plans in preparation.  In addition, an 
existing Local Plan may be considered to be out-of-date, leading to a risk of ‘planning 
by appeal’.

3.10 It is important therefore that we get this part of the process as robust as possible.

Page 193



6

3.11 There are some key messages in the current guidance:

o Duty to co-operate activities should start early in the plan-making process to 
ensure that cross-boundary strategic issues are clearly identified and 
addressed – this is currently underway. 

o What constitute cross-boundary strategic issues will differ depending on local 
circumstances and cover different areas and involve different parties – 
however we have identified unmet development needs, transport and 
environmental matters as being some of the key cross-cross boundary issues. 

o In order to demonstrate compliance with the duty to co-operate and effective 
joint working, one or more Statements of Common Ground which set out 
cross-boundary strategic issues should be produced, maintained, updated and 
made public on the Council’s website on an on-going basis as the Local Plan 
progresses through to submission – this is being progressed with external 
bodies although some are more willing to work with us on producing 
meaningful SoCGs than others. 

o Planning Advisory Service guidance also recommends Member involvement 
in the preparation and updating of Statements of Common Ground to give the 
public confidence that agreement has been or will be sought on key issues.  
Consideration also needs to be given as to who will sign-off on any Statement 
of Common Ground, and whether or not this should be delegated or formally 
agreed by Members – engagement at a senior Member level needs to be 
progressed further not only within Gravesham, but at the North Kent / Kent 
level. 

3.12 Whilst Statements of Common Ground are expected to be concise and proportionate 
relative to the issues involved, Planning Practice Guidance sets out that they should 
contain:

o A short written description and map showing the location and administrative 
areas covered by the statement, and a brief justification for these area(s);

o The key strategic matters being addressed by the statement, for example 
meeting the housing need for the area, air quality etc.;

o the plan-making authorities responsible for joint working detailed in the 
statement, and list of any additional signatories (including cross-referencing 
the matters to which each is a signatory);

o The governance arrangements for the cooperation process, including how the 
statement will be maintained and kept up to date;

o If applicable, the housing requirements in any adopted and (if known) 
emerging strategic policies relevant to housing within the area covered by the 
statement;

o The distribution of needs in the area as agreed through the plan-making 
process, or the process for agreeing the distribution of need (including unmet 
need) across the area;

o A record of where agreements have (or have not) been reached on key 
strategic matters, including the process for reaching agreements on these; 
and

o Any additional strategic matters to be addressed by the statement which have 
not already been addressed, including a brief description how the statement 
relates to any other Statement of Common Ground covering all or part of the 
same area.

3.13 Guidance is also provided on the information a Statement of Common Ground should 
contain about the distribution of identified development needs within the area 
covered.  This includes:

Page 194



7

o The capacity within the strategic policy-making authority area(s) covered by 
the statement to meet their own identified needs;

o The extent of any unmet need within the strategic policy-making authority 
area(s); and

o Agreements (or disagreements) between strategic policy-making authorities 
on the extent to which these unmet needs are capable of being redistributed 
within the wider area covered by the statement.

3.14 Amongst other things, Statements of Common Ground are also expected to include 
information on the follow range of activities:

o Working together at the outset of plan-making to identify cross-boundary 
matters which will need addressing;

o Producing or commissioning joint research and evidence to address cross-
boundary matters;

o Assessing impacts of emerging policies; and
o Preparing joint, or agreeing, strategic policies affecting more than one 

authority area to ensure development is coordinated, (such as the distribution 
of unmet needs or policies relating to county matters).

3.15 In terms of the latter, it should be noted that the Thames Estuary 2050 Growth 
Commission Report: 2050 Vision (June 2018) suggested that there should be a joint 
spatial strategy for North Kent, mirroring collaborative working currently being 
undertaken in South Essex.  

3.16 Whilst the Government’s response to this report (March 2019) encourages further 
joint working to improve planned growth, it comes to no formal conclusion as to 
whether a Joint Spatial Strategy should be produced for the area at this stage.  In any 
event, this would be difficult given the complexity of the area and the fact that Local 
Plans are at different stages. It should be noted that Kent and Medway Leaders and 
Chief Executives have already agreed to pursue a potential ‘Infrastructure 
Proposition’ with the Government, with the aim of delivering both growth and the 
required infrastructure in synergy. 

4. A way forward?

4.1 To date, the majority of work undertaken in relation to the duty to co-operate has 
been undertaken informally, on the basis of bi-lateral and other meetings to discuss 
cross-boundary issues and local plan progress.  There has also been joint working 
with Medway Council in terms of the preparation of elements of the Local Plan 
evidence base.  Adjoining local authorities have been made aware of the fact that 
Gravesham is likely to have unmet development needs, although work is still on-
going in relation to capacity within the urban area and rural settlements inset from the 
Green Belt, along with potential impacts associated with Green Belt release.

4.2 Given the situation in Sevenoaks, it would be prudent to ‘up our game’ in this area to 
avoid any risk of non-compliance.  In terms of collaborative working, ensuring 
structures are put in place demonstrating formal engagement at senior officer level 
and Senior Member level (for Gravesham this would represent the Cabinet Member 
for Strategic Environment and Leader of the Council) across an appropriate area 
would also be desirable – albeit this does not mean that the various parties are 
obliged to agree, rather simply engage in a meaningful way.

4.3 Following Government guidance, it would be in both this council’s and other council’s 
interests to ensure that protocols on duty to co-operate, governance arrangements 

Page 195



8

and draft Statements of Common Ground on key cross-boundary strategic issues are 
put in place as soon as possible.

4.4 In this respect, the existing Thames Gateway Kent Partnership (TGKP) might be an 
appropriate forum through which such collaborative working could be facilitated.  This 
includes all of the North Kent area local planning authorities (Maidstone, Medway, 
Gravesham, Dartford and Swale) along with KCC and other parties from both the 
public and private sector.  

4.5 There would also appear to be a good fit with the work that the TGKP already does in 
terms of promoting and facilitating growth and being a forum through which 
infrastructure requirements to support such growth are discussed.  Whilst this would 
not go as far as the suggestion within the Thames Estuary 2050 report that 
consideration should be given to a Joint Spatial Strategy for North Kent, it would 
provide significant evidence on collaborative working and provide a stronger voice in 
discussion with Central Government on the needs and aspirations of the area.

4.6 It is suggested therefore that preliminary discussions be instigated with the TGKP and 
other relevant parties on the potential for such a group to be established at the North 
Kent level.

5. Alternatives

5.1 The alternatives would be:

o Continue to carry out duty to co-operate activities as at present, on a bi-
lateral basis and through existing groups e.g. Kent Planning Officers Group / 
Planning Policy Forum.  However, this would run the risk of failing the duty to 
co-operate, given no formal structures would be put in place to demonstrate 
higher level collaboration with lead Members,  a more formal structure would 
also streamline activities.

o Establish a separate forum from the TGKP as a means of collaborative 
working under the duty to co-operate – this would require the creation of 
additional structures at a North Kent level, risking confusion and mixed-
messages.  It is also likely that it would require additional resources to set up 
and service.

6. Next steps

6.1 If authority is given to take this forward, contact will be made with the TGKP and other 
North Kent authorities to discuss options and establish whether there is an appetite 
for such collaborative working at a North Kent level and to discuss possible resource 
implications. 

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS

7.1 None.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 196



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal No legal implications at this stage.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Resource implications unknown at present until discussions have taken place.  
However, could result in some savings in that it would put in place formal structures 
for collaborative working under the duty to co-operate and streamline way in which 
higher level duty to co-operate activities take place.

Risk Assessment Reduces risk of perceived failure under duty to co-operate and failure to get up to 
date local plan in place in a timely fashion.     

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A - the answer to question a. is 'No.'     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No - N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The delivery of the Local Plan is central to the Corporate Plan 2019 – 23 and the 
Gravesham Vision.  See in particular Corporate Plan page 8 and page 22 on the 
Golden Thread.  Taking steps therefore to ensure that a robust and up to date 
Local Plan is in place by reducing risk is therefore important in terms of delivery of 
Corporate Business Plan objectives.

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder considerations pertaining to this report.

Page 197

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


10

Digital and website 
implications

None at this stage.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications pertaining 
to this report.

Page 198



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 29 June 2020

Reporting officer: Shazad Ghani - Planning Manager (Policy) 

Subject: Bird Wise Charging Schedule for Non-C3 Residential Classes

Purpose and summary of report: 
To request Cabinet’s approval to adopt the North Kent SAMMS (Strategic Access, 
Management and Monitoring Strategy) /Bird Wise Charging Schedule for non-C3 residential 
classes.

At the North Kent SAMMS Board and Bird Wise Steering Group meetings last year, several 
discussions took place concerning how the SAMMS tariff (currently set at £250.39 for every 
new dwelling) is applied to residential planning applications that fall outside of the C3 
residential use class. At the moment they are dealt with on a case by case basis in 
consultation with Natural England, but this has led to inconsistency between authorities 
which increases the risk of challenge.  

Examples of how other mitigation schemes apply similar tariffs to these classes were 
examined and subsequently it was agreed by the North Kent SAMMS Board to provide 
guidance to local planning authorities in North Kent with a view to ensuring a consistent 
approach for the North Kent Bird Wise scheme. 

Recommendations:

1. Cabinet is asked to adopt the charging schedule for applying the mitigation tariff for 
non-C3 residential classes (as set out in Table 3.1), as additional guidance for 
Development Management in the determination of planning applications within 6 km 
of the Thames Estuary and North Kent Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA) and 
Ramsar site.

1. Background

1.1. Members adopted the present approach to the North Kent SAMMS (Strategic Access, 
Management and Monitoring Strategy) tariff on 24 September 2015 (please see 
https://bit.ly/2YK0Nti for further information), this secures financial contributions from 
permitted planning applications for each new net additional dwelling that falls within 6 
km of the Thames Estuary and North Kent Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA) and 
Ramsar site in support of the mitigation strategy. The North Kent SAMMS document 

Page 199 Agenda Item 12

https://bit.ly/2YK0Nti


2

can be viewed on the Council’s website at https://bit.ly/2CknjS6 with further details 
provided on the Bird Wise website at https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/faqs/ . An annual 
report is produced each year by Bird Wise, detailing the spend for the preceding year 
and the budget for the coming year, the most recent report (2019) is available via the 
Bird Wise website at https://bit.ly/3fAFeSL .

1.2. The North Kent SAMMS aims to deliver the mitigation necessary to avoid significant 
adverse effects from in-combination impacts of residential development that is 
anticipated across parts of North Kent.  The mitigation measures identified in the 
mitigation strategy are entirely funded via the tariff applied to all new dwellings 
developed within the 6 km zone of influence.

1.3. The main impact on the SPAs and Ramsar site is linked to recreational pressure 
associated with residential development (e.g. dog walking and coastal recreational 
activity). On this basis, the mitigation strategy applies to all net new development that 
provides permanent accommodation. Such as sheltered accommodation, 
accommodation for the elderly, communal homes, hostels, traveller accommodation, 
mobile homes, and affordable housing within 6km of the SPA and Ramsar site. 
Reflecting the precautionary principle and the need to consider the in-combination 
effects of development, the mitigation strategy applies to proposals for net new 
development of the following types: 

● units falling within Use Classes C3 (dwelling houses) and houses of multiple  
occupation (Use Classes C4 and sui generis);

● units of staff residential accommodation falling within with Use Classes C1 and 
C2 and 

● traveller accommodation units (Use Class sui generis). 

2. Current position

2.1. The full tariff is applied to all new net dwellings that fall within the C3 category and other 
types are dealt with by each authority on a case by case basis in consultation with 
Natural England. C2 residential accommodation is considered on a case by case basis 
as a number of factors will determine the likelihood of residents having any impact upon 
the SPAs and Ramsar site. These include whether residents of new accommodation 
are permitted to have pets, the mobility of the residents and parking provision on site, in 
addition to looking at the overall size of the scheme and proximity to the SPA. 

2.2. During visitor surveys conducted by Footprint Ecology, it was found that a small    
proportion of the visitors surveyed were on holiday within the 6 km zone of influence, 
and that the majority of those had dogs with them. Not all holiday accommodation will 
have the same impact as some do not allow dogs to stay at the property and therefore 
the overall impact is less than that of a residential dwelling. Student accommodation is 
also considered to have a lesser impact as there are restrictions on pet ownership and 
some premises do not allow car parking on site, however, recreational use of the SPA 
cannot be ruled out, particularly when accommodation is in close proximity to the SPA. 

2.3. It should be noted that financial contributions to the North Kent SAMMS are not 
mandatory as developers are able to undertake their own environmental impact 
assessments. In such circumstances therefore, developers are able to provide their own 
bespoke measures to mitigate the in-combination impact of their development, if 
developers choose to in-lieu of making financial contributions via the tariff. 

Page 200

https://bit.ly/2CknjS6
https://northkent.birdwise.org.uk/faqs/
https://bit.ly/3fAFeSL


3

2.4. However, where a project or plan is likely to have a significant effect on a Natura 2000 
site (e.g., Special Areas of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Areas (SPA) and 
Ramsar sites), the Habitats Directive and Birds Directive sets out a consenting 
procedure. This requires that the competent authority(s), such as Gravesham Borough 
Council, carries out an Appropriate Assessment (AA), this process is known as a 
Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA). It is the competent authority who is responsible 
for carrying out a HRA and deciding if there will be adverse effects on the integrity of a 
Natura site. The HRA process is rigorous and precautionary with a focus on the 
conservation objectives and qualifying features of the affected site. To enable the 
competent authority to undertake a HRA, a developer should provide sufficient 
information and evidence.

2.5. As per advice from Natural England, larger developments and those that are in close 
proximity to a SPA or Ramsar site may be required to deliver additional bespoke 
mitigation as well as contributing to the North Kent SAMMS, and this should be 
considered in consultation with Natural England on a case by case basis.

2.6. At the second biannual meeting held on 8 October 2019, the North Kent SAMMS/Bird 
Wise Project Board discussed the creation of a common approach for dealing with 
dwellings that fall outside of the C3 category. It was agreed at the Project Board 
meeting that the Bird Wise Project Manager issue a common charging schedule (see 
Table 3.1 below) to the applicable local planning authorities in North Kent i.e. 
Gravesham Borough Council, Medway Council, Swale Borough Council and Canterbury 
City Council with a view to it being adopted by each local planning authority. The matter 
was discussed further at the Bird Wise North Kent Steering Group of officers on 16 
December 2019, please see the attached report at Appendix 2. 

2.7. The present fee of £250.39 per dwelling contributes towards mitigation measures which 
include seasonal rangers, codes of conduct, signage, site enhancements, dog focused 
projects, enforcement and monitoring. Having a consistent agreed approach to charging 
developers will reduce the risk of challenge from developers, whilst ensuring that the 
Council meets its obligations under the relevant Acts and Regulations e.g. Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

3. Next steps

3.1. Cabinet considers and adopts the mitigation tariff for non-C3 residential classes (see 
Table 3.1 below) as additional guidance for Development Management in the 
determination of planning applications within 6 km of the Thames Estuary, Medway and 
Swale SPAs and Ramsar site.

3.2. The Charging Schedule in Table 3.1 overleaf is published on the Council’s website, 
albeit without the requirements for Canterbury.

Table 3.1 North Kent SAMMS Charging Schedule for Non-C3 Residential Classes

Type Tariff
C3 Dwellings Full tariff per dwelling (or per bedroom for 

Canterbury)
C1 Holiday Accommodation & Hotels Full tariff per holiday home (or per bedroom for 

Canterbury) and 
Full tariff per 5 hotel bedrooms (or 4+ bedroom 
rate for Canterbury per 5 hotel bedrooms)

Page 201



4

Camp/Caravan Sites Full tariff per pitch / unit (or 3 bedroom tariff 
(unless number of bedrooms stated) for 
Canterbury), with a pro-rata reduction for periods 
of enforced closure

Student Accommodation Full tariff per 5 student bedrooms (or 4+ bedroom 
rate for Canterbury per 5 student bedrooms)

C2 Residential Institutions Full tariff per unit, (or per bedroom for 
Canterbury), of staff accommodation & otherwise 
on a case by case basis

C4/Sui Generis large HMOs Full tariff per net increase in bedrooms (or per 
bedroom for Canterbury)

Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Full tariff per pitch (or 3 bedroom tariff (unless 
number of bedrooms stated) for Canterbury)

Other Mobile & Temporary Dwellings Full tariff per dwelling (or 3 bedroom tariff (unless 
number of bedrooms stated) for Canterbury) with 
a pro-rata reduction for periods of enforced 
closure

   

Page 202



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 require the Council to 
carry out an appropriate assessment of certain planning proposals. Failure to 
include an assessment where required of all applicable planning proposals i.e. not 
only C3 residential uses but all other non-C3 residential uses may leave the 
Council at risk of judicial review proceedings.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Assuming the charging schedule is adopted, with the existing tariff would apply to 
all new non-C3 residential applications for development. This will be an additional 
workload for Development Management. It is assumed that this will be absorbed by 
current staffing levels and budget frameworks. A minor increase in resource 
workload would exist for the Legal Department in administering the charging 
schedule, but this additional pressure could, in part, be mitigated by payment of the 
relevant legal fees required for checking of the Unilateral Undertaking payable by 
the planning applicants.

Risk Assessment Failure to adopt the charging schedule could lead to breach of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Regulations 2010 as mitigation would only be partially fulfilled and 
there would be inconsistency in approach between the north Kent LPAs. This could 
lead to possible legal challenge by third parties, including Natural England on new 
non-C3 residential planning permissions issued.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A - the answer to question a. is 'No.'     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No - N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Page 203

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Corporate Plan Objectives - (1) People - Quality Living: enhanced riverfront access and 
permeability of the Thames Path. Residents and visitors will enjoy the River 
Thames and local environmental assets such as the Thames Estuary and Marshes; 
(2) Place - Connected Community: improved walking and cycling links and 
established Green Infrastructure network. This will provide benefits to wildlife and 
protect the landscape; (3) Place - Vibrant Economy: conserved and enhanced the 
Borough's rich landscape character and biodiversity.

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder considerations pertaining to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

Subject to approval, the Council's website will be updated with the addition of the 
new Charging Schedule for Non-C3 Residential Uses.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications pertaining 
to this report.

Page 204



1 
 

    Bird Wise North Kent  

Steering Group 16 December 2019 

Guidelines for applying the mitigation tariff for 

holiday accommodation and other dwelling 

categories 

 
1 Background 

1.1 The North Kent Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) aims to 
deliver the mitigation necessary to avoid significant adverse effects from in-combination 
impacts of residential development that is anticipated across north Kent.  This will 
protect the Special Protection Areas (SPA) and Ramsar sites of the North Kent Marshes 
from adverse effects on site integrity.   

1.2 The mitigation measures identified in the strategy are entirely funded via a tariff applied 
to all new dwellings created within the 6km zone of influence. 

1.3 The main impact on the SPA dealt with by this strategy is that resulting from recreational 
pressure associated with residential development (e.g. dog walking and coastal 
recreational activity). On this basis, the strategy applies to all net new development that 
provides permanent accommodation. Sheltered accommodation, accommodation for 
elderly, communal homes, hostels, traveller accommodation, mobile homes, and 
affordable housing are included within the provisions of this strategy.  

1.4 Reflecting the precautionary principle and the need to consider the in-combination 
effects of development, this strategy applies to proposals for net new development of 
the following types: 

● units falling within Use Classes C3 (dwellinghouses) and houses of multiple 
occupation (Use Classes C4 and sui generis) 

● units of staff residential accommodation falling within with Use Classes C1 and C2 
and 

● traveller accommodation units (Use Class sui generis). 

1.5 At a meeting held on 8 October 2019, the North Kent SAMMS Project Board discussed 
the creation of a common policy for dealing with dwellings that fall outside of the C3 
category.  It was agreed to issue a guidance note for the planning authorities with a view 
to a common charging policy being adopted. 

  

Page 205



2 
 

2 Current Position 

2.1 The full tariff is applied to all new dwellings that fall within the C3 category and other 

types are dealt with by each authority on a case by case basis in consultation with 

Natural England.  The current charging position for each authority is shown in table 1.  

2.2 Table 1 

Type Canterbury Gravesham Medway Swale 

C3 dwellings Tariff per bedroom Full tariff per 
additional new unit 

Full tariff per 
additional new unit 

Full tariff per 
additional new 
unit 

C1 Holiday 
accommodation & 
hotels 

Tariff per bedroom Full tariff per net 
increase in 
bedrooms (but in 
practice, case by 
case) 

Full tariff per net 
increase in 
bedrooms 

Case by case 

Student 
Accommodation 

Case by case – no 
examples post local 
plan adoption 

Full tariff per net 
increase in 
bedrooms (but in 
practice, case by 
case) 

Full tariff per room Case by case 

C2 Residential 
Institutions 

Case by case – no 
examples post local 
plan adoption 

Case by case Case by case Case by case 

C4 Houses in 
multiple occupation 
– including change 
of use from C3 to 
C4 

Tariff per bedroom Full tariff per net 
increase in 
bedrooms (but in 
practice, case by 
case) 

Full tariff per net 
increase in 
bedrooms 

Case by case 

Gypsies and 
travellers 

Permanent – 3 bed 
unit tariff per pitch 
(unless stated how 
many beds) 

Temporary – no 
charge unless they 
become permanent 

Case by case Full tariff per pitch Full tariff per 
pitch 

Mobile and 
temporary 
dwellings – includes 
agricultural 

Tariff per bedroom Case by case Full tariff per pitch Full tariff per 
pitch 

Camp / caravan 
sites 

Case-by-case basis.   Case by case Full tariff per pitch 
but pro-rata if 
closed during winter 

Full tariff per 
pitch 

Page 206



3 
 

months 

 

2.3 C2 residential accommodation is considered on a case by case basis as a number of 

factors will determine the likelihood of residents impacting on the SPA.  These include 

whether pets are permitted, the mobility of the residents and parking provision on site, 

in addition to looking at the overall size of the scheme and proximity to the SPA. 

2.4 During the Visitor Surveys conducted by Footprint Ecology, it was found that a small 

proportion of the visitors surveyed were on holiday within the 6km zone of influence, 

and that the majority of those had dogs with them.  Not all holiday accommodation will 

have the same impact though as some will not allow dogs to stay and therefore the 

overall impact is less than that of a residential dwelling. 

2.5 Student accommodation is also considered to have a lesser impact as there are 

restrictions on pet ownership and some premises do not allow car parking on site, 

however, recreational use of the SPA cannot be ruled out, particularly when 

accommodation is in close proximity to the SPA. 

2.6 It should still be noted that contribution to SAMMS is not mandatory, and developers 

are able to undertake their own environmental impact assessments and provide their 

own bespoke measures to mitigate the in-combination impact of their development. 

2.7 As per the advice from Natural England, larger developments and those that are in close 

proximity to the SPA may be required to deliver additional bespoke mitigation as well as 

contributing to SAMMS and this should be considered in consultation with Natural 

England on a case by case basis. 

  

Page 207



4 
 

3 Agreed Charging Schedule 

 

 

Type Tariff 

C3 Dwellings Full tariff per dwelling or per bedroom for 
Canterbury 

C1 Holiday accommodation & hotels Full tariff per holiday home or per bedroom for 
Canterbury &  
Full tariff per 5 hotel bedrooms or 4+ bedroom 
rate for Canterbury per 5 hotel bedrooms 

Camp / Caravan sites Full tariff per pitch / unit or 3 bedroom tariff 
(unless number of bedrooms stated) for 
Canterbury, with a pro-rata reduction for 
periods of enforced closure 

Student Accommodation Full tariff per 5 student bedrooms or 4+ 
bedroom rate for Canterbury per 5 student 
bedrooms 

C2 Residential Institutions Full tariff per unit, or per bedroom for 
Canterbury, of staff accommodation  & 
otherwise on a case by case basis 

C4 / Sui Generis large HMOs Full tariff per net increase in bedrooms or per 
bedroom for Canterbury 

Gypsy & Traveller accommodation Full tariff per pitch or 3 bedroom tariff (unless 
number of bedrooms stated) for Canterbury 
 

Other mobile & Temporary dwellings Full tariff per dwelling or 3 bedroom tariff 
(unless number of bedrooms stated) for 
Canterbury with a pro-rata reduction for 
periods of enforced closure 

 

 

Page 208



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 29 June 2020

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Youth Concordat 2020

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform members of the proposal to renew the Gravesham Concordat to coincide with the 
20th anniversary of Gravesham Youth Council

Recommendations:
1. That the Council commits to the renewal of the Concordat pledge and that the other 

representatives identified in the report are approached to commit to the updated 
Concordat.

1. Background

1.1 Gravesham Youth Council celebrates the 20th anniversary of its formation this 
July.  While the organisation has gone through a number of name changes over 
the years (Gravesham Youth Forum and Vox Box) the role of the Youth Council’s 
purpose remains the same – to represent the views of all young people who 
reside or go to school in the Borough of Gravesham. This is achieved by enabling 
young people to voice their concerns and to participate in local government, 
empowering young people to be involved in decision making and actions to 
improve their local community.

1.2 In October 2000, a Festival of Youth event, organised by the Council, Kent Youth 
& Community, North West Kent Racial Equality Council and the Gravesham Youth 
Forum was held at The Woodville.

1.3 The Festival was intended to be a springboard to enable young people to raise 
issues and concerns and have an involvement in the future shaping of the 
Council’s work. This resulted in a meeting between the members of the Youth 
Forum, the Leader of the Council, The Mayor and Cllr John Caller in December 
2000.

1.4 It is proposed that the Concordat is updated and re-committed to in marking 
Gravesham Youth Council’s 20th year and renewing partners’ willingness to 
receive and act upon the views of young people in the Borough.

Page 209 Agenda Item 13



2

2. Concordat

2.1 One of the aims of the Gravesham Youth Forum was to put in place a Youth 
Concordat - a pledge made by relevant partners ‘to provide the opportunity for 
youth issues to be discussed widely and a platform for their opinions to be 
expressed’. 

2.2 A copy of the original Concordat is attached as Appendix 2.  This was agreed by 
Cabinet and a Cabinet Member was identified as having responsibility for young 
people’s issues.  In this instance, with an updated Concordat, that responsibility 
falls with the Cabinet Member for Community and Leisure.

2.3 The Concordat was signed by a number of partners and the then MP, Chris Pond, 
in the Houses of Parliament, followed by a visit to 10 Downing Street.  The 
partners at the time included Kent County Council, Kent Police, North West Kent 
Racial Equality Council, and Gravesham Youth Forum.

2.4 An updated version of the Concordat is attached as Appendix 3.  It is proposed 
that the following agencies are asked to sign the new Concordat Gravesham 
Youth Council, Gravesham Borough Council, Kent County Council, North West 
Kent Racial Equality Council, Kent Police, The Gr@nd CIC and MP for 
Gravesham, Adam Holloway.

2.5 Cabinet is asked to agree the updated Concordat and the approach to the other 
partners to sign.  Plans will be put in place, in agreement with the Cabinet 
Member for Community & Leisure, to mark its signing at an appropriate time to 
commemorate the 20th anniversary of the Youth Council.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 210



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal No Implications.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

No implications.

Risk Assessment No implications.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place        
Improve resident wellebing
Develop a cohesive and resilient community

Crime and Disorder No Implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No Implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No Implications.

Page 211

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Page 213



APPENDIX 3

CONCORDAT

A Partnership Promise

On behalf of all young people (aged 11 – 19) in the Borough of Gravesham, this Concordat 

signifies a contract between Gravesham Youth Council, Gravesham Borough Council, Kent 

County Council, North West Kent Racial Equality Council, Kent Police, The Gr@nd CIC and 

MP for Gravesham, Adam Holloway.   The objective is to provide the opportunity for youth 

issues to be discussed widely and a platform for their opinions to be expressed to borough 

and county councillors.

The Concordat is a pledge that all agencies will engage actively with other community 

organisations.  To work in partnership and strengthen links with young people to help shape 

the future of the Borough by ensuring their views and concerns are incorporated into the 

debate and become an integral aspect of the decision making process. 

The Concordat expects that partners provide the political forum or focus group opportunities, 

will support training, provide administrative and professional assistance where applicable 

and lead the wider debate for youth participation in the stepping stones towards 

representation at a national level.

The Gravesham Youth Council in turn will seek and represent the views and issues of all 

young people, living, working or being educated within the Borough. The Youth Council will 

work to assist all partners in helping to form a cohesive, safe and pleasant environment for 

its residents and visitors, now and in the future, with the constructive influence of young 

people’s opinions.

Page 214



1

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 21 January 2020                                  7:30pm

Present:

Cllr Steve Thompson (Chair)  
Cllr Baljit Hayre (Vice-Chair)     

Cllrs: Derek Ashenden 
Helen Ashenden 
Ejaz Aslam 
John Caller 
Aaron Elliott 
Brian Francis 
Gary Harding 
Nirmal Khabra 
Emma Morley 
Leslie Pearton 
Lauren Sullivan 
Frank Wardle 

Simon Hookway Assistant Director (Communities) 
Kath Donald
Sean Steer

Strategic Manager (CSU)
Operational Manager (CSU) 

Neil Loudon Chief Inspector, Kent Police 
Jackie Hyland Choices (Domestic Abuse Services) 
Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes)  

72. Apologies 

No apologies of absence were received.  

73. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 10 October 2019 were signed by the Chair. 

74. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest. 

75. Step Change Project (Presentation followed by question and answer 
session) 

The Committee received a presentation from Jackie Hyland, a representative of Choices 
which specialise in Domestic Abuse Services, informing them of the work of the project that 
supports victims of domestic abuse with complex needs and their children (please see 
supplementary).  

Following the detailed presentation, Jackie Hyland fielded questions and comments from the 
Committee Members: 

Page 215 Agenda Item 14



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 21.01.2020

2

 Some victims of domestic abuse do not come forward as they think they will be 
judged negatively and others do not understand what is being offered or simply do 
not want to engage in any way 

 Choices works in a multi-agency approach, signposting the services at schools and 
other agencies so that parents with struggling children and victims are more informed 
of the help that is available to people in their situations 

 The refuge accommodation located in Gravesham and Dartford is designed for 
young women aged 18-25 who have been victims of domestic abuse; the 
accommodation is also suited to house their children if they have any  

 Most often, schools or Early Help will refer domestic abuse victims to Choices as 
they do not want the help of social services. For a victim to receive help they must 
give their consent so if they refuse assistance from Early Help then they will refer 
them to Choices  

 Young parents with children that are struggling are also helped by Choices as many 
children suffer from abusive relationships between their parents; in many examples 
the local schools have recognised arising issues and have contacted Choice’s so that 
assistance can be offered to the families  

 There is no time limit on the help given as the work is carried out in the long term; the 
only factor that plays into length of assistance given is the amount of funding that 
Choices receives every year 

 Choices local accommodation can provide for a total of seventeen people including 
children. 

The Chair asked Jackie Hyland what she thought the Committee and the Council as a whole 
could do to improve upon and aid the services offered by Choices. 

In response, Jackie Hyland advised that: 

 Finding funding was a constant issue as new funding had to be acquired every year; 
making the project sustainable without the need to monitor funding every year 
would greatly benefit the service as it could carry out its work without fear of the 
accommodation centres having to close 

 Increased promotion of the services Choices offer through Council channels and 
further the understanding of the projects that are at work currently in Gravesham 

Following a question regarding the funding of the project, the Strategic Manager (CSU) 
explained that: 

 The project receives no funding from KCC; it is solely funded by a grant from the  
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government at a cost of circa £68,000 per 
annum 

 That sum covers the cost of a breadth of provision including staff pay, 
accommodation, phones, travel, DBS checks, training, materials and a slew of other 
running costs 

 The project makes financial sense as the overall cost is vastly cheaper directing 
people to Choices rather than putting victims into the care of social services; Choices 
has cared for over 40 families at the cost of £68K whereas the cost of one child going 
into care is over twice that figure 

The Chair thanked Jackie Hyland for the very informative presentation. 

Page 216



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 21.01.2020

3

76. Town Centre Policing 

The Committee received a verbal update from Chief Inspector Neil Loudon informing them 
on improved level of policing resources that have been introduced in Gravesend Town 
Centre since September 2019.  

The Chief Inspector, Kent Police outlined the following key points to the Committee: 

 For the past couple of years, Gravesham has had a dedicated team of two PCSO’s 
who have had to rely on their emergency response colleagues with assistance in 
policing the Town Centre. However as of 07 October 2019 they have been joined by 
two PC’s who are the Town Centre’s new beat officers and they have been 
performing a fantastic job in Gravesend 

 The Town Centre Policing team consisting of the two PC’s and two PCSO’s are also 
supported by the Safer Place Officers and the Strategic Manager’s (CSU) team of 
Council Officers. Additionally the two PC’s can call on their colleagues from 
surrounding areas to provide support with matters that require extra assistance 

 The two new PC’s have been approached daily by members of the public who have 
been reassured seeing a Police presence in the Town every day; that Police 
presence has also helped with crime prevention, acting as a deterrent to potential 
offenders 

 They have forged extremely positive relationships with local businesses and have a 
connection to the GSAFE team as well as working with the probation team and 
Sanctuary in the Town Centre. Due to their relationships and presence in the Town, 
they acquire intelligence much more quickly and have been able to make a number 
of arrests from the information provided 

 They start their day (which could be at any time due to different shift patterns) by 
checking the overnight crime for the Town Centre, check in with the Strategic 
Managers (CSU) team and then walk around the Town on foot. The general ‘beat 
walk’ would entail checking on the High Street, engaging with the public, collating 
victims statements, reassurance visits and intelligence gathering etc. They have 
already cleared up a lot of the crime in the Town Centre during the day as they are 
well attuned to where the habitual offenders are and have utilised intelligence from 
local business and CCTV to arrest anyone carrying out criminal acts 

 They have been working with the British Transport Police and Gravesend Train 
Station to catch offenders using the trains to get into Gravesend from Medway and 
London 

 With the two PC’s tackling the low level crimes in Gravesend, it has allowed other 
officers to have more time responding to emergency 999 calls which previously might 
have been delayed due to those lower level crimes 

 Due to the success of the patrols in the Town Centre, information has been received 
from residents and offenders themselves that Gravesend has become a very hard 
place for criminals. 

 General anti-social behaviours such as street drinking, aggressive begging, fake 
homelessness and shoplifting has decreased in the Town, and the persistent 
offenders will hopefully receive court orders banning them from the Town Centre for 
up to five years 

 Warrants have been executed, in conjunction with the Council, HMRC and Trading 
Standards, in premises that have been openly selling illegal tobacco and alcohol. 
There are a number of premises in Gravesend from which illegal tobacco and 
cigarettes have been seized on more than one occasion only for stocks to be 

Page 217



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 21.01.2020

4

replenished in a matter of hours. Multi-agency work continues and actions that would 
have a longer-term impact are being considered. 

 ‘Stop and Search’ will be utilised by Gravesham Police Officers as long as it is 
intelligence led; a search will always have due cause, be justified and proportionate.. 
It has already been used a number of times on offenders and various weapons have 
been seized including a samurai sword 

 Due to the success of the implementation of the two PC’s, the figures of reduced 
crime rates and the arrests will be published in the near future  so that the residents 
of Gravesham can see all the changes that have been made and make them feel 
safer 

The Committee were very impressed by the Chief Inspector’s briefing and applauded the 
work of the officers for their success however the Chief Inspector was questioned whether or 
not there were similar plans in place to police the night time economy in the Town Centre. 
 
The Chief Inspector, Kent Police agreed that the night time economy was another important 
aspect and there were plans in place to police it however he advised that he had to balance 
the shifts that his PCs carried out as it was important to have them working during the day to 
be seen by the public. There were already a team of officers that covered everywhere in 
Gravesham from Higham to Vigo but predominantly focused on Gravesend and Dartford 
Town Centres on Friday and Saturday nights. The Town Centre PCs will assist the night 
time officers but their main responsibilities will be focused on daytime activity when they can 
be most effective  in apprehending the Town’s prolific offenders. 

The Committee raised further concern over the amount of trouble that occurs every weekend 
at the McDonalds branch on New Road and queried if there were any measures that could 
be taken against it. 

The Chief Inspector, Kent Police advised that various venues had had their premises 
licences revoked before and the Police worked closely with Gravesend’s late night premises 
to ensure everything ran smoothly. The owner of the Gravesend McDonalds franchise has 
proved helpful in the past and Inspector Craig West works with local premises to create a 
vibrant but safe night time economy. However, McDonalds does require extra security and 
measures are being investigated to mitigate the level of crime that occurs there. The Chief 
Inspector, Kent Police reminded Members that they could not force McDonalds to engage 
but a joint approach made by the Police and possibly the CSU might be more effective. An 
update on the situation would be brought to the next Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 
meeting in March. Although the Chief Inspector, did reinforce the point that McDonalds were 
a focus for attention nationally as many of them were open 24 hours and provided free Wi-Fi 
to its customers. 

Member’s raised several further questions to which the Chief Inspector, Kent Police 
explained that: 

 All officers wear body worn cameras which were very useful when carrying out ‘stop 
and searches’ as they reduced complaints and false allegations considerably.  
Turning the camera on usually made the offender in question less aggressive and if a 
complaint was made, the footage could be reviewed to see what happened. Many 
times a complainant has been called in to review the footage and ended up 
withdrawing their false allegations. On the other hand, the footage has also been 
used as a learning tool to see where the officers could improve themselves. A stop 
and search scrutiny panel was created where the public may attend and three or four 

Page 218



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 21.01.2020

5

random pieces of footage are shown at every meeting where the panel members 
would scrutinise what went well and what needed to be improved upon 

 Kent and Essex Police and local schools are working closely together to resolve 
recent issues with a lot of school youths coming over on the ferry after school and 
hanging around McDonalds engaging in anti-social behaviour. 

 There are no significant issues of anti-social behaviour at Northfleet Train Station and 
no intelligence that any criminals will be displaced towards that area. Most of the 
criminals have moved further afield out of the area. 

 Shoplifting does not feature on the Controlled Police Strategy as it isn’t seen as 
significant a crime as domestic abuse, burglary or robbery etc however the Chief 
Inspector felt that shoplifting was important as it enables other crimes to be funded. 
As such, targeting shoplifting could help prevent worse crimes occurring in 
Gravesend in the future 

 The new McDonalds installed inside Asda has not had any complaints made against 
it and there have been no cases of anti-social behaviour; that is likely  due to its 
location outside of the Town Centre and the SIA door staff in addition to the ASDA 
security 

The Strategic Manager (CSU) gave an update to the Committee on the shops that had been 
selling illegal tobacco in Gravesend: 

 Multi-agency work is being developed to try to address the persistent problem of 
sales of illegal cigarettes and tobacco.  Advice has been sought from KCC Trading 
Standards and HMRC and good practice approaches used in other areas are being 
considered with a view to replicating them locally.  One of the benefits of having the 
two Town Centres PC’s is that the seizures can be ramped up and carried out much 
more often as previously there would be long delays between raids due to the level of 
resources available.  The sharing of intelligence between Police colleagues and 
Council officers who have roles that bring them into contact with businesses and the 
public is helping to build evidence that will hopefully support formal legal action. It 
was also important to note that enforcement action should also, if possible, be 
supported by an awareness-raising campaign about the potential health risks 
associated with these products which often contained a range of substances that 
were completely unregulated. Hopefully, a positive update will be presented to the 
Committee at the next meeting on 17 March.

The Chair advised the Chief Inspector, Kent Police that the CSU and the Communications 
Team at GBC may be able to help with the publicising of the positive results from the 
deployment of the two new PC’s in Gravesend. 

The Chair thanked the Chief Inspector, Kent Police for his informative briefing. 

77. Terms of Reference – Topic Review Groups 

Members were invited to consider the terms of reference for the two topic reviews selected 
by the Committee: Knife and Violent Youth Crime and Town Centre Crime.

The Chair informed the Committee that the two Chairs of each Topic Review Group had 
decided that the Town Centre Crime review group would be deferred until May 2020 
following the decision made last week at Overview Scrutiny to defer one of their reviews to 

Page 219



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 21.01.2020

6

May 2020. The reasons for the deferrals were due to officer resources being stretched too 
thin and asking too much of GBC partners in such a short amount of time. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) advised that the Terms of Reference were stated in 
the report as well as the nominations to each Topic Review Group. The next stage will be 
agreeing dates for the review group meetings and discussing a workplan as well contacting 
all of the necessary partners to take part in the meetings. 

The Committee agreed: 

1. The Terms of Reference for both Topic Review Groups 

2. The composition of the Topic Review Sub-Groups listed in the report 

3. The Knife and Violent Youth Crime Topic Review  Sub-Group will move forward 
and a date for its first meeting will be chosen following the conclusion of the 
meeting 

That a start with the Town Centre Crime Topic Review Sub-Group be deferred until May 
2020. 

78. Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel Full Agenda (21 November 2019 
– latest published) 

The Committee was presented with the agenda and minutes for the Kent and Medway 
Police and Crime Panel meeting held on Tuesday, 24 September 2019. 

It was queried by a Member if Gravesham were likely to be a part of the mini cadet scheme. 

The Chief Inspector, Kent Police advised that the scheme was currently sitting with the 
Superintendent who was reviewing the logistics of the scheme. However, the Committee 
were advised that if the scheme was progressed then a pilot would be tested in Gravesham 
and Dartford. 

The Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:50pm. 

Page 220



Document is Restricted

Page 221 Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Financial Impact of COVID-19
	2. MTFP - POST FULL COUNCIL 25.02.2020 - COVID UPDATE 03.06.2020
	3. HRA Revenue BP May 2020-21 Covid
	4. Cashflow Model 2020-21 10 Year Graph

	7 General Fund Provisional Outturn Report 2019/20
	8 Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn Report  2019/20
	9 Corporate Debt Strategy
	Appendix 2 - Corporate Debt Strategy
	Appendix 3 - Vulnerable Persons Policy
	Appendix 4 - Vulnerable Persons Assistance Groups

	10 Development Plan Update
	Appendix 2 - Windows and Doors Guidance Consultation responses FINAL
	Appendix 3 - Windows and Doors Design Guidance reduced FINAL
	Appendix 4 - Windows and Doors Quick Guidance reduced FINAL
	Appendix 5 - Draft Designating Local Green Spaces Consultation
	Appendix 6 - Draft Residential Extensions SPD Consultation

	11 Duty to co-operate
	12 Bird Wise Charging Schedule for Non-C3 Residential Classes
	North Kent SAMMS-Bird Wise Charging Schedule Appendix 2

	13 Youth Concordat 2020
	Appendix 2 & 3

	14 Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday, 21 January 2020
	17 Proposed Working Budget for Rosherville Limited
	2. Appendix Two - Rosherville Proposed Working Budget




